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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 

1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  that involve substantial 

risks and uncertainties. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included or referenced in this Annual Report on Form 

10-K that address activities, events or developments which we expect will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements, 

including statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of the Company and members of our management team. The 

words “may,” “will,” “believe, “should,” “potential,” “intend,” “expect,” “endeavor,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “overestimate,” 

“underestimate,” “believe,” “plan,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “estimate, “predict,” “predict” “continue,” “target,” and similar expressions 

are also intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such statements may include those regarding guidance on our future financial 

results and other projections or measures of our future performance; our expectations concerning market opportunities and our ability to 

capitalize on them; and the amount and timing of the benefits expected from acquisitions, new products or services and other potential 
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sources of additional revenues. revenues; the expected timing and structure of our proposed transaction with Informa PLC (“Informa”); 

our ability to complete the proposed transaction with Informa considering the various closing conditions; the expected benefits of the 

proposed transaction with Informa, such as improved operations, enhanced revenues and cash flow, synergies, growth potential, 

market profile, business plans, expanded portfolio and financial strength; and the competitive ability and position of the combined 

business following the completion of the proposed transaction. Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future 

performance and involve risks and uncertainties. These statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and 

are based on our upon current plans, estimates, and expectations that are subject to risks, uncertainties, and they involve 

important assumptions. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove 

incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those indicated or anticipated by such forward-looking statements. We can give no 

assurance that such plans, estimates, or expectations will be achieved, and uncertainties therefore, actual results may differ materially 

from any plans, estimates, or expectations in such forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual future events 

or results to be different than those described in differ materially from such plans, estimates, or implied by such forward-looking 

statements. These risks and uncertainties expectations include, but are not limited to, those relating to: market acceptance of our 

products and services, including continued increased sales of our IT Deal Alert™ offerings and continued increased international 

growth; that one or more closing conditions to the proposed transaction with Informa, including certain regulatory approvals, may not be 

satisfied or waived, on a timely basis or otherwise, including that a governmental entity may prohibit, delay, or refuse to grant approval 

for the consummation of the proposed transaction, may require conditions, limitations, or restrictions in connection with such approvals 

or that the required approval by our shareholders may not be obtained; the risk that the proposed transaction with Informa may not be 

completed in the time frame expected or at all; unexpected costs, charges, or expenses resulting from the proposed transaction; 

uncertainty of the expected financial performance of combined business following completion of the proposed transaction with Informa; 

failure to realize the anticipated benefits of the proposed transaction with Informa, including as a result of delay in completing the 

proposed transaction or integrating the relevant portion of the Informa assets being contributed in the proposed transaction (the 

“Informa Tech business”) with our business; difficulties and delays in achieving revenue and cost synergies; the occurrence of any event 

that could give rise to termination of the proposed transaction with Informa; potential litigation in connection with the proposed 

transaction with Informa or other settlements or investigations that may affect the timing or occurrence of the proposed transaction with 

Informa or result in significant costs of defense, indemnification, and liability; evolving legal, regulatory, and tax regimes; changes in 

economic, financial, political, and regulatory conditions, in the United States and elsewhere, and other factors that contribute to 

uncertainty and volatility, natural and man-made disasters, civil unrest, pandemics, geopolitical uncertainty, and conditions that may 

result from legislative, regulatory, trade, and policy changes associated with the current or subsequent U.S. administration; risks related 

to disruption of management time from ongoing business operations due to the proposed transaction with Informa; certain restrictions 

during the pendency of the proposed transaction that may impact our ability to pursue certain business opportunities or strategic 

transactions; our ability and the ability of the combined business to meet expectations regarding the accounting and tax treatments of 

the proposed transaction with Informa; the risk that any announcements relating to the proposed transaction with Informa could have 

adverse effects on the market price of our common stock; the risk that the proposed transaction with Informa and its announcement 

could have an adverse effect on our ability to retain customers and retain and hire key personnel and maintain relationships with 

customers, suppliers, employees, stockholders, strategic partners and employees; the duration other business relationships and extent 

of the COVID-19 pandemic or future health pandemics and any related economic downturns on our operating results and business 

operations, generally; market acceptance of our and the markets in which we Informa Tech business’s products and our customers 

operate; difficulties in integrating acquired businesses; services; changes in economic, tax, legal or regulatory conditions or other trends 

affecting the internet, internet advertising and information technology industries; data privacy and artificial intelligence laws, rules and 

regulations; the impact of foreign currency exchange rates; certain macroeconomic factors facing the global economy, including 

instability in the regional banking sector, disruptions in the capital markets, economic sanctions and economic slowdowns or 
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recessions, rising inflation and interest rates fluctuations on our results; results and the results of the Informa Tech business; and other 

matters included in our filings with the SEC, and those detailed under Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-

K. The occurrence

While the list of factors presented here is considered representative, no such list should be considered to be a complete statement of all 

potential risks and uncertainties. Unlisted factors may present significant additional obstacles to the realization of forward-looking 

statements. We caution you not to place undue reliance on any of these risks forward-looking statements as they are not guarantees of 

future performance or outcomes and uncertainties may cause that actual performance and outcomes, including, without limitation, our 

actual results to of operations, financial condition and liquidity may differ materially from those anticipated made in our or suggested by 

the forward-looking statements which could have a material adverse effect contained herein. Any forward-looking statements speak only 

as of the date of this this Annual Report on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Form 10-K. We undertake no

3

obligation to update our any forward-looking statements, to reflect whether as a result of new information or developments, future 

events, or circumstances. otherwise, except as required by law. Neither future distribution of this Annual Report on Form 10-K nor the 

continued availability of this communication in archive form on our website should be deemed to constitute an update or re-affirmation 

of these statements as of any future date.

4

PART I

Item 1.	 Business Overview

TechTarget, Inc. (the “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our”) is a global data, software and analytics leader for purchase intent-driven 

marketing and sales data which delivers business impact for business-to-business (“B2B”) companies. Our solutions are designed to 

enable B2B technology companies to identify, reach, and influence key enterprise technology decision makers faster and with higher 

efficacy. We offer products and services intended to improve information technology (“IT”) vendors’ abilities to impact highly targeted 

audiences for business growth using advanced targeting, first-party analytics and data services complemented with customized 

marketing programs that integrate content creation, demand generation, brand marketing, and other advertising techniques.

Our goal is to enable enterprise technology and business professionals to navigate the complex and rapidly-changing enterprise 

technology landscape where purchasing decisions can have significant financial and operational consequences. Our content strategy 

includes three primary sources that enterprise technology and business professionals use to assist them in their pre-purchase research: 
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independent content provided by our professionals, vendor-generated content provided by our customers and member-generated or 

peer-to-peer content. In addition to utilizing our independent editorial content, registered members and users appreciate the ability to 

deepen their pre-purchase research by accessing the extensive vendor-supplied content we make available across our virtual events, 

webinar channels and website network (collectively, our “Network”). Likewise, these members and users can derive significant 

additional value from the ability to seamlessly interact with and contribute to information exchanges in a given field on our Network. To 

advance our ability to provide purchase intent-driven marketing and sales data, we have been acquisitive over the last three years. 

During 2021, we acquired Xtelligent Healthcare Media, LLC, a leading healthcare B2B media company focusing on healthcare-related 

technology. Similarly, during 2020, we acquired (i) BrightTALK Limited, a technology media company that provides customers with a 

platform to create, host and promote webinar and video content, (ii) The Enterprise Strategy Group, Inc., a leading provider of decision 

support content based on user research and market analysis for global enterprise companies, and (iii) Data Science Central, LLC, a 

digital publishing and media company focused on data science and business analytics.

We had approximately 30.2 million 31.8 million and 29.1 million 30.2 million registered members and users, which we refer to as 

our “audiences”, as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. While the size of our audiences does not 

provide direct insight into our customer numbers or our revenue, we believe the value of the services we sell to our customers is a 

direct result of the breadth and reach of this content footprint. This footprint creates the opportunity for our clients to gain business 

leverage by targeting our audiences through customized marketing programs. Likewise, the behavior exhibited by these audiences 

enables us to provide our customers with data products

3

designed to improve their marketing and sales efforts. The targeted nature of our audiences enables B2B technology companies to 

reach a specialized audience efficiently because our content is highly segmented and aligned with the B2B technology companies’ 

specific products.

Through our ability to identify, reach and influence key decision makers, we have developed a broad customer base and, in 

2022, 2023, delivered marketing and sales services programs to over 3,400 approximately 2,600 customers.

Please refer to the section below titled “Our Strategy” regarding our longer-term growth plans.

Recent Events

Transaction Agreement with Informa PLC.

On January 10, 2024, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Transaction Agreement”) with Informa and certain 

of our and their subsidiaries. Pursuant to the Transaction Agreement, we and Informa, among other things, agreed to combine our 

businesses with the business of Informa Intrepid Holdings Inc. (“Informa Tech”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Informa which will own 

and operate Informa’s digital businesses (Industry Dive, Omdia (including Canalys)), NetLine and certain of its digital media brands 

(e.g. Information Week, Light Reading, and AI Business), under a new publicly traded holding company (“New TechTarget”). Upon 

closing, among other things, Informa and its subsidiaries will collectively own 57% of the outstanding common stock of New TechTarget 

(on a fully diluted basis) and our former stockholders will own the remaining outstanding common stock of New TechTarget. Our former 

stockholders will also receive a pro rata share of an amount in cash equal to $350 million plus the amount of any EBITDA adjustment 

(as defined in the Transaction Agreement), which is estimated as of the date of the Transaction Agreement to be approximately $11.79 

per share of our common stock. The various transactions set forth in the Transaction Agreement (the “proposed transaction”) are 

expected to close in the second half of 2024, subject to satisfaction or waiver of certain customary conditions.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

9/199

We will be required to pay Informa a termination fee between $30.0 and $40.0 million if the Transaction Agreement is terminated 

under certain specified circumstances, including termination by us in connection with our entry into an agreement with respect to a Toro 

Superior Proposal (as defined in the Transaction Agreement) prior to us receiving stockholder approval of the proposed transaction, or 

termination by Informa upon a Toro Change in Recommendation (as defined in the Transaction Agreement).

For more detail about the proposed transaction, please see our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 11, 

2024 and Note 16 - Subsequent Event to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

5

Business Trends

Our proprietary purchase intent marketing and sales data-driven solutions, such as data-driven lead generation, are attractively 

positioned to benefit from the rapid adoption of data-driven processes for sales and marketing workflows, especially to navigate the 

complex and rapidly changing IT buyer landscape where purchasing decisions can have significant financial and operational 

consequences. Information technology spending is no longer a discretionary item for most companies. We believe modern 

organizations see the digital transformation as a necessary investment to remain competitive, a long-term dynamic that has benefitted 

our customers.

Our business has been and is likely to continue to be impacted by macro-economic conditions. conditions including uncertainty 

surrounding inflation, interest rates, the presidential election and geopolitical issues internationally. Because our customers are B2B 

technology companies, the success of our business is intrinsically linked to the health and market conditions of the enterprise 

technology industry. We have observed the continued to observe a challenging enterprise technology market materially worsen during 

2022, with third party data indicating that over 1,000 technology companies, including many of our largest customers, have announced 

layoffs. The layoffs have resulted in a challenging selling environment where we 2023. We have seen elongated sales cycles, budget 

cuts and freezes at many of our customers, which have impacted our near-term outlook. We are seeing have also seen our international 

markets perform worse than our domestic markets. Given the weak macroeconomic conditions, in December 2022, we announced a 

headcount reduction of approximately 5% of our workforce, which is expected to be was completed in the first quarter of 2023 and 

result resulted in approximately $7 million in annual savings.

While we expect our near-term results to continue to see reflect the impacts impact of the current worsening of the a challenging 

macro technology market, environment, we continue to believe that there are multiple long-term trends in our market which will support 

the sustained growth of our business and the products and services we offer. The significant trends that we believe we have benefitted 

from over the past few years are still in place, including the modernization of the sales and marketing organization with automation and 

first party purchase intent data, growing sensitivity and regulation around internet privacy and the demographic transition of younger 

buyers who want to do more self-service due diligence and have less interactions with vendor sales representatives.

Industry Background
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Enterprise technology and business professionals’ reliance on online content to research major purchase decisions, and the 

transition by B2B technology companies of marketing expenditures from offline to online channels, have been consistent trends that 

have benefitted us. Going forward, there are some important related trends that we believe our business strategy is well positioned to 

benefit from:

• Technology Marketers and Sales Organizations are Increasingly Using Audience Data to Drive Decisions. In the 
enterprise technology market in particular, companies are increasingly using data to help them determine which 
prospective accounts should be prioritized for marketing or sales follow-up. We believe we are uniquely positioned to 
provide purchase intent data of specific prospective accounts and potential buyers because of the nature of content we 
create and our product focus in these data-driven areas.

• There is a Continued Focus on the Ability to Measure and Improve Return on Investment (“ROI”). Our customers 
are increasingly focused on measuring and improving their ROI in marketing and sales. Before the advent of internet-based 
marketing, there were a limited number of available tools for accurately measuring the results of such activities in a timely 
fashion. The internet has enabled B2B technology companies to track individual members and their responses to 
marketing. With the availability of technology able to accurately measure ROI, vendors now have the ability to assess and 
benchmark the efficacy of their online programs in a cost effective manner and in real-time. We believe our offerings benefit 
as our customers continue to leverage insights gained from this measurement, and seek out data and related services we 
are providing to assist them in optimizing their marketing programs.

Enterprise Technology Purchasing

Over the past two decades, enterprise technology purchases have grown in size and complexity. The enterprise technology 

market comprises multiple large sectors such as storage, security and networking. Each of these sectors can be further divided into 

sub-sectors

4

addressing more granular areas of specialization within an enterprise’s technology environment. For example, within the multi-billion-

dollar storage sector, there are numerous sub-sectors such as storage area networks, storage management software and backup 

software. Furthermore, the products – and therefore the enterprise technology – in each sub-sector may represent entirely independent 

markets. For example, the market around backup software for use in Windows® environments can be completely distinct from that 

addressing Linux® environments.

In view of the complexities, high cost and importance of enterprise technology decision-making, enterprise technology purchasing 

decisions are increasingly being researched by teams of functional experts with specialized knowledge in their particular areas, rather 

than by one central enterprise technology professional, such as a Chief Technology Officer. For these reasons and more, the enterprise

6
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technology purchasing process typically requires a lengthy sales cycle. The “sales cycle” is the sequence of stages that a typical 

customer goes through when deciding to purchase a product or service from a particular vendor. Key stages of a sales cycle typically 

consist of a customer recognizing or identifying a need; identifying possible solutions and vendors through research and evaluation; and 

finally, making a decision to purchase the product or service. Through various stages of this sales cycle, enterprise technology and

business professionals rely upon multiple inputs from independent experts, and peers. Although there is a vast amount of information 

available, the aggregation and validation of these inputs from various sources can be difficult and time-consuming.

The long sales cycle for enterprise technology purchases, as well as customers’ need for significant information support, requires 

substantial investment on the part of B2B technology companies. These realities drive the significant marketing expenditures 

observable in the enterprise technology market. In addition, given the continued acceleration of technological change, at any given 

time, there are often multiple viable solutions to any enterprise technology or business need. With each new product or product 

enhancement, B2B technology companies implement new marketing outreach, and, as a result, enterprise technology and business 

professionals are required to continuously engage in research to stay abreast of the latest developments that could benefit their 

companies.

The Opportunity

Prior to widespread internet adoption, enterprise technology buyers researching purchases relied largely on traditional enterprise 

technology media, consisting of broad print publications and large industry trade shows. Today, enterprise technology and business 

professionals demand specialized online content tailored to the specialized sub-sectors of enterprise technology solutions that they 

must understand. As enterprise technology, vendors and business professionals have all become much more specialized, the internet 

has become a preferred purchase research medium, which has dramatically increased research activity, accelerated information 

consumption and improved professional decision-making.

B2B technology companies seek high-ROI marketing and sale opportunities that can provide them access to the specific sectors 

of enterprise technology buyers aligned with the solutions they sell. To be more efficient and effective, they need to distinguish these 

prospective buyers from accounts or individuals who are not yet ready to engage in the buying process. Thus, they look for assistance

in identifying the specific accounts and individuals who are actively researching upcoming purchases. To more quickly and successfully 

position their respective solutions against alternatives being considered, they also seek assistance from marketing service providers to 

create meaningful content to help influence these audiences by utilizing data-driven insights to enable advanced demand-generating 

content marketing and targeted branding.

Enterprise technology and business professionals rely on our content for decision support information tailored to their specific 

purchasing needs. Our specialized content strategy and comprehensive services are designed to enable B2B technology companies to 

better identify, understand, reach and influence enterprise technology and business professionals who are actively researching 

purchases in specific enterprise technology sectors. We believe our solutions benefit from the following competitive advantages:

• Large and Growing Community of Registered Members and Users. We had approximately 30.2 million 31.8 million 
registered members and users as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. The targeted nature of our member and user 
base enables B2B technology companies to efficiently reach a specialized audience because our content is highly 
segmented and designed to align with the B2B technology companies' specific products and services.

• Strong Customer Relationships. We have developed a broad customer base. During 2022, 2023, we delivered marketing 
services programs for over 3,400 approximately 2,600 customers.

• Substantial Experience in Online Content and Purchase Intent Data. We have over 20 years of experience in developing 
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our online information content, with a focus on providing targeted information to enterprise technology and business 
professionals and a highly refined audience to technology vendors. We believe our experience enables us to develop 
relevant new online properties rapidly and to acquire and efficiently integrate select properties to further serve enterprise 
technology and business professionals. We have also developed an expertise in implementing integrated, targeted 
marketing campaigns designed to maximize the measurability of, and improvement in, ROI.

5

• Proprietary Data on the Research Behavior of our Registered Members, Site Visitors and Users. Through our analytical 
platforms, we collect information on millions of interactions that our members, users and visitors (and the companies, or 
accounts, that they are associated with) have with the content on our websites and that we send to them via email. We 
believe the collection and analysis of this information allows us to increase the relevance of our informational offerings to 
our audiences and improve our customers’ ROI by delivering better prospects to them more efficiently. This analytics 
platform not only guides what we do on our own properties; it is also available to our customers in a variety of forms to aid 
them in directly optimizing their efforts.

7

• Significant Brand Recognition among B2B technology companies and Enterprise Technology and Business Professionals.
Our brands are well-recognized by B2B technology companies who value our integrated marketing capabilities and 
comprehensive high-ROI services. At the same time, our sector-specific offerings command brand recognition among 
enterprise technology and business professionals, who rely on these websites and channels because of their specificity 
and depth of content.

Our Solutions

Our solutions consist of:

• IT Deal AlertTM. A suite of data, software and services for B2B technology companies that leverages the detailed purchase 
intent data we collect on enterprise technology organizations and professionals researching IT purchases via our network 
of websites and our webinar community platform. Through our proprietary data-capture and scoring methodologies, we use 
this insight to help our customers identify and prioritize accounts and contacts whose content consumption and online 
research activities around specific enterprise technology topics indicate that they are “in-market” for a particular B2B 
technology product or service. The suite of products and services includes Priority Engine™ and Qualified Sales 
Opportunities™. Priority Engine™ is a subscription service powered by our Activity Intelligence™ platform, which integrates 
with customer relationship management (“CRM”) and marketing automation platforms (“MAPs”) including Salesforce.com, 
Marketo, Hubspot, Eloqua, Pardot, and Integrate. The service delivers lead generation workflow solutions designed to 
enable marketers and sales forces to identify and prioritize accounts and individuals actively researching new technology 
purchases or upgrades, and then to engage those active prospects. We launched IntentMail AITM in December 2023, which 
is Priority Engine's AI-powered messaging feature, which enables sellers to automatically generate personalized email 
copy. Qualified Sales Opportunities™ is a product that profiles specific in-progress purchase projects via surveys and 
interviews with business technology professionals whose research activity and content consumption is indicative of a 
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pending technology purchase. Qualified Sales Opportunities™ includes information on project scope, purchase criteria and 
vendors considered.

• Demand Solutions. Our offerings enable our customers to reach and influence prospective buyers through content 
marketing programs, such as white papers, webcasts, podcasts, videocasts, virtual trade shows, and content sponsorships, 
designed to generate demand for their solutions, and through display advertising and other brand programs that are aimed 
at influencing prospective buyers. We believe this allows B2B technology companies to maximize ROI on marketing and 
sales expenditures by capturing sales leads from the distribution and promotion of content to our audience of enterprise 
technology and business professionals.

• Brand Solutions. Our suite of brand solutions provide B2B technology companies with direct exposure to targeted 
audiences of enterprise technology and business professionals that are actively researching information related to their 
products and services. We leverage our Activity Intelligence™ platform to enable significant segmentation and behavioral 
targeting of audiences to improve the relevancy of digital ads to the researcher’s needs. Branding solutions include on-
network banner advertising and digital sponsorships, off-network banner targeting, and microsites and other related 
formats.

• Custom Content Creation. We deliver market insights and guidance to B2B technology companies through our Enterprise 
Strategy Group annual research and advisory subscription programs, custom market research services, and consulting 
engagements. In addition, our Enterprise Strategy Group experts author custom content products including technical and 
economic validations, white papers, infographics, videos and webinars. This content can be leveraged by B2B technology 
marketers to support product launches, enable demand-generation campaigns, and establish overall thought leadership. 
We also create white papers, case studies, webcasts or videos to our customers’ specifications. These customized content 
assets are then promoted to our audience within both demand solutions and brand solutions programs. Additionally, we 
offer off-the-shelf editorial sponsorship products on topics aligned to customer markets, enabling them to engage and 
generate demand via packaged content created by our editorial staff to educate technology researchers on new technology 
trends and feature options.



.

6

• BrightTALK platform. Allows our customers to create, host and promote webinars, virtual events and video content. 
Customers create their own hosted Channels on the platform where they schedule both live and on-demand webinars for 
promotion to BrightTALK’s community of in-market accounts and individuals. The BrightTALK Channel also enables 
customers to self-administer lead generation campaigns, set up workflow integrations between the Channel and their CRM 
and MAP systems, and access reporting detailing the size and growth of their community of subscribers over time. 
Customers may also create an off-network embedded Channel page on their own corporate website featuring content in 
their

8

BrightTALK Channel, as well as an embedded BrightTALK registration form that captures and converts interested individuals
marketing leads.
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Our solutions are designed to benefit enterprise technology and business professionals and B2B technology companies in the 

following ways:

Benefits to Enterprise Technology and Business Professionals

• Provide Access to Integrated, Technology Sector-Specific Content. Our offerings provide enterprise technology and 
business professionals with sector-specific content from the three fundamental sources we believe they value most when 
researching enterprise technology purchasing decisions: industry experts, peers and vendors. Our independent staff, 
consisting of editors, journalists and analysts from our Enterprise Strategy Group, creates content specific to the sectors we 
serve and the key sub-sectors within them. This content is integrated with other content generated by our network of third-
party industry experts and content from B2B technology companies. Additionally, tech and business professionals network 
with and learn from each other in webinars via live interaction and online chat. The reliability, breadth, depth, and 
accessibility of our content offerings across multiple media formats enables enterprise technology and business 
professionals to make more informed purchases.

• Increase Efficiency of Purchasing Decisions. By accessing targeted and specialized information, enterprise technology and 
business professionals are able to research important purchasing decisions more effectively. Our integrated content 
offerings, spanning all major online content formats, are designed to minimize the time enterprise technology and business 
professionals spend searching for and evaluating content and maximize the time available for assimilating quality 
information. To support enterprise technology and business professionals’ information consumption preferences, we 
provide this specialized, targeted content through a variety of media types matching the critical stages within the purchase 
decision process.

Benefits to B2B technology companies

• Provide Unique Data About the Businesses, Organizations and Individuals Conducting Pre-Purchase Research. Our 
Activity Intelligence™ analytical product platform captures and interprets the content consumption behaviors of our large 
base of targeted enterprise technology and business professional members as they research their technology needs. This 
allows us to provide B2B technology solution providers (vendors) with powerful insights about who is in market in their 
sector (identification) as well as the specific buying signals and purchase triggers behind their research (purchase 
intelligence). Vendors use this data and intelligence to empower their marketing and sales strategies.

• Support Business, Product, Marketing and Sales Go to Market Strategies. Our Enterprise Strategy Group is a trusted 
advisor to B2B technology companies that are developing and optimizing messaging, product roadmaps, competitive
landscape and strategy development. Through demand-side research, our buyer intent data and analyst market proximity, 
our Enterprise Strategy Group has a unique perspective of the market that is leveraged in every customer engagement. 
B2B technology companies may leverage our Enterprise Strategy Group for their go to market strategy through custom 
research, consulting services and annual research and advisory programs depending on their needs.

• Target Active Buyers Efficiently. Our highly targeted content attracts specific, targeted audiences who are actively 
researching purchasing decisions. Using our database of registered members and users and the information we collect 
about their product interests, we are able to accurately target those registered members and users most likely to be of 
value to B2B technology companies with content recommendations specific to the market sector and purchase stage they 
are in. We further support our B2B technology customer’s execution with scalable marketing services programs that are 
designed to help influence these prospective buyers with their branded content and targeted digital advertising.

• Generate Measurable Results. Our targeted online content offerings enable us to generate and collect valuable business 
information about each member and user and their technology preferences. As registered members and users access 
content, we are able to build a profile of their technology interests, and their companies’ interests, as they evolve over time. 
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Through experience, we have identified patterns that we believe are indicative of purchase intent. We leverage this insight 
into

7

products designed to improve the ROI on the programs we execute for our B2B technology customers by focusing specifi
where we believe active demand exists. We provide this intelligence directly to B2B technology companies for their own use. 
helps them drive continuous improvement in their own marketing and sales workflows and outcomes,

9

whether focused specifically on prospects we provide them or on those they have otherwise obtained, which our informa
enriches and makes more actionable.

• Maximize Awareness. As a leading distributor of B2B enterprise technology white papers, webcasts, videocasts, virtual 
events and podcasts, we offer B2B technology companies the opportunity to educate enterprise technology and business 
professionals during the research process, prior to their direct interaction with vendor salespeople. Our Priority Engine™ 
platform enables direct login by vendor sales representatives who are responsible for uncovering new account 
opportunities and prospects to sell to in their account territory. Through direct integration into CRM systems, these B2B 
technology companies companies' sales representatives can understand which accounts and prospects are already in their 
systems and which are new, and extract those new individual prospects into CRM with a button click. Because Priority 
Engine™ data includes the specific technology and product research interests for each buyer-prospect, the B2B technology 
company’s salesperson is more aware of the specific needs of the enterprise technology and business professional and 
can tailor their outreach accordingly. The combination of granular purchase intent intelligence and platform automation
enables a stronger, more personalized and efficient connection between enterprise technology and business professionals 
and the B2B technology companies seeking to do business with them.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to deliver superior performance by continuously enhancing our position as a global leader in purchase intent driven 

marketing and sales services that deliver business impact for B2B technology companies by strengthening our offerings in our three 

core capability areas: our specialized content that connects enterprise technology and business professionals with B2B technology 

companies in the sectors and sub-sectors that we serve, the purchase intent insight analytics and data services our content and 

member traffic enables, and the marketing services we provide to our customers to help meet their business growth objectives.

In order to achieve this goal, we intend to:

• Continue to Innovate in the Area of Data-Enabled Marketing Services. We believe our ability to leverage our content and 
audience to identify in-market prospective buyers is a core competency and a key driver of our future growth. Our suite of 
offerings, leveraging our Activity Intelligence™ analytic product platform, consists of multiple recently developed products 
and services that provide B2B technology companies with data-enabled sales and marketing optimization solutions. We 
intend to further develop our existing product offerings with new features and launch additional offerings that extend our 
capabilities based on our customers’ requirements. During 2023 2024 we are planning improvements for intend to improve 
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upon our salesforce interface, ROI dashboard features by continuing to enhance our integrations, account based scoring 
and sales alerts functions. intent feeds among other strategic objectives. The second major product area is our Custom 
Content and our Content to Close concept that takes advantage our unique end-to-end capabilities. We believe these are 
both meaningful opportunities in the early stages where we possess significant competitive advantage.

• Expand Long-term Contractual Relationships with Customers. Several of our newly introduced data-enabled marketing 
products are being offered to our customers on a subscription basis, on multiple quarter, annual or longer agreements, 
subject to our customers’ right of termination. We intend to expand the number of subscription contracts with our 
customers, which allows us to work more closely with them in achieving their marketing and sales objectives over an 
extended period and provides us with stable revenue streams from the continued growth of these products and our 
successful renewal efforts.

• Expand into Complementary Sectors. We intend to complement our current offerings and content by continuing to expand 
our business in order to capitalize on strategic opportunities in existing, adjacent, or new sectors that we believe to be well-
suited to our business model and core competencies. Based on our experience, we believe we are able to capitalize rapidly 
and cost-effectively on new market opportunities.

• Continue to Expand Our International Presence. We intend to continue to expand our reach into our addressable market by 
increasing our presence in countries outside the U.S. We have pursued this strategy by launching our own websites 
directed at enterprise technology and business professionals in the United Kingdom, India, Spain, France, China, Australia, 
and Singapore, and by acquiring specific properties or companies with attractive properties in those markets. For example, 
we previously expanded our international footprint by acquiring the Computer Weekly and MicroScope online properties in 
the United Kingdom and E-Magine Médias SAS, which we call LeMagIT, in France. More recently, we launched German 
and Portuguese language websites, as well as websites directed towards enterprise technology and business professionals 
in Latin America. We expect to further penetrate foreign markets by directly launching additional sector-specific websites 
directed at these foreign locales and at additional international markets and by making strategic acquisitions and 
investments in overseas entities. We believe that our integrated product offerings across regions continues to resonate with 
international

8

marketers and is contributing to our success. We plan to continue investing in these capabilities as we seek opportunities to 
increase our global reach.

• 10

Selectively Acquire or Partner with Complementary Businesses.
 Historically, we have used acquisitions as a means of expanding our content and product and service offerings, web traffic and 

registered members and users. Our acquisitions to date can be classified into three categories: content-rich blogs or other individually 

published sites, typically generating less than $1 million in annual revenues; early stage revenue sites, typically generating between $1 

million and $20 million in annual revenues; and later stage revenue sites, typically generating greater than $20 million in annual 

revenues. As we evaluate companies within these ranges, we consider the following attributes, among others: operations primarily in or 

adjacent to the enterprise IT market; provides original content which enables us to obtain additional first party purchase intent data; has 
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a registration-based model; has different or complementary product offerings primarily sold on a subscription basis; provides significant 

cross-sell and upsell opportunities for our existing products and services; and can be acquired at a reasonable price. A company does 

not have to have all, but generally has to have some of the above attributes. We intend to continue to pursue selected acquisition or 

partnership opportunities in our core markets and in adjacent markets for products with similar characteristics.

Platform and Content

Our content platform consists of a network of specialized websites and webinar and video channels that serve the needs of 

enterprise technology and business professionals who are making corporate purchase decisions. At critical stages of the purchase 

decision process, these content offerings through different channels are designed to meet the needs of enterprise technology and 

business professionals for expert, peer and B2B technology company information and provide a platform on which B2B technology 

companies can launch targeted marketing and sales campaigns that generate measurable, high ROI.

9 11

 

 

The table below provides a representation of the key market opportunities we address for our B2B technology company 

customers.
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Audience: Market Categories Sites (cont.)
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Market Categories

Based upon the logical clustering of our audiences’ respective job responsibilities and the marketing and sales focus of the 

products being promoted by our B2B technology customers, we currently categorize our content offerings to address the key market 

opportunities and audience extensions across a portfolio of distinct market categories. Each of these marketing categories services a 

wide range of enterprise technology sectors and sub-sectors and is driven by the key areas of enterprise technology and business 

professionals’ interests described below:

• Security. Every aspect of enterprise computing now depends on secure connectivity, data and applications. The security 
sector is constantly growing to adapt to new forms of threats and to secure new and traditional technologies such as mobile 
devices, wireless networks, virtualized systems and cloud environments. We believe compliance regulations, cloud 
adoption, and highly publicized data breaches are driving interest and investment in increasingly sophisticated security 
solutions such as zero trust and endpoint detection and response (“EDR”) that supplement or replace traditional perimeter 
security solutions such as firewalls and antimalware. Our online properties in this sector offer navigable and structured 
guides on B2B technology companies and enterprise technology solutions in key subsectors such as network security, 
intrusion detection, ransomware and malware defense, identity and access management (“IAM”), data and application 
security, managed security services, cloud-native security and security program management.

11 13

 

 

• Networking. Broadly defined, the networking market includes the hardware, software and services involved in the 
infrastructure and management of both enterprise and service provider data and voice networks. As new sectors of 
networking have emerged and grown in importance, network professionals have increased their organizations' investments 
in wireless and mobile computing, cloud networking, software-defined defined wide area networks (“WAN”), secure access 
service edge ("SASE"), application performance, network virtualization and automation, and evolving network operations, 
as well as collaboration, video conferencing, unified communications as a service ("UCaaS"), and voice over internet 
protocol (“VoIP”). Our online properties in this sector, which include TechTarget Networking and TechTarget Unified 
Communications aim to address the specialized needs of networking professionals by offering content specifically targeting 
these growth areas.

• Storage. The storage sector consists of the market for disk, flash, cloud and tape storage systems that store and manage 
data. Growth is fueled by industry trends, such as the ongoing need to maintain and supplement data stores that are 
exponentially escalating, and by external factors, such as expanded compliance regulations and increased focus on 
disaster recovery. Recent trends reflect an increased emphasis on solid-state storage and cloud storage. At the same time, 
established storage sub-sectors, such as network-attached storage ("NAS") and storage area networks ("SANs"), have 
been invigorated by technologies such as data deduplication and storage virtualization. Our online properties in this sector, 
which include TechTarget Storage, TechTarget Data Backup, and TechTarget Disaster Recovery, address enterprise 
technology and business professionals seeking storage systems in key areas such as Fibre Channel SANs, iSCSI SANs, 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

19/199

solid-state storage, NVMe, NAS, backup hardware and software, storage management, container-based storage, storage 
security and cloud-based platforms.

• Compute, IT Operations and DevOps. As more organizations have embraced cloud computing, IT decisions makers must 
navigate the best ways to manage operations across a diverse set of IT platforms. Data centers that house servers, 
storage devices, routers and switches must be optimized to work alongside distributed multi-cloud environments. IT 
operations staff must design and manage flexible computing environments capable of scaling to meet the demand of 
today's cloud-native applications. They must also make complex decisions about which platform or cloud service is best 
suited to run new applications. At the same time, power and cooling remain a significant cost in enterprise technology 
budgets and an increasing focus on sustainability initiatives makes data center energy efficiency a priority. Our key online 
properties in this sector provide targeted information on the B2B technologies and services that serve these sub-sectors. 
Our properties in this sector include sites such as TechTarget Data Center, which covers power and cooling, mainframe, 
colocation, data center infrastructure management ("DCIM"), software-defined data center ("SDDC") architectures, and 
private cloud. TechTarget Cloud Computing and SearchAWS.com cover public, hybrid and multi-cloud infrastructure, as 
well as the key tools and strategies cloud administrators need to efficiently and cost-effectively deploy and manage those 
environments. SearchVMware.com focuses on managing and building out virtual environments on the most widely installed 
server virtualization platform. TechTarget IT Operations covers DevOps, container deployment and management, IT 
automation and the impact of microservices and event-driven computing on enterprise technology operations.

We also cover servers, application and desktop solutions deployed in distributed computing environments. Given the 

breadth of the Windows market, we have segmented our Windows-focused media based on enterprise technology and 

business professionals’ infrastructure responsibilities and purchasing focus. Our online properties in this sector include 

SearchWindowsServer.com, which covers server, storage and systems management, as well as the integration of on-

premises Windows environments with the Microsoft Azure cloud; This network of sites provides resources and advice to 

enterprise technology and business professionals pursuing solutions related to such topics as Windows backup and 

storage, server consolidation, and upgrade planning. TechTarget Enterprise Desktop focuses on the deployment and 

management of Windows, Linux and macOS end-user computing environments. This market has evolved to focus on 

digital workspace technology, in which IT professionals can manage end-user access to a variety of resources and 

workspaces. TechTarget Mobile Computing covers the enterprise technology management issues surrounding the 

deployment of tablets and smartphones in the workplace. Combined with our properties that focus on server virtualization, 

TechTarget Virtual Desktop focuses on desktop virtualization, giving us a comprehensive offering addressing the area of 

virtualization technologies. This site also covers the growing area of desktops as a service, as well as application streaming 

and other virtual and cloud-based delivery methods.

• CIO/IT Strategy. Our CIO/IT Strategy site provides content targeted at chief information officers (“CIOs”), senior enterprise 
technology executives and business executives with technology responsibility, enabling them to make informed enterprise 
technology purchases throughout the critical stages of the purchase decision process. Their areas of interest generally 
align with the major sectors of the IT market: AI, BI and big data, business applications, cloud, data center, DevOps, end 
user computing, networking, outsourcing, risk management, security and storage. The focus of this elite purchasing group, 
however, is on how these technologies can be used in tandem to give their companies a competitive edge. In an 
environment where the mega-tech companies set the pace of business and customer expectations, enterprise IT leaders 
are called on not only to enable business strategy and operations but to also reinvent them as conditions change. With the 
pandemic-driven shift to remote work and the rise of digital-first customers, the purview of CIOs has expanded to include a 
deeper focus on front-facing business concerns such as customer experience and product development, in addition to the
oversight of IT infrastructure and services. Cybersecurity and data privacy are also of strategic importance to CIOs. 
Accordingly, our targeted information resources for senior IT executives focus on digital transformation and the supporting 
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technologies, methodologies, business processes and skills required today for a digital-first business model. Technologies 
that support

12 14

 

 

enterprise speed, agility and customer service are of paramount importance. They include the use of machine learning and A
faster and better insight, cloud for scalability and flexibility, software automation technologies such as robotic process automa
(RPA) for offloading rote work, intelligent business applications for optimizing the employee experience and boosting product
and emerging technologies such as digital twins and quantum computing that could provide business value.

• Business Applications. Our Business Applications and Analytics market category focuses on mission critical software such 
as enterprise resource planning ("ERP" (“ERP”), databases and business intelligence, content management enterprise 
resource planning, and customer facing applications such as CRM software for mid-sized and large companies. Because 
these applications are critical to the overall success of the businesses that use them, there is a high demand for specialized 
information by IT and business professionals involved in their purchase, implementation, and ongoing support. HR 
professionals are faced with challenges around employee experience, remote workforce management and new best 
practices around recruiting, hiring, learning and development and more. Our applications-focused properties in this sector 
include sites such as TechTarget Customer Experience, TechTarget HR Software, and TechTarget ERP. These sites are 
leading online resources that provide this specialized information to support mission-critical business applications such as 
CRM, sales force automation, databases and ERP software.

• Analytics and Artificial Intelligence ("AI"). Businesses are using artificial intelligence to improve internal processes and 
tools, and technology providers are increasingly adding AI capabilities to enhance their products. AI is also has the 
potential to disrupt jobs and various technology markets. TechTarget Enterprise AI covers the quickly evolving technologies 
of AI and machine learning, giving insight into the enterprise use cases for AI, how AI development functions, and how 
businesses can capitalize on the new possibilities around machine learning in enterprise applications. Businesses are also 
collecting more data that they need to understand how to best use this data for key insights. The information produced by 
these business applications is seen as a corporate asset that is essential for gaining competitive advantage through 
informed, data-driven decisions. New tools and techniques to analyze, model and visualize data can help organizations 
drive more value. Leveraging this data can help improve operational efficiency, enable business agility, and improve sales 
effectiveness and customer service. As a result, business intelligence and analytics have become pervasive as various 
organizations increasingly rely on mission-critical information to optimize their businesses. TechTarget Business Analytics, 
TechTarget Data Management, and TechTarget Content Management cover the business intelligence, data management, 
content management and collaboration disciplines associated with such initiatives. These sites combine with Data Science 
Central to cover the wide-ranging topics under the umbrella of information management. Built on a community of data 
science experts and contributing writers, Data Science Central targets a highly technical audience. The site covers data 
science and analytics, machine learning and AI, as well as more strategic topics such as remote work and data trends.

• Application Architecture and Development. The application architecture and development sector is comprised of a broad 
landscape of tools and languages that enable developers, architects and project managers to build, customize and 
integrate software for their businesses. Our application architecture and development online properties focus on 
development in enterprise environments (including mobile and web development), the programming languages that 
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developers use most, and the various tools used for modern application builds and distributed systems management. In 
particular, we believe the desire for increasingly streamlined and modular application development cycles has fueled 
interest in innovative software approaches, such as decomposing large business applications into microservices and 
introducing event-driven architecture capabilities. Given the scope of challenges associated with application architecture, 
especially at the enterprise level, the associated tools and products also tie in heavily with application integration, 
performance testing, data security, citizen development and API management. Our online properties in this sector include 
sites such as TheServerSide.com, which hosts independent communities of developers and architects, TechTarget 
Software Quality, which covers application testing, quality assurance and Agile development methodologies, and 
TechTarget App Architecture, which serves architects, developers, IT managers and line of business executives who are 
interested in adapting existing architectures to meet the speed, scale and agility needs of modern applications.

• Channel. Our Channel site addresses the information needs of business and technology professionals in the IT services 
and solutions industry. Our coverage encompasses managed service providers, managed security services providers, 
cloud consultancies, systems integrators and resellers. Those companies deliver products and services to SMB and 
enterprise customers, becoming trusted advisors and the preferred source for technology. In light of this status, B2B 
technology companies actively seek alliances with channel partners. The resulting dynamics in the B2B technology channel 
are well-suited to our integrated, targeted content strategy. Our flagship online property in this sector is TechTarget IT 
Channel. In addition to this website, TechTarget channel media is able to profile channel professionals accessing 
information on any website within the TechTarget Network. As channel professionals recommend, deploy and manage 
hardware, software and cloud services from vendors in a particular enterprise technology sector, the key areas of focus 
tend to parallel those for the sub-sectors addressed by our IT-focused properties. Those sites cover a wide spectrum of 
technology: for storage, backup, storage virtualization and network storage solutions such as SAN, NAS, cloud storage, 
NVMe and flash memory; for security, vulnerability assessment, threat detection and response, and identity access 
management; for networking, wireless, network security, SD-WAN and VoIP; for systems, public cloud, hybrid cloud, 
converged infrastructure and server virtualization.
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• Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG"). Our TechTarget Sustainability and ESG site helps IT professionals and 
corporate leaders understand this emerging sector and implement new ESG initiatives. Several factors are pushing 
businesses of all sizes to focus more on ESG, including consumer and employee expectations, investor relations and 
government regulations. Business leaders and IT practitioners need new processes and tools to track, measure and report 
on efforts to meet these requirements. In addition to measuring their own energy efficiency, carbon footprints and 
environmental impacts, many technology buyers must now also consider the sustainability of their partners and technology 
providers. Our coverage helps these buyers understand how existing and new technologies can help them meet complex 
expectations and regulations. Many organizations are also beginning to measure and track social commitments or diversity, 
equity and inclusion ("DEI") factors when making business decisions. Today's business leaders must understand the social 
and human impact of their business decisions and research technology that supports DEI.

• Healthcare Technology. The Xtelligent Healthcare Media properties provide healthcare executives and IT professionals who 
support healthcare initiatives with news and information about the latest healthcare technology trends. As the industry 
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leans more on new and emerging forms of technology, Xtelligent sites focus on topics and trends affecting the industry's 
daily operations and continued digital transformation. Our EHRIntelligence.com site connects with subject matter experts in 
the field to share best practices for streamlining implementation, improving usability, and enabling the technology to 
improve outcomes. HealthITSecurity.com leverages security and privacy experts across the continuum of care to help 
readers address potential threads and adopt best practices for health data security and privacy. HealthITAnalytics.com 
features real use cases in data analytics that improve the health of individuals and populations and the cost of providing 
care. RevCycleIntelligence.com covers news and firsthand experience managing claims, improving A/R management and 
performance and adopting new models of reimbursement. mHealthIntelligence.com provides the latest news, featured 
stories, and emerging trends in mobile health, telemedicine, remote patient monitoring, and connected health for providers. 
By connecting with subject matter experts from the nation’s top payers, the editors at HealthPayerIntelligence.com share 
actionable insight drawn from real-world experiences working with providers, employers, beneficiaries, and policymakers 
under commercial and public contracts. PatientEngagementHIT.com includes news that reports on how to leverage health 
information technology to engage patients and communities. HITInfrastructure.com covers the latest technologies and 
trends that support the development of flexible, reliable IT infrastructure for healthcare providers. 
PharmaNewsIntelligence.com shares insights with pharmaceutical executives interested in learning more about value-
based care, managing clinical trials and building relationships with payers and providers. HealthcareExecIntelligence.com 
responds to the needs of healthcare executives by offering the latest news from the industry. It provides clear and direct 
coverage of recent and emerging developments across the healthcare industry with a focus on innovation and strategy. 
LifeSciencesIntelligence.com provides coverage of healthcare science focused on major trends in pathology, 
genetics/genomics, biotechnology, medical devices and reproductive health. Our reporting also extends to a weekly 
Healthcare Strategies podcast and quarterly Insights research reports.

Customers

We market to B2B technology companies targeting specific audiences who are actively researching purchasing decisions. We 

maintain multiple points of contact with our customers in order to provide support throughout their organization and during critical 

stages of the sales cycle. As a result, individual customers often run multiple marketing/sales programs with us in order to reach 

discrete portions of our targeted audience. Our products and services are delivered under both short-term contracts that run for the 

length of a given marketing/sales program, typically less than six months, and through integrated, contracts in excess of 270 days 

(“longer-term contracts”) covering various client needs. We have developed a broad customer base and delivered campaigns to over 

3,400 approximately 2,600 customers in 2022. 2023. During 2023, 2022, 2021, and 2020, 2021, no single customer represented 10% or 

more of total revenues.

Sales and Marketing

We have an internal direct sales department that works closely with existing and potential customers to develop customized 

marketing programs that provide highly targeted access to enterprise technology and business professionals. We organize our sales 

force by the sector-specific market categories that we operate in and have a global accounts team that works with our largest 

customers. Additionally, we organize certain individuals into Customer Success Teams. Those teams facilitate the usage and renewal of 

certain of our products. We believe that our sector-specific sales organization and integrated approach to our product and service 

offerings allows our sales personnel to develop a high level of expertise in the specific sectors they cover and to create effective 

marketing programs tailored to the customer’s specific objectives. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our sales and 

marketing staff consisted of approximately 500 450 people. The majority of our sales and marketing staff is located in our Newton, 
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Massachusetts headquarters and our offices and remote workforces with additional staff located in California, London, England, New 

York, New York and Sydney, Australia.

We pursue a variety of marketing initiatives designed to support our sales activities by building awareness of our brand with B2B 

technology companies and positioning ourselves as a “thought leader” in ROI-based marketing. These initiatives include purchasing 

online sponsorships in media vehicles that reach technology marketers, as well as engaging in direct communications with the 

database of relevant contacts we have built since our inception. Examples of our direct communications include selected e-mail 

updates on new
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product launches and initiatives. We also produce videocasts, blogs and white papers for technology marketers where we provide 

information on the latest best practices in the field of online B2B technology marketing.

Through our Press and Public Relations activities, we seek to develop and maintain relationships with key analysts, publications 

and influencers covering B2B marketing and sales topics.

Online Member and User Acquisition

Our primary source of traffic to our websites and webinar channels is through non-paid traffic sources, such as our existing 

registered member and user base and organic search engine traffic. Organic search engine traffic is also a key source of new 

registered members and users for our sites. Because our sites focus on specific sectors of the enterprise technology market, our 

content is highly targeted and we believe is an effective means for attracting search engine traffic and from this, growing our member 

and user base. We also make marketing expenditures designed to supplement our non-paid traffic and registered members and users 

including, keyword advertising on the major search engines and targeted list rentals of e-mail subscribers from a variety of targeted 

partners, media sources, and data providers.

Technological Infrastructure

We have developed an expandable operations infrastructure using leading Cloud infrastructure providers and off-site data centers 

to maintain our websites and online offerings. All of the critical components of the system are redundant, allowing us to withstand 

unexpected component failure and to undergo maintenance and upgrades. Our infrastructure is scalable, enabling us to make additions 

that fit into the existing environment as our system requirements grow based on traffic, member, and customer growth. Our critical data 

is copied daily to an online backup storage solution. We maintain a quality assurance process to constantly monitor our servers, 

processes, and network connectivity. We leverage industry standard network and perimeter defense technologies, DDoS protection 
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systems, web application firewalls, and enterprise grade DNS services across multiple vendors. We believe that continued development 

of our technological infrastructure is critical to our success. We have made, and will continue to make, technological improvements and 

investments in this infrastructure to improve our ability to service our members, users and customers.

Competition

The market for B2B technology companies marketing and sales spend is highly competitive, and in each of the sectors we serve, 

as well as across the products and services we offer, our primary competitors include media companies that produce content 

specifically for enterprise technology and business professionals, providers of technology-based point solutions for data analysis and 

other service providers. Our primary media competitors, each of which possesses substantial resources to compete, are Ziff Davis, Inc., 

Madison Logic, Inc., and Foundry (formerly IDG Communications), an IDG, Inc. company. In the online market we generally compete on 

the basis of target audience, quality and uniqueness of information content, ease of use of our websites for IT and business 

professionals, and the quality and quantity of sales leads generated for B2B technology companies. We also compete for the members 

who comprise our target audiences primarily with the media companies that produce content specifically for enterprise technology and 

business professionals such as Ziff Davis, Inc., and Foundry, an IDG, Inc. company. In the data-oriented businesses, we compete with 

providers of predictive analytics and internet-based analysis including companies like 6sense Insights, Inc., Infer, Inc., Bombora, Inc. 

and Aberdeen Group, LLC. In general marketing services, we compete with list and lead providers of various types such as ZoomInfo 

Technologies Inc. As a result of our acquisition of BrightTALK, we compete with a number of web-based meeting, webinar and virtual 

event providers and physical event providers, such as LogMeIn, Inc., Intrado Corporation and ON24, Inc. Many of these providers 

possess substantially more resources to compete. As we continue to expand internationally, we expect to compete with many of the 

competitors mentioned above, as well as with established media companies based in particular countries or geographical regions.

Member and User Privacy

We gather in-depth business information about our registered members and users who provide us or our partners with such 

information through e-mail, telephone, or other means, including through the submission of webforms displayed on our websites. We 

also gather information about visitors of certain content on our websites by tracking their content consumption or the content 

consumption of the companies they work for. We post our privacy policy on our websites so that our members, users and others who 

visit our websites can access and understand the terms and conditions applicable to the collection and use of their information. Our 

privacy policy discloses the types of information we gather, how we use it, and how a member or user can correct or change this 

information, including how a member or user can unsubscribe from our communications and those of our partners. Our privacy policy 

also explains the circumstances under which we share a member's or user’s information and with whom. Members and users who 

register receive offers via e-mail, telephone, and other means, such as targeted advertising online or on mobile devices regarding areas 

of specific interest to them and that are relevant to their professional interests; these offers contain content created either by us or our 

third party
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B2B technology customers. To uphold our obligations to our members and users, we impose constraints that are consistent with our 

privacy policy on the customers and third parties to whom we provide member and user data, including through the use of contractual

15

terms and conditions or data processing agreements, where applicable, that are generally consistent with our obligations to members 

and users and as set forth in our privacy policies.

Consumer Protection and Privacy Regulation

General. Advertising and promotional activities presented to members, users and visitors to our websites are subject to federal 

and state consumer protection laws that regulate unfair and deceptive practices. We are also subject to various other federal and state

consumer protection laws, including the ones described below. We are also subject to the laws and regulations of various other 

jurisdictions in which we target members, users and website visitors.

CAN-SPAM Act. The Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003 (the “CAN-SPAM Act”) 

regulates commercial e-mails and provides a right on the part of the recipient to request the sender to stop sending commercial 

electronic marketing messages (“commercial e-mails”), and establishes penalties for the sending of e-mail messages that are intended 

to deceive the recipient as to source or content. Under the CAN-SPAM Act, senders of commercial e-mails (and other persons who 

initiate those e-mails) are required to make sure that those e-mails do not contain false or misleading transmission information. 

Commercial e-mails are required to include a valid return e-mail address and other subject heading information so that the sender and

the internet location from which the message has been sent are accurately identified. Recipients must be furnished with an electronic 

method of informing the sender of the recipient’s decision not to receive further commercial e-mails. In addition, the e-mail must include 

a postal address of the sender and notice that the e-mail is an advertisement. The CAN-SPAM Act may apply to the e-newsletters that 

our websites distribute to registered members and to some of our other commercial e-mail communications. The U.S. Federal Trade 

Commission (the “FTC”) has issued regulations related to the CAN-SPAM Act, including interpretations of such act that indicate that e-

newsletters, such as those we distribute to our registered members, will be exempt from most of the provisions of the CAN-SPAM Act, 

provided that they do not contain predominantly marketing content. The CAN-SPAM Act and the FTC’s CAN-SPAM trade regulation rule 

allow for civil penalties that run into the millions of dollars. Several states have enacted additional, more restrictive and punitive laws 

regulating commercial email. Foreign legislation exists as well, including Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation and the European laws that 

have been enacted pursuant to the General Data Protection Regulation “(GDPR)” and European Union Directive 2002/58/EC and its 

amendments. We use email as a significant means of communicating with our existing members and users as well as potential website 

visitors and members and users. At this time, we are applying the applicable legal requirements to e-newsletters and all other e-mail 

communications and believe that our e-mail practices comply with the requirements of the CAN-SPAM Act, state laws and applicable 

foreign legislation.

Telemarketing Rules. Laws regulating telemarketing in the U.S., including the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (the “TCPA”), 

the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) rules thereunder, the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act 

and the FTC’s Telemarketing Sales Rule, including their do-not call provisions, and in the other jurisdictions where we do business, 

could apply to our calls to members, users and individuals who visit our websites. If any of these laws apply to our telemarketing, and 

we are found liable for violating them, we could be subject to financial penalties.

Other Consumer Protection Regulation and Privacy. The FTC and many state attorneys general are applying federal and state 

consumer protection laws to require that the online collection, use and dissemination of data, and the presentation of web site content, 
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comply with certain standards for notice, choice, security and access. In many cases, the specific limitations imposed by these

standards are subject to interpretation by courts and other governmental authorities, and courts may adopt these developments as law. 

In addition, the FTC has published self-regulatory principles to address consumer privacy issues that may arise from so-called 

“behavioral targeting” (i.e. the tracking of a member’s or user’s online activities in order to deliver advertising tailored to their interests) 

and to encourage industry self-regulation for public content. Although the FTC excluded from the principles contextual advertising, with 

respect to other types of behavioral targeting that include the storage of more, and potentially sensitive, data or that collects information 

outside of the “traditional Web site context” (such as through a mobile device or by an ISP), the FTC has stated that it will continue to 

evaluate self-regulatory programs and bring law enforcement actions where appropriate. Further, the FTC has indicated that it is 

considering regulations regarding behavioral advertising, which may include implementation of a more rigorous opt-in regime. An opt-in 

policy would prohibit businesses from collecting and using information obtained through behavioral targeting activities from individuals 

who have not voluntarily consented. The FTC has actively been bringing enforcement actions against companies from improperly 

disclosing personal information to third parties for targeted advertising purposes. Through these enforcement actions, the FTC is 

creating new substantive limitations on how companies are permitted to use and disclose information. The agency may also issued 

further clarifying look to codify these new privacy requirements (and other data processing obligations) through its “Trade Regulation 

Rule on Commercial Surveillance and Data Security”. It began the formal process to develop this set of rules in 2022, and it is still 

ongoing. These new rules and future FTC enforcement/guidance regarding consumer privacy may significantly impact our business 

depending on how the limitations the agency creates for the use of personal information for targeted advertising purposes. The FTC 

also has expanded its views of appropriate consent and data collection with a particular focus on related practices in an evolving 

manner. These practices as well as potential legislation at the mobile environment. A few states have also introduced legislation that, if 

enacted, would state and federal level may restrict or prohibit behavioral advertising within the state. In the absence of a federal law pre-

empting their enforcement, such even individual state legislation would likely have the practical effect of regulating behavioral 

advertising nationwide because of the difficulties behind implementing state-specific policies. In addition, states (including California) 

are considering new and/or have implemented comprehensive privacy laws (such as the California Consumer Privacy Act) which may 

have an impact on how we can conduct our business. In addition, the European Union (“EU”) and its member states, the United 

Kingdom, Canada and numerous other countries have laws, rules and/or regulations dealing with the collection and use of personal 

information obtained from their citizens. Regulations have focused on, among other things, the collection, use, disclosure and security 

of information that may be used to identify or that actually identifies an individual, such as an e-mail address, a name, or in some cases, 

an IP address. These laws also provide consumers the right to access the information a company has collected on them, correct it, 

request that it be
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deleted, or to stop the sale of such information to third parties. Additionally, the EU requires informed consent for the placement of a 

cookie on a user device.

16

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

27/199

While we believe that we are operating our business in compliance with the laws and regulations that apply to us, such laws and 

regulations continue to be the focus of legislative bodies, courts, and regulators at the state and federal level as well as in other 

countries. This enhanced focus may result in amendments to existing laws and regulations, the enactment of new laws and regulations, 

and new guidance and interpretation by governmental agencies or the courts. All of these factors could materially impact our business 

and results of operations.

Intellectual Property

We regard our copyrights, domain names, trademarks, trade secrets and similar intellectual property as important to our success, 

and we rely upon copyright, trademark and trade secrets laws, as well as confidentiality agreements with our employees and others, 

and protective contractual provisions, to protect the proprietary technologies and content that we have developed. We pursue the 

registration of our material trademarks in the U.S. and elsewhere. Currently, our TechTarget and BrightTALK trademark and logo, as 

well as certain other marks and logos, are registered in the U.S. with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and in select foreign 

jurisdictions and we have applied for U.S. and foreign registrations for various other marks. In addition, we have registered over 

1,600 1,675 domain names that are, or may be, relevant to our business, including “www.techtarget.com,” “www.knowledgestorm.com,” 

“www.bitpipe.com,” and those leveraging the “search” prefix used in the branding of many of our websites. We also incorporate a 

number of third party software products into our technology platform pursuant to relevant licenses. We use third party software to 

maintain and enhance, among other things, the content generation and delivery, and support our technology infrastructure. We are not 

substantially dependent upon these third party software licenses, and we believe the licensed software is generally replaceable, by 

either licensing or purchasing similar software from another vendor or building the software functions ourselves.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had approximately 1,000 960 full-time employees worldwide. None of our 

U.S U.S. employees are represented by a labor union and only a small number of our international employees in the United Kingdom 

and France are represented by workers’ councils and have the benefits of collective bargaining agreements at the national and/or 

sector level. We have not experienced interruptions of operations or work stoppages due to labor disagreements. TechTarget is an 

innovative company in a dynamic environment that fosters a collaborative culture among its energetic, driven workforce. We value our 

employees, let them know the objectives and goals, challenge them, equip them with the right tools and resources to succeed, and then 

empower them to get the job done. At TechTarget, we give employees direct responsibility for generating results while allowing their 

ideas to be the catalyst for entirely new areas of opportunity. Our key human capital objectives in managing our business include 

attracting, developing and retaining top talent while integrating diversity, equity and inclusion principles and practices into our culture.

We strive to attract a pool of diverse and exceptional candidates and support their career growth once they become employees. 

Our efforts begin during the recruitment process by offering candidates an outstanding, comfortable and welcoming candidate 

experience where they are able to learn as much about our company and culture as we are able to learn about them. Once hired, we 

ensure that employees are rewarded, recognized and engaged based on their contributions. We also emphasize in our performance 

evaluation and career development efforts internal mobility opportunities for employees to drive professional development and we 

consistently promote approximately 27% of our workforce to positions with increased responsibility each year. Our goal is a long-term, 

upward-bound career at TechTarget for every employee, which we believe also drives our retention efforts. Our ability to retain our 

workforce is also dependent on our ability to foster an environment that is safe, respectful, fair and inclusive of everyone and promotes 

diversity, equity and inclusion inside and outside of our business. We accomplish this with the strong culture we have built over the past 

20+ years and through the efforts of our active culture committees – Women in Business at TechTarget, Health & Fitness at TechTarget,
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TechTarget Gives and TechTarget Diversity & Inclusion Committee. Each committee has their own distinct mission, but all look to 

cultivate leadership skills, develop best business practices, encourage knowledge sharing, give back to the community, and provide 

personal growth and development opportunities while allowing for a wide range of perspectives and experiences.

In December 2022, we committed to a restructuring plan (the “Plan”) intended to generate operational efficiencies, strengthen 

our financial position through reducing costs, and better align our operations with our current strategic objectives. The Plan 

involved streamlining the operations of certain of our business units and included the elimination of approximately 60 

positions, or approximately 5% of our then current workforce. We believe we continue to have good relations with our 

employees.

Seasonality

The timing of our revenues is affected by seasonal factors. factors, with revenues generally lower during the first quarter relative 

to subsequent quarters in a given year. Our revenues are seasonal primarily as a result of the annual budget approval process of many 

of our customers, the normal timing at which our customers introduce new products, and the historical decrease in marketing and sales 

activity in summer months. The timing of revenues in relation to our expenses, much of which do not vary directly with revenues, has an 

impact on the cost of revenues, selling and marketing, product development and general and administrative expenses as a percentage 

of revenues in each calendar quarter during the year.
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The majority of our expenses are personnel-related and include salaries, stock-based compensation, benefits and incentive-

based compensation plan expenses. As a result, we have not experienced significant seasonal fluctuations in the timing of our 

expenses period to period.

Available Information

Our website address is www.techtarget.com, and our investor relations website is located at https://investor.techtarget.com. We 

make our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these 

reports, available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or 

furnish such material to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The SEC maintains a website, at www.sec.gov, that 

contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that are filed electronically. Our Code of 

Business Conduct and Ethics, and any amendments to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Corporate Governance Guidelines 

and Board Committee Charters, are also available on our website. The information contained on our website is not a part of, or 

incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Investors and others should note that we announce material information to our investors using one or more of the following: SEC 

filings, press releases and our corporate website, including without limitation the “Investor Relations” section of our website. We use 

these channels, as well as social media channels such as Twitter and LinkedIn, in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution 

of information to the public and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. It is possible that the information we 

post on our corporate website or other social media could be deemed to be material information. Therefore, we encourage investors, 

the media, and others interested in our company to review the information we post on the “Investor Relations” section of our corporate 

website and on our social media channels.

References to our website and information found on our website should not be deemed incorporated by reference into this Annual 

Report on Form 10-K. 20
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Item 1A.	 Risk Factors

The risks and uncertainties set forth below, as well as other risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this Annual Report on 

Form 10-K including in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results of Operations” or in our other filings with the SEC, could materially and adversely affect our business, 

financial condition, operating results and the trading price of our common stock. Additional risks and uncertainties that are not currently 

known to us or that are not currently believed by us to be material may also harm our business operations and financial results. 

Because of the following risks and uncertainties, as well as other factors affecting our financial condition and operating results, past 

financial performance should not be considered to be a reliable indicator of future performance, and investors should not use historical 

trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods.

Risk Factor Summary

Risks related to our Business and Operations

• Global economic and geopolitical events, such as inflation, monetary policy responses and changing interest rates, a recessio
economic downturn, political violence, and instability, including geo-economic fragmentation, could adversely affect our result
operations and financial condition.

• Economic conditions that result in financial difficulties for companies within the enterprise technology industry could adversely
affect our results of operations and financial condition.

• If we are unable to apply technology and data analytics effectively in driving value for our clients through technology-based 
solutions or gain internal efficiencies and effective internal controls through the application of technology and related tools, ou
operating results, client relationships, growth and compliance programs could be adversely affected.

• If we are unable to deliver content and services that attract and retain our members and users, our ability to attract customers
may be affected.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

30/199

• Our ability to attract visitors to our websites depends upon internet search engines. These visitors can become members and
users. Changes to the prominence of our search engine results could negatively impact our business and operating results.

• Our operations outside the U.S. expose us to risks different than those we face in the U.S.

• We face significant competitive pressures in each of our businesses.

• We may innovate or continue to build brand awareness which could harm our operating results.

• Our success depends, in part, on our ability to retain qualified talent, including our senior management team.
Risks related to Acquisitions

• Our ability to identify or successfully acquire and integrate businesses may result in our revenues declining or failing to grow.

• We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions or those benefits may take longer to realize than expected.
Risks Related to Data Privacy, Security and Intellectual Property Rights

• We have limited protection of our intellectual property rights.

• We could be subject to claims from third parties based on the content on our websites created by us and third parties. These 
claims could result in costly litigation, payment of damages or the need to revise the way we conduct our business.

• Changes in laws and standards related to marketing, data collection and use, and the privacy of internet users could impact o
ability to conduct our business and thereby decrease our revenue while imposing significant compliance costs on the Compan

• The loss of personal, confidential and/or proprietary information due to our cybersecurity systems or the systems of our 
customers, vendors, or partners being breached could cause us to incur significant legal and financial exposure and liability, a
materially adversely affect our business, operating results and reputation.
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• Our business, which is dependent on centrally located communications, computer hardware systems and cloud-
basedinfrastructure providers, is vulnerable to natural disasters, telecommunication and systems failures, terrorism and 
other problems, as well as disruption due to maintenance or high volume, all of which could reduce traffic on our networks 
or websites and which could result in a negative impact on our business.

• Our business depends on continued and unimpeded access to the internet by us and our members and users. If government 
regulations relating to the internet change, internet access providers may be able to block, degrade, or charge for access to 
certain of our products and services, which could lead to additional expenses and the loss of customers.

• We may face risks associated with our use of certain artificial intelligence, machine learning, and large language models.
Risks Related to Our Financial Statements and General Corporate Matters

• If we do not maintain proper and effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, our
ability to produce accurate financial statements could be impaired, which could adversely affect our operating results, our abil
to operate our business and investors’ views of us.

• Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited.

• The impairment of a significant amount of goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet could result in a decrease in 
earnings and, as a result, our stock price could decline.

• The trading price of our common stock is volatile and may decline substantially.
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• Our full year and quarterly operating results are subject to fluctuations, and these fluctuations may adversely affect the trading
price of our common stock.

• Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could deter takeover attempts.

• Our significant indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition.

• Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected, or in the future should collect, sales and use, v
added, or similar taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future sales, which could adversely affec
results of operations.

• Changes in applicable tax laws could result in adverse tax consequences to the Company.

• Future sales of our common stock in the public market could depress the market price of our common stock.

• A limited number of stockholders have the ability to significantly influence the outcome of director elections and other ma
requiring stockholder approval.

Risks Related to the Proposed Transaction

• The proposed transaction may not be completed on the terms or timeline currently contemplated, or at all, and failure to comp
the proposed transaction may result in material adverse consequences to our business and operations.

• Each of TechTarget and the Informa Tech business will be subject to business uncertainties and contractual restrictions while
proposed transaction is pending that could adversely affect each of them.

• Ownership interests will not be adjusted if there is a change in our value or the value of the Informa Tech business and 
respective assets before the proposed transaction is completed.

• The Transaction Agreement contains provisions that may discourage other companies from trying to acquire us.

• We and New TechTarget will incur transaction-related costs in connection with the proposed transaction and the integration o
businesses.

• Some of our and the Informa Tech business’s existing agreements contain change in control, anti-assignment or early termina
rights that may be implicated by the proposed transaction, and some of our and the Informa Tech business’s customers 
experience uncertainty associated with the proposed, which may limit New TechTarget’s business.

• If the proposed transaction closes and does not qualify as a transaction described in Section 351 of the Internal Revenue C
of 1968, as amended (the "Code"), our stockholders may be required to pay substantial U.S. federal income taxes.

• If the proposed transaction closes, New TechTarget will be controlled by Informa. The interests of Informa may differ from
interests of other stockholders of New TechTarget.
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• Failure of the parties successfully to implement and operate under the Data Sharing Agreement between New TechTarget and
Informa PLC could impact the potential benefits of the proposed transactions.

• If the proposed transaction closes, the integration of TechTarget and the Informa Tech business following the closing will pre
challenges that may result in the anticipated benefits of the proposed transaction not being realized.

Risks Related to our Business and Operations
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Because we depend on our ability to generate revenues from the sale and support of purchase intent driven advertising 

campaigns, fluctuations in advertising spending could have an adverse effect on our revenues and operating results.

The primary source of our revenues is the sale and support of purchase intent-driven advertising campaigns to our customers. 

Any reduction in advertising expenditures could have an adverse effect on the Company’s revenues and operating results. We believe 

that advertising spending on the internet, as in traditional media, fluctuates significantly as a result of a variety of factors, many of which 

are outside of our control. Some of these factors include:

• variations in expenditures by advertisers due to budgetary constraints;

• the cancellation or delay of projects by advertisers or by one or more significant customers;

• the cyclical and discretionary nature of advertising spending;

• the relocation of advertising expenditures to competitors or other media;

• general global economic conditions and the availability of capital, as well as economic conditions specific to the internet 
online and offline media industry; and

• the occurrence of extraordinary events, such as natural disasters, disease outbreaks (such as the novel coronavirus), ac
terrorism and international or domestic political and economic unrest.

General domestic and global economic, business or industry conditions, financial market instability, and geopolitical changes 

may adversely affect our business, as well as our ability to forecast financial results.

The U.S. and international economies have experienced inconsistent, unpredictable growth and a certain degree of instability, 

magnified at times by factors including changes in the availability of credit, inflation, volatile business and consumer confidence, 

unemployment, responses to public health crisis, including pandemics like COVID-19 and epidemics and geopolitical unrest, including 

from the impacts of the Russian invasion of ongoing conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and its global ramifications. in the Middle 

East. These and other macro‑economic conditions have contributed to unpredictable changes in the global economy and expectations 

of future global economic growth. Additionally, economic weakness in the U.S. and international markets has adversely affected our 

customers and their spending decisions, causing them to reduce or delay their purchases of our offerings, which has adversely affected 

and may continue to affect our business.

Because all components of our budgeting and forecasting are dependent upon estimates of growth or contraction in the economy 

generally, and in the IT market specifically, it can be difficult for us to accurately estimate future income and expenditures. We cannot 

predict the duration of current economic conditions or the duration or strength of an economic recovery in the U.S. or worldwide 

generally or in the IT industry or in any of its segments. Further adverse changes may occur as a result of global, domestic or regional 

economic conditions, changing consumer and customer confidence, inflation, unemployment, tariffs, declines in stock markets, or other 

factors affecting economic and geopolitical conditions generally. These macro-economic conditions may also result in increased 

expenses due to higher allowances for doubtful accounts and potential goodwill and asset impairment charges and may make it more 

difficult for us to make accurate forecasts of revenue, gross margin, cash flows and expenses. We recognize that these challenging 

macro-economic conditions have and may continue to negatively affect the sales of our offerings, both in the U.S. and internationally, 

and could increase exposure to losses from bad debts, increase the cost and decrease the availability of financing, or increase the risk 

of loss on investments. The impact in the future of these macro-economic conditions on our business, results of operations, financial 

condition and/or liquidity is uncertain and will depend on future developments that we may not be able to accurately predict.
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Because most of our customers are in the enterprise technology industry, our revenues are subject to characteristics of the 

enterprise technology industry that can affect advertising spending by B2B technology companies.

Because most of our customers are in the enterprise technology industry, the success of our business is closely linked to the 

health, and subject to market conditions, of the enterprise technology industry. The enterprise technology industry is characterized by, 

among other things, volatile quarterly results, uneven sales patterns, short product life cycles, rapid technological developments, 

frequent new product introductions and enhancements and evolving domestic and international laws and regulations, particularly with 

respect to data privacy and data protection. As a result, our customers’ advertising budgets, which are often viewed as discretionary 

expenditures, may increase or decrease significantly over a short period of time. Many of our customers continue to scrutinize their 

spending on advertising campaigns. Prior market downturns in the enterprise technology industry have resulted in declines in 

advertising spending, which can cause longer sales cycles, deferral or delay of purchases by B2B technology companies and generally 

reduced expenditures for advertising and related services. For example, recent macroeconomic headwinds have caused general 

anxiety, elongated sales cycles, budget cuts and freezes at many of our customers. Our revenues and profitability depend on the overall 

demand for advertising services from our customers. We believe that demand for our offerings has been in the past, and could be in the 

future, disproportionately affected by fluctuations, disruptions, instability or downturns in the enterprise technology industry, which may 

cause customers and potential customers to exit the industry or delay, cancel, reduce or reallocate any planned expenditures for our 

purchase intent driven marketing and sales products. Any slowdown in the formation of new B2B technology companies or decline in 

the growth of existing B2B technology companies, may cause a decline in demand for our offerings.

In addition, the marketing and advertising budgets of our customers may fluctuate as a result of:

• weakness in corporate enterprise technology spending, resulting in a decline in enterprise technology marketing and advert
spending, a trend that we have seen in the past and that may continue in the future;

• increased concentration in the enterprise technology industry as a result of consolidations, leading to a decrease in the numb
current and prospective customers, as well as an overall reduction in marketing and advertising spend;

• reduced spending by combined entities following such consolidations, leading to volume and price compression and los
revenue; and

• the timing of marketing and advertising campaigns around new product introductions and initiatives.

Our future growth will depend in large part on continued increased sales of our data-driven products and services.

We sell a suite of data-driven products and services, which is based on our Activity Intelligence™ analytics. We expect that data-

driven products, as well as the expansion of the features in our current product offerings, will be major components of our future growth. 

The failure of our data-driven products to meet anticipated sales levels, our inability to continue to expand our data-driven products 

successfully, or the failure of our current or new products and services to achieve and then maintain widespread customer acceptance 
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could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. In addition, competitors may develop a service or application 

that is similar to our data-driven product suite, which could also result in reduced sales for those product offerings.

The majority of our revenues are primarily derived from short-term contracts that may not be renewed.

Our customer contracts are primarily short-term, typically six months or less, and are generally subject to termination without 

substantial penalty by the customer at any time, generally with minimal notice requirements. We cannot assure you that our current 

customers will fulfill their obligations under their existing contracts, continue to participate in our existing programs beyond the terms of 

their existing contracts or enter into any additional contracts for new programs that we offer. In addition, our ongoing efforts to enter into 

longer-term contracts with customers for our products and services may not continue to be successful, particularly in light of current 

macroeconomic conditions. If a significant number of customers or a few large customers decided not to continue purchasing marketing 

and advertising services from us, then we could experience a rapid decline in our revenues over a relatively short period of time. Any 

factors that limit the amount our customers are willing to and do spend on marketing or advertising with us could have a material 

adverse effect on our business.
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If we are unable to deliver content and services that attract and retain a critical mass of members and users, our ability to 

attract customers may be affected, which could in turn have an adverse effect on our revenues.

Our success depends on our continued ability to deliver original and compelling content and services to attract and retain 

members and users, as well as our ability to garner a critical mass of members of our websites or users of the BrightTALK platform. Our 

member and user base is primarily comprised of corporate enterprise technology and business professionals who demand specialized 

websites and content tailored to the sectors of the enterprise technology products for which they are responsible and that they 

purchase. Our content and services may not generate engagement with our websites or the BrightTALK platform or continue to attract 

and retain a critical mass of members and users necessary to attract customers and generate revenues consistent with our historical 

results and expectations of future results. We also may not develop new content or services in a timely or cost-effective manner. Our 

ability to develop and produce this specialized content successfully is subject to numerous uncertainties, including our ability to:

• anticipate and respond successfully to rapidly changing enterprise technology developments and preferences to ensure tha
content remains timely and interesting to our members;

• attract and retain qualified editors, writers, freelancers and technical personnel;

• fund new development for our programs and other offerings;

• successfully expand our content offerings into new platform and delivery mechanisms; and

• promote and strengthen the brands of our websites, webinar platform and our name.
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If we are not successful in maintaining and growing our member and user base through the deployment of targeted and 

compelling content, our ability to retain and attract customers may be affected or we may be required to obtain licensed content which 

may not be at reasonable prices, which could in turn have an adverse effect on our revenues, and operating results.

We depend upon internet search engines to attract a significant portion of the visitors to our websites. These visitors can 

become members and users, and if we were listed less prominently in search result listings as a result of changes in the 

search engines’ algorithms or otherwise, our business and operating results could be harmed.

We derive a significant portion of our website traffic from users who search for enterprise technology research and editorial 

content through internet search engines. A critical factor in attracting members and users to our websites and virtual event and webinar 

platform is whether we are prominently displayed in response to an internet search relating to enterprise technology content. Search 

result listings are determined and displayed in accordance with a set of formulas or algorithms developed by the particular internet 

search engine. The algorithms determine the order of the listing of results in response to the user’s internet search. From time to time, 

search engines revise their algorithms. In some instances, these modifications may be detrimental and cause our websites to be listed 

less prominently in unpaid search results or not at all, which will result in decreased traffic from search engine users to our websites. 

Our websites and virtual event and webinar platform may also become listed less prominently in unpaid search results, for other 

reasons, such as search engine technical difficulties, search engine technical changes and changes we make to our websites and 

virtual event and webinar platform. In addition, search engines have deemed the practices of some companies to be inconsistent with 

search engine guidelines and have decided not to list their websites in search result listings at all. Although we could mitigate certain 

algorithm changes affecting our traffic with increased marketing expenditures, if we are listed less prominently or not at all, in search 

result listings, traffic to our websites could decline, which could impact our operating results. Increased marketing spend to increase site 

traffic could also impact our operating results.

Further, we use search engine optimization (“SEO”), to enhance the visibility of our websites and optimize ranking in search 

engine results. Our ability to successfully manage our SEO efforts across our owned and operated websites depends on our ability to 

adapt and respond to changes in search engine algorithms and methodologies and changes in search query trends. If we fail to 

successfully manage our SEO strategy, our owned and operated websites may receive less favorable placement in organic or paid 

listings, which would reduce the number of visitors to our sites, decrease conversion rates and repeat business and have a detrimental 

effect our ability to generate revenue.

There are a number of risks associated with our international operations, as well as the expansion of those operations, that 

could adversely affect our business.

The Company derives a significant portion of its revenues from customers with billing addresses outside of the U.S. For the year 

ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 approximately 36% 33% of our revenues were derived from international geo-targeted 

campaigns, which are campaigns that are targeted at members who reside outside of North America. We have offices in the United 

Kingdom, France, Germany, Singapore and Australia. We also publish websites in Spanish, French, German, Portuguese and Chinese, 

targeting members worldwide who speak those languages.
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In addition to many of the same challenges we face domestically, there are additional risks and costs to doing business in 

international markets, including:

• limitations on our activities in foreign countries where we have granted rights to existing business partners;

• the degree to which our foreign-based customers transition from print to online purchase intent data;

• the adaptation of our websites and purchase intent data programs to meet local needs;

• our foreign-based competitors having greater resources and more established relationships with local advertisers;

• more restrictive data privacy and data protection regulation, which may vary by country and for which there may be 
conflicting or no guidance;

• more restrictive website licensing and hosting requirements, which may result in our websites being blocked, may req
changes to how we operate our websites, or may involve regulatory or enforcement actions against us that could be harmf
our business;

• more extensive labor regulation, which may vary by country;

• difficulties in staffing and managing multinational operations;

• difficulties in finding appropriate foreign licensees or joint venture partners;

• difficulties following changes in local business operations or structure;

• distance, language and cultural differences in doing business with foreign entities;

• foreign (and domestic) political and economic uncertainty;

• less extensive adoption of the internet as an information source and increased restriction on the content of websites;

• currency exchange-rate fluctuations; and

• potential adverse tax requirements.

Brexit. The United Kingdom’s June 2016 referendum, in which voters approved an exit of the United Kingdom from the European 

Union, commonly referred to as “Brexit,” resulted in significant general economic uncertainty as well as volatility in global stock markets 

and currency exchange rate fluctuations. In March 2017, the United Kingdom served notice to the European Council under Article 50 of 

the Lisbon Treaty of its intention to withdraw from the European Union. As of January 30, 2020, the United Kingdom’s membership in 

the European Union was terminated and an eleven month transition period began which expired on December 31, 2020. In December 

2020, the United Kingdom and the European Union agreed on a trade and cooperation agreement, under which the United Kingdom

and the European Union will now form two separate markets governed by two distinct regulatory and legal regimes. The trade and 

cooperation agreement covers the general objectives and framework of the relationship between the United Kingdom and the European 

Union, including as it relates to trade, transport and visas. Notably, under the trade and cooperation agreement, United Kingdom service 

suppliers no longer benefit from automatic access to the entire European Union single market, United Kingdom goods no longer benefit 

from the free movement of goods and there is no longer the free movement of people between the United Kingdom and the European 

Union. Depending on the application of the terms of the trade and cooperation agreement, we could face new regulatory costs and 

challenges. The full effect of Brexit remains uncertain and depends on the application of the terms of the trade and cooperation 

agreement. Moreover, the overall impact of Brexit may create further global economic uncertainty, which may cause a subset of our 

customers to more closely monitor their costs in the affected region. Our revenue generated from customers who have billing addresses 
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within the United Kingdom was approximately 10% and 14% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

respectively.

As a result, we may face difficulties and unforeseen expenses in expanding our business internationally and, if we attempt to do 

so, we may be unsuccessful, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Competition for customers’ marketing and advertising spending is intense, and we may not compete successfully, which 

could result in a material reduction in our market share, the number of our customers and our revenues.

We compete for potential customers with a number of different types of offerings and companies, including: broad based media 

outlets such as television, newspapers and business periodicals that are designed to reach a wide audience; general purpose portals 

and search engines; and offline and online offerings of media companies that produce content specifically for IT and business 

professionals, including Ziff Davis, Inc. (formerly J2 Global, Inc.), Madison Logic, Inc., and Foundry (formerly IDG Communications), 

providers of predictive analytics and internet-based analysis including companies like 6sense Insights, Inc., Infer, Inc., Bombora, Inc. 

and Aberdeen Group, LLC , contact providers such as ZoomInfo Technologies Inc., as well as webinar providers such as LogMeIn, Inc., 

Intrado Corporation and ON24, Inc. Customers may choose our competitors over us not only because they prefer our competitors’ 

online
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offerings to ours but also because customers prefer to utilize other forms of marketing and advertising services offered by our 

competitors that are not offered by us and/or to diversify their marketing and advertising expenditures. Many of our current and potential 

competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition and significantly greater financial, 

marketing and other resources than we have. They may also offer different pricing than we do, which could be more attractive to 

customers. Competitors have historically responded, and may continue to respond, to market conditions by lowering prices to try to 

attract our customers. As a result, we could lose market share to our competitors in one or more of our businesses and our revenues 

could decline.

26

We may not innovate at a successful pace, which could harm our operating results.

Our industry is rapidly adopting new technologies and standards to create and satisfy the demands of users and advertisers. It is 

critical that we continue to innovate by anticipating and adapting to these changes to ensure that our content‑delivery, demand 

generation and data-driven products and services remain effective and interesting to our members, customers and partners. In addition, 

we may need to make significant expenditures to achieve these goals. If we fail to accomplish these goals, we may lose members and 

the customers that seek to reach those members, which could harm our operating results. Existing and planned efforts to develop new 

products, including any subscription-based offerings, may be costly and ultimately not successful.
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We may be unable to continue to build awareness of our brands, which could negatively impact our business and cause our 

revenues to decline.

Building and maintaining recognition of our brands is critical to attracting and retaining our member base. We intend to continue 

to build existing brands and introduce new brands that will resonate with our targeted audiences. In order to promote our brands, we 

may find it necessary to increase our marketing budget, hire additional marketing and public relations personnel or otherwise increase 

our financial commitment to creating and maintaining brand loyalty among our customers. If we fail to promote and maintain our brands 

effectively, or incur excessive expenses attempting to promote and maintain our brands, our business and financial results may suffer.

If we do not retain our key personnel, our ability to execute our business strategy will be adversely affected.

Our continued success depends to a significant extent upon the recruitment, retention and effective succession of our executive 

officers and key management. Our management team has significant industry experience and would be difficult to replace. These 

individuals possess sales, marketing, financial and administrative skills that are critical to the operation of our business. The competition 

for these employees is intense. The loss of the services of one or more of our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on 

our business and operating results.

We may not be able to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel cost-effectively, which could impact the quality of our 

content and services and the effectiveness and efficiency of our management, resulting in increased costs and losses in 

revenues.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified technical, editorial, sales and marketing, customer support, 

financial and accounting and other managerial personnel at commercially reasonable rates. The competition for personnel in the 

industries in which we operate is intense. Our personnel may terminate their employment at any time for any reason. Loss of personnel 

may also result in increased costs for replacement hiring and training. If we fail to attract and hire new personnel or retain and motivate 

our current personnel, we may not be able to operate our businesses effectively or efficiently, serve our customers properly or maintain 

the quality of our content and services. In particular, our success depends in significant part on maintaining and growing an effective 

sales and customer retention force. This dependence involves a number of challenges, including the need to hire, integrate, motivate 

and retain additional sales and sales support personnel and train new sales personnel, many of whom lack sales experience when they 

are hired, as well as increased competition from other companies in hiring and retaining sales personnel.

In December 2022, we committed to a restructuring plan intended to generate operational efficiencies, strengthen our financial 

position through reducing costs, and better align our operations with our current strategic objectives. The Plan involved streamlining the 

operations of certain of our business units and included the elimination of approximately 60 positions, or approximately 5% of our then 

current workforce. We may find it more difficult to hire and retain qualified personnel as a result of the Plan.

23

Risks Related to Acquisitions

We may fail to identify or successfully acquire and integrate businesses, products and technologies that would otherwise 

enhance our product and service offerings to our customers and members, and as a result our revenues may decline or fail to 

grow.
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We have acquired, and in the future may acquire or invest in, complementary businesses, products or technologies. Acquisitions 

and investments involve numerous risks including:

• difficulty in assimilating the operations and personnel of acquired businesses;

• potential disruption of our ongoing businesses and distraction of our management and the management of acquired companie

• difficulty in incorporating acquired technology and rights into our offerings and services, which could result in additional expe
and/or technical difficulties in delivering our product offerings;

27

• potential failure to achieve additional sales and enhance our customer base through cross-marketing of the combined compa
products and services to new and existing customers;

• potential detrimental impact to our pricing based on the historical pricing of any acquired business with common customers
the market generally;

• potential litigation resulting from our business combinations or acquisition activities; and

• potential unknown liabilities associated with the acquired businesses.

Our inability to integrate any acquired business successfully, or the failure to achieve any expected synergies, could result in 

increased expenses and a reduction in expected revenues or revenue growth. As a result, our revenues, results of operations or stock 

price could fluctuate or decline. In addition, we may not be able to identify or successfully complete acquisitions, which could impact our 

ability to expand into complementary sectors in the future.

We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions or those benefits may take longer to realize than expected.

Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions will depend, to a large extent, on our ability to effectively integrate 

the acquired businesses with our business, which will be a complex, costly and time-consuming process. We will be required to devote 

significant management attention and resources to integrate the business practices and operations of the acquired businesses with 

ours. The integration process may disrupt our business and, if implemented ineffectively, could result in the full expected benefits of the 

acquisitions not being realized. The failure to meet the challenges involved in the integration process and to realize the anticipated 

benefits of the acquisitions could cause an interruption of, or a loss of momentum in, our operations and could adversely affect our 

business, financial condition and results of operations. operations

Additional integration challenges could include:

• difficulties in achieving anticipated synergies, business opportunities and growth prospects from the acquisitions;

• difficulties in the integration of operations and systems;

• difficulties in conforming standards, controls, procedures and accounting and other policies, business cultures and compensa
structures;

• difficulties in the assimilation of employees;

• challenges in obtaining new customers; and
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• challenges in attracting and retaining key personnel.

Many of these factors are outside of our control and any one of them could result in increased costs and liabilities, loss of 

customers and other business relationships, competitive response, decreases in the amount of expected revenues and diversion of 

management’s time and energy, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and 

result in us becoming subject to litigation. In addition, even if the acquired businesses are integrated successfully, the anticipated 

benefits of the acquisitions may not be realized within the anticipated time frame, or at all. All of these factors could cause reductions in 

our earnings per share, decrease or delay the expected accretive effect of the acquisitions and negatively impact the price of our 

common stock. As a result, our acquisitions may not result in the realization of the full anticipated benefits.
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Risks Related to Data Privacy, Security and Intellectual Property Rights

We may have limited protection of our intellectual property rights; which others could infringe.

Our success and ability to compete are dependent in part on the strength of our proprietary rights, on the goodwill associated with 

our trademarks, trade names and service marks, and on our ability to use U.S. and foreign laws to protect them. Our intellectual 

property includes, among other things, our original content, our editorial features, logos, brands, domain names, the technology that we 

use to deliver our services, the various databases of information that we maintain and make available by license, and the appearances

of our websites. We claim common law protection on certain names and marks that we have used in connection with our business 

activities. Although we have applied for and obtained registration of some of our marks in the U.S. and other countries where we do 

business, we have not been able to obtain registration of all of our key marks in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions due to prior registration or 

use by third parties employing similar marks. In addition to U.S. and foreign laws and registration processes, we rely on confidentiality 

agreements with our employees and third parties and other protective contractual provisions to safeguard our intellectual property.
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Policing our intellectual property rights and identifying infringers worldwide is a difficult task, and even if we are able to identify 

infringers, we may not be able to stop them from infringing our intellectual property. We cannot be certain that third party licensees of 

our content will adequately protect our proprietary rights. Intellectual property laws and our agreements may not be sufficient to prevent 

others from copying or otherwise obtaining and using our content or technologies. In addition, others may develop non-infringing 

technologies that are similar or superior to ours. In seeking to protect our marks, copyrights, domain names and other proprietary rights, 

we could face costly litigation and the diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

Furthermore, the relationship between regulations governing domain names and laws protecting trademarks and similar 

proprietary rights is still evolving. Therefore, we might be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names that infringe or 

otherwise decrease the value of our trademarks and other proprietary rights. Any impairment in the value of these important assets 

could cause our stock price to decline.
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We could be subject to claims from third parties based on the content on our websites created by us and third parties. These 

claims could result in costly litigation, payment of damages or the need to revise the way we conduct our business.

We could be subject to infringement claims from third parties, which may or may not have merit. Due to the nature of content 

published on our online network, including content placed on our online network by third parties, and as a creator and distributor of 

original content and research, we face potential liability based on a variety of theories, including defamation, libel, negligence, copyright 

or trademark infringement, or other legal theories based on the nature, creation or distribution of this information. Such claims may also 

include, among others, claims that by providing hypertext links to websites operated by third parties, we are liable for wrongful actions 

by those third parties through these websites. Similar claims have been brought, and sometimes successfully asserted, against online 

services. It is also possible that our members could make claims against us for losses incurred in reliance on information provided on 

our networks. In addition, we could be exposed to liability in connection with material posted to our internet sites by third parties. For 

example, many of our sites offer members an opportunity to post comments and opinions that are not moderated. Some of this 

member-generated content may infringe on third party intellectual property rights or privacy rights or may otherwise be subject to 

challenge under copyright laws. Such claims, whether brought in the U.S. or abroad, could divert management time and attention away 

from our business and result in significant cost to investigate and defend, regardless of the merit of these claims. In addition, if we 

become subject to these types of claims and are not successful in our defense, we may be forced to pay substantial damages. These 

claims could also result in the need to develop alternative trademarks, content or technology or to enter into costly royalty or licensing 

agreements. Our insurance may not adequately protect us against these claims. The filing of these claims may also damage our 

reputation as a high-quality provider of unbiased, timely analysis and result in customer cancellations or overall decreased demand for 

our services. We may not have, in all cases, conducted formal evaluations of our content, technology and services to determine 

whether they expose us to any liability of the sort described above. As a result, we cannot be certain that our technology, offerings, 

services or online content do not or will not infringe upon the intellectual property or other rights of third parties. If we were found to 

have infringed on a third party’s intellectual property rights or otherwise found liable for damages as a result of such claims, the value of 

our brands and our business reputation could be impaired, and our business could suffer.

Changes in laws and standards relating to marketing, data collection and use, and the privacy of internet users could impact 

our ability to conduct our business and thereby decrease our marketing and advertising service revenues while imposing 

significant compliance costs on the Company.

We use e-mail as a significant means of communicating with our members. The As with privacy law generally, the laws and regulations 

governing the use of e-mail for marketing purposes continues to evolve, and the growth and development of the market for commerce 

over the internet may lead to
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the adoption of additional legislation and/or changes to existing laws. If new laws or regulations are adopted, or existing laws and 

regulations are interpreted and/or amended or modified to impose additional restrictions on our ability to send e-mail to our members or 

potential members, we may not be able to communicate with them in a cost-effective manner. In addition to legal restrictions on the use 

of e-mail, internet service providers and others typically attempt to block the transmission of unsolicited e-mail, commonly known as 

“spam.” If an internet service provider or software program identifies e-mail from us as “spam,” we could be placed on a restricted list 

that would block our e-mail to members or potential members who maintain e-mail accounts with these internet service providers or 

who use these software programs. If we are unable to communicate by e-mail with our members and potential members as a result of 

legislation, blockage or otherwise, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.
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We collect information from those who visit or register as members or users on our websites or webinar platform, co-branded 

sites, or for services, respond to surveys or, in some cases, view our content. Subject to each member’s permission (or right to decline, 

which we refer to as an “opt-out”, a practice that may differ across our various websites and platforms, depending on the applicable 

needs and requirements of different countries’ laws), we may use this information to inform our members and users of services that 

they have indicated may be of interest to them. We may also share this information with our customers for members and users who 

have
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elected to receive additional promotional materials and have expressly or implicitly granted us permission to share their information with 

third parties. We also collect information on our members and users based on their activity on our sites. The U.S. federal government 

and certain states have adopted or proposed limitations on the collection, distribution and use of personal information of internet users.

Although, to date, our efforts to comply with applicable international, federal and state laws and regulations have not hurt our 

business, additional, more burdensome laws or regulations, including more restrictive consumer privacy and data security laws, could 

be enacted or applied to us or our customers. Such laws or regulations could impair our ability to collect member and user information 

that helps us to provide more targeted content to our website visitors, platform users, members and users and detailed lead data to our 

customers, thereby impairing our ability to maintain and grow our audience and maximize revenue from our customers. Additionally, the 

FTC and many state attorneys general are applying federal and state consumer protection laws to require that the online collection, use 

and dissemination of data, and the presentation of website content, comply with certain standards for notice, choice, security and 

access. Courts may also adopt these developing standards. In many cases, the specific limitations imposed by these standards are 

subject to interpretation by courts and other governmental authorities. A few states have also introduced legislation that, if enacted, 

would restrict or prohibit behavioral marketing and advertising within the state. In the absence of a federal law pre-empting their 

enforcement, such state legislation would likely have the practical effect of regulating behavioral marketing and advertising nationwide 

because of the difficulties behind implementing state-specific policies or sending targeted advertising to individuals based on their 

perceived commercial interests. In the event of additional legislation in this area, our ability to effectively target our website visitors and 

members may be limited. We believe that we are in compliance with applicable consumer protection laws, but a determination by a 

state or federal agency or court that any of our practices do not meet these laws and regulations could create liability to us, result in 

adverse publicity and negatively affect our businesses. New interpretations of these standards could also require us to incur additional 

costs and restrict our business operations.

Overall privacy laws also are expanding in ways that may impact our business. In addition, there are new privacy laws that may 

impact our business operations. operations in many states across the country. For example, the state of California has adopted a new 

comprehensive privacy law, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which took effect in January 2020 and became enforceable 

in July 2020. Moreover, in November 2020, California voters approved a new privacy law, Additionally, as of January 1, 2023, the 

California Privacy Rights Act, (“CPRA”), which amends or the CPRA, significantly modified the CCPA, including by expanding 

consumers’ rights with respect to create certain sensitive personal information. The CPRA also creates a new privacy rights state 

agency that will be vested with authority to implement and obligations in California. enforce the CCPA and the CPRA. In addition to 
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California, other states including Virginia, Colorado, Connecticut and Utah, already have passed state comprehensive privacy laws. 

Several other states are also considering bills laws similar to the CCPA and CPRA. These laws are either in effect or other generally will 

go into effect sometime before the end of 2026. Additional states likely will pass similar laws in the future. Like the CCPA and CPRA, 

these laws create obligations related to the processing of personal information, as well as special obligations for the processing of 

“sensitive” data. Some of these applicable privacy laws that may impose additional costs and obligations on us and may impact our 

ability to conduct our business. States also are reviewing other categories of privacy laws, addressing certain practices (such as 

marketing), collection of certain data (e.g., biometrics or children’s data) or otherwise addressing privacy concerns in various ways. 

These laws may impact our business activities, including our identification of research subjects, relationships with business partners 

and ultimately the marketing and distribution of our products. We may be required to devote substantial resources to implement and 

maintain compliance with the CCPA, these, and noncompliance with these laws could result in regulatory investigations and fines or 

private litigation.

Furthermore, the U.S. Congress also is considering comprehensive privacy legislation. At this time, it is unclear whether 

Congress will pass such a law and if so, when and what it will require and prohibit. There are open questions as to whether a federal 

law will supplement or pre-empt these emerging state laws, as well as how this potential law will impact the requirements of existing US 

laws related to personal data, including CAN-SPAM and TCPA. Moreover, it is not clear whether any such legislation would give the 

Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) any new authority to impose civil penalties for violations of the Federal Trade Commission Act in the

first instance, whether Congress will grant the FTC rulemaking authority over privacy and information security, or whether Congress will 

vest some or all privacy and data security regulatory authority and enforcement power in a new agency, akin to EU data protection 

authorities.
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In addition, there are laws in a growing number of countries around the world that may impact our business. The regulatory 

framework for the collection, use, safeguarding, sharing, transfer and other processing of information worldwide is rapidly evolving and 

is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. Globally, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own 

data security and privacy frameworks with which we must comply, with additional laws and amendments being passed on a regular 

basis. The EU and its member states, the United Kingdom, Canada and several other countries and certain states, such as California 

have regulations dealing with the collection and use of personal information obtained from their citizens. Other countries are 

considering laws as well. Regulations in these jurisdictions have focused on the collection, processing, transfer, use, disclosure and 

security of information that may be used to identify or that actually identifies an individual, such as a name, e-mail address or online 

identifier (such as an IP address in certain cases). These laws also provide consumers the right to access the information a company 

has collected on them, correct it, request that it be deleted, or to stop the sale of such information to third parties.

The General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) of the European Union became effective in May 2018 and was designed to, 

among other things, harmonize disparate data privacy laws found across Europe. GDPR implemented more rigorous principles relating 

to the data privacy and data protection, including, among other things, enhanced disclosure requirements regarding how personal 

information is obtained, used, and shared, limitations on the purpose and storage of personal information, mandatory data breach 

notification requirements and enhanced standards for data controllers to demonstrate that they have obtained valid consent for certain
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data processing activities. Its application and scope are extensive and penalties for non-compliance are significant, including fines of up 

to 20 million Euros or 4% of total worldwide revenue. In the event the Company is deemed not in compliance with GDPR, or fails to 

maintain compliance, then the Company would be exposed to material damages, costs and/or fines if an EU regulator or EU resident 

commenced an action. Failure to comply or maintain compliance could cause considerable harm to us and our reputation (including 

requiring notification to customers, regulators, and/or members), cause a loss of confidence in our services, and deter current and 

potential customers from using our services.

Further, the European Union also is considering proposals for the Regulation on Privacy and Electronic Communications 

(“ePrivacy Regulation”) which will replace the ePrivacy Directive and is intended to align with the overall EU data privacy and protection 

framework, including GDPR. The ePrivacy Regulation could disrupt the Company’s ability to use or transfer data or to market and sell

its products and services, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.

Our customers may implement compliance measures that do not align with our services, which could limit the scope and 

delivery of services we are able to provide. Our customers may also require us to take on additional privacy and security or other 

contractual obligations including, but not limited to, indemnification and liability obligations, which may cause us to incur potential 

business disruption and expense. If our policies and practices, or those of our customers, are, or are perceived to be, insufficient or if 

our members, website visitors or customers have concerns regarding our data privacy and data protection practices, particularly with 

respect to GDPR or the pending ePrivacy Regulation, then we could be subject to enforcement actions or investigations by regulators 

or lawsuits by private parties, member engagement could decline and our business could be negatively impacted.

In addition, there are new and evolving requirements being imposed on the transfer of personal data from other countries to the 

United States, particularly transfers from the European Union. For certain data transfers and processing activities between the EU and 

the U.S., our company had relied in part on Court of Justice of the European Union the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield Framework (“the EU 

Privacy Shield”). The Company self-certified to the EU Privacy Shield and Swiss Privacy Shield most recently on February 23, 2021. On 

July 16, 2020, however, the Court of Justice of the European Union (“CJEU”) invalidated the EU Privacy Shield. The CJEU upheld the 

adequacy of EU Standard Contractual Clauses (“SCCs”) issued by the European Commission for the transfer of personal data to data 

processors established outside of the EU, however, the court made clear that reliance on SCCs alone may not necessarily be sufficient 

in all circumstances and that their use must be assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account the surveillance laws and right of 

individuals in the destination country. The CJEU’s decision took effect immediately. The Company uses several mechanisms

In October 2022, President Biden signed an executive order to transfer personal data from implement the EU E.U.-U.S. Data 

Privacy Framework, which would serve as a replacement to the U.S. (including having previously relied on E.U.-U.S. Privacy Shield. 

The European Union initiated the EU Privacy Shield) and are evaluating what additional mechanisms may be required process to 

establish adequate safeguards adopt an adequacy decision for the further E.U.-U.S. Data Privacy Framework in December 2022 and 

the European Commission adopted the adequacy decision on July 10, 2023. The adequacy decision will permit U.S. companies who 

self-certify to the E.U.-U.S. Data Privacy Framework to rely on it as a valid data transfer of personal data. If supervisory authorities 

issue guidance on transfer mechanisms, including circumstances where the SCCs cannot be used and/or start taking enforcement 

action, we could suffer additional costs, complaints, and/or regulatory investigations or fines. Moreover, if we are otherwise unable to 

transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect the manner in which we provide 

our services and could adversely affect our financial results. This CJEU decision and subsequent actions from Data Protection 

Agencies in the EU may lead to increased scrutiny on mechanism for data transfers from the EU E.U. to the U.S. generally and increase 
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our costs of compliance with data privacy legislation TheCompany has certified to the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework (“DPF”), the 

successor to the EU Privacy Shield, as well as our costs the Swiss-U.S. DPF and UK Extension to the DPF. However, some privacy 

advocacy groups have already suggested that they will be challenging the DPF. If these challenges are successful, they may not only 

impact the DPF, but also further limit the viability of negotiating appropriate privacy the standard contractual clauses and security 

agreements with our vendors and other data transfer mechanisms. The uncertainty around this issue has the potential to impact any 

future business partners. we may have at the international level.

In order to continue receiving personal data from the United Kingdom following Brexit, the Company may be required to meet 

standards for cross-border transfer imposed by the UK itself. As with other issues related to Brexit, there are open questions about how 

personal data will be protected in the UK and whether personal information can transfer from the EU to the UK. Following the 

withdrawal of the U.K. from the EU, the U.K. Data Protection Act 2018 applies to the processing of personal data that takes place in the 

U.K. and includes parallel obligations to those set forth by GDPR. While the Data Protection Act of 2018 in the United
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Kingdom that “implements” and complements the European Union General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, has achieved Royal 

Assent on May 23, 2018 and is now effective in the United Kingdom, it is still unclear whether transfer of data from the European 

Economic Area, or EEA, to the United Kingdom will remain lawful under GDPR. The United Kingdom government has already 

determined that it considers all European Union and EEA member states to be adequate for the purposes of data protection, ensuring 

that data flows from the United Kingdom to the European Union/EEA remain unaffected. In addition, a recent decision from the 

European Commission appears to deem the UK as being “essentially adequate” for purposes of data transfer from the EU to the UK, 

although this decision may be re-evaluated in the future.

 The UK and the United States also have agreed on a framework for personal data to be transferred between the UK and the United 

States, called the U.K.-U.S. Data Bridge. The U.K.-U.S. Data Bridge may be challenged in the future. Continuing uncertainty about 

these data transfers, including the possibility of future changes, may impact our business operations.

Our digital properties collect and use data about our website visitors’, platform users and members’ online behavior, and the 

revenue associated with this activity could be impacted by government regulation and enforcement, industry trends, self-regulation, 

technology changes, consumer behavior and attitude, and private action. We also use such information to call website visitors and
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members who have provided their telephone numbers to be enrolled as a member or user (for free). Our partners may then follow-up to 

try to sell products or services to such individuals.

We In addition to the changes in the legal environment related to advertising, we also work with our partners to deliver targeted 

advertisements based on members, user, and website visitors’ perceived commercial interests. Many of our users voluntarily provide us 

with contact and other information when they visit our websites. We may utilize data from third party sources to augment our user 

profiles and marketing databases so we are better able to personalize content, enhance our analytical capabilities, better target our 
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marketing programs, and better qualify leads for our partners. If changes in user sentiment regarding the sharing of information results 

in a significant number of visitors to our websites refusing to provide us with contact and other information, our ability to personalize 

content for our users and provide targeted marketing solutions for our partners would be impaired. If our users choose to opt-out of

having their data used for behavioral targeting, it would be more difficult for us to offer targeted marketing programs for our partners. If 

we are unable to acquire data from third party sources for whatever reason, or if there is a marked increase in the cost of obtaining 

such data, our ability to personalize content and provide marketing solutions could be negatively impacted.

The use of such consumer data by online service providers and advertising networks is a topic of active interest among federal, 

state, and international regulatory bodies, as well as self-regulatory organizations, and the regulatory environment is unsettled. Federal, 

state, and international laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, disclosure, sharing and security of data that we 

receive from and about our website visitors and members through cookies and other similar technologies. Our privacy policies and 

practices concerning the collection, use, and disclosure of user data are posted on our websites.

There are new and expanding proposals for laws and regulations regarding “Do Not Track” requirements that protect users’ 

right to choose whether or not to be tracked online. These proposals seek, among other things, to allow consumers to have greater 

control over the use of private information collected online, to forbid the collection or use of online information, to demand a business to 

comply with their choice to opt out of such collection or use, and to place limits upon the disclosure of information to third party 

websites. Any such laws and regulations could have a significant impact on the operation of our advertising and data businesses. U.S. 

regulatory agencies have also placed an increased focus on online privacy matters and, in particular, on online advertising activities that 

utilize cookies or other tracking tools. Consumer and industry groups have expressed concerns about online data collection and use by 

companies, which has resulted in the release of various industry self-regulatory codes of conduct and best practice guidelines that are 

binding for member companies engaged in online behavioral advertising (“OBA”) and similar activities. These codes of conduct and 

best practice guidelines govern, among other things, the ways in which companies can collect, use and disclose user information for 

OBA purposes, how companies must give notice of these practices, and what choices companies must provide to consumers regarding 

these practices.

We may be required or otherwise choose to adopt Do Not Track mechanisms, and we may be required to abide by certain self-

regulatory principles promulgated by the Digital Advertising Alliance and others for OBA and similar activities, in which case our ability 

to use our existing tracking technologies, to collect and sell user behavioral data, and permit their use by other third parties could be 

impaired. This could cause our net revenues to decline and adversely affect our operating results.

The Federal Trade Commission and state Attorneys General all are aggressive in reviewing privacy and data security 

protections for consumers. New laws also are being considered at both the state and federal levels. Accordingly, failure to comply with 

federal and state laws (both those currently in effect and future legislation) regarding privacy and security of personal information could 

expose us to fines and penalties under such laws. There also is the threat of consumer class actions related to these laws and the 

overall protection of personal data. Even if we are not determined to have violated these laws, government investigations into these 

issues typically require the expenditure of significant resources and generate negative publicity, which could harm our reputation and 

our business.

We believe that we are in material compliance with all laws, regulations and self-regulatory regimes that are applicable to us. 

However, as referenced above, these laws, regulations, and self-regulatory regimes may be modified, and new laws may be enacted in

28

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

47/199

the future that may apply to us and affect our business. Further, data protection authorities may interpret existing laws in new ways. We 

may deploy new products and services from time to time, which may also require us to change our compliance practices. Any such 

developments (or developments stemming from enactment or modification of other laws) or the failure to anticipate accurately the 

application or interpretation of these laws could create liability for us, result in adverse publicity, increase our future compliance costs, 

make our products and services less attractive to our members and customers, or cause us to change or limit our business practices, 

and materially affect our business and operating results. Further, any failure on our part to comply with any relevant laws or regulations 

may subject us to significant civil, criminal or contractual liabilities.

32

The loss of personal, confidential, and/or proprietary information due to our cybersecurity systems or the systems of our 

customers, vendors, or partners being breached could cause us to incur significant legal and financial exposure and liability, 

and materially adversely affect our business, operating results and reputation.

 

We currently retain personal, confidential, and/or proprietary information relating to our members and users, employees, and 

customers in secure database servers. Our industry is prone to cyber-attacks by third parties seeking access to our data or data we 

have collected from website visitors and members, or to disrupt our ability to provide service. We have experienced and will continue to 

experience cyber-attacks targeting our database servers and information systems. Cyber-attacks may involve viruses, malware, 

ransomware, distributed denial-of-service attacks, phishing or other forms of social engineering (predominantly spear phishing attacks), 

and other methods seeking to gain unlawful access. We may not be able to prevent unauthorized access to these secure database 

servers and information systems as a result of these third party actions, including intentional misconduct by criminal organizations and 

hackers or as a result of employee error, malfeasance or otherwise. A security breach could result in intentional malfunctions or loss or 

corruption of data, software, hardware or other computer equipment, the misappropriation of personal, confidential and/or proprietary 

information, disruptions in our service, and in the unauthorized access to our customers’ data or our data, including intellectual property, 

business opportunity, and other confidential business information. Additionally, third parties may attempt to fraudulently induce our 

employees, vendors, or customers into disclosing access credentials such as usernames, passwords or keys in order to gain access to 

our database servers and information systems.

Our online networks could also be affected by cyber-attacks, and we could inadvertently transmit viruses across our networks to 

our members or other third parties. Cyber-attacks continue to evolve in sophistication and volume, and inherently may be difficult to 

detect for long periods of time. Although we have developed systems and processes that are designed to protect our data and user 

data, to prevent data loss, to disable undesirable accounts and activities on our platform, and to prevent or detect security breaches, we 

cannot assure that such measures will provide absolute security, and we may incur significant costs in protecting against or remediating 

cyber-attacks.

Providing unimpeded access to our online networks is critical to engaging with our website visitors and members and providing 

superior service to our customers. Our inability to provide continuous access to our online networks could cause some of our customers 
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to discontinue purchasing marketing and advertising programs and services and/or prevent or deter our members from accessing our 

networks. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against cyber-attacks. We cannot assure that 

any contractual provisions attempting to limit our liability in these areas will be successful or enforceable, or that our customers or other 

parties will accept such contractual provisions as part of our agreements.

Many states and foreign jurisdictions in which we operate have enacted laws and regulations that require us to notify members, 

website visitors, customers and, in some cases, governmental authorities and credit bureaus, in the event that certain personal 

information is accessed, or believed to have been accessed, without authorization. Certain regulations also require proscriptive policies 

to protect against such unauthorized access. Additionally, increasing regulatory demands are requiring us to provide heightened 

protection of personal information to prevent identity theft and the disclosure of sensitive information. Should we experience a loss of 

personal, confidential, and/or proprietary information, then efforts to regain compliance and address penalties imposed by contractual 

provisions or governmental authorities could increase our costs significantly.

If we were to experience a significant cybersecurity breach of our information systems or data, the costs associated with the 

investigation, remediation and potential notification of the breach to counterparties and data subjects could be material, in addition to 

potential costs related to regulatory investigations in the United States or other countries. In addition, our remediation efforts may not be 

successful. If we do not allocate and effectively manage the resources necessary to build and sustain the proper technology and 

cybersecurity infrastructure, we could suffer significant business disruption, including transaction errors, supply chain or manufacturing 

interruptions, processing inefficiencies, data loss or the loss of or damage to intellectual property or other proprietary information.

In addition to the foregoing, any breach of privacy laws or data security laws, particularly resulting in a significant security incident 

or breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized use or disclosure of sensitive or confidential consumer information, 

could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation and financial condition. There is no assurance that privacy and 

security-related safeguards we implement will protect us from all risks associated with the processing (by us or our service providers), 

storage

29

and transmission of such information. In certain situations, both in the United States and in other countries, we also may be obligated 

as a result of a security breach to notify individuals and/or government entities about these breaches.

Our business, which is dependent on centrally located communications, computer hardware systems and cloud-based 

infrastructure providers, is vulnerable to natural disasters, telecommunication and systems failures, terrorism and other 

problems, as well as disruption due to maintenance or high volume, all of which could reduce traffic on our networks or 

websites and which could result in a negative impact on our business.
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Our operations are dependent on our communications systems, computer hardware and cloud-based infrastructure providers, all 

of which are located in data centers operated by third parties. These systems could be damaged by natural disasters, power loss, 

telecommunication failures, viruses, and hacking and our cloud-based infrastructure providers could take actions, such as establishing 

unfavorable pricing terms or limiting access to service and other similar events outside of our control, which would impact our ability to 

run our operations. Our insurance policies have limited coverage levels for loss or damages in these events and may not adequately 

compensate us for any losses that may occur. In addition, terrorist acts or acts of war may cause harm to our employees or damage our 

facilities, our customers, our customers’ customers and vendors which could adversely impact our revenues, costs and expenses and 

financial position. We are generally uninsured for losses and interruptions to our systems or cancellations of events caused by terrorist 

acts and acts of war.

Our ability to attract and maintain relationships with our members, customers and strategic partners depends on the satisfactory 

performance, reliability and availability of our internet infrastructure. Our internet marketing and advertising revenues relate directly to 

the number of advertisements and other marketing opportunities delivered to our members. System interruptions or delays that result in 

the unavailability of internet sites or slower response times for members would reduce the number of advertising impressions and leads 

delivered. This could reduce our revenues as the attractiveness of our sites to members and advertisers decreases. Our insurance 

policies provide only limited coverage for service interruptions and may not adequately compensate us for any losses that may occur 

due to any failures or interruptions in our systems. Further, we do not have multiple site capacity for all of our services in the event of 

any such occurrence.

In addition, our networks and websites must accommodate a high volume of traffic and deliver frequently updated information. 

They have experienced, and may experience in the future, slower response times due to higher than expected traffic, or decreased 

traffic, for a variety of reasons. There have been instances where our online networks as a whole, or our websites individually, have 

been inaccessible. Also, slower response times, which have occurred more frequently, can result from general internet problems, 

routing and equipment problems involving third party internet access providers, problems with third party advertising servers, increased 

traffic to our servers, viruses and other security breaches that are out of our control. In addition, our members depend on internet 

service providers and online service providers for access to our online networks or websites. Those providers have experienced 

outages and delays in the past and may experience outages or delays in the future. Moreover, our internet infrastructure might not be 

able to support continued growth of our online networks or websites. Any of these problems could result in less traffic to our networks or 

websites or harm the perception of our networks or websites as reliable sources of information. Less traffic on our networks and 

websites or periodic interruptions in service could have the effect of reducing demand for marketing and advertising on our networks or 

websites, thereby reducing our revenues.

Our business depends on continued and unimpeded access to the internet by us and our members and users. If government 

regulations relating to the internet change, internet access providers may be able to block, degrade, or charge for access to 

certain of our products and services, which could lead to additional expenses and the loss of customers.

Our products and services depend on the ability of our members and users to access the internet. Currently, this access is 

provided by companies that have significant market power in the broadband and internet access marketplace, including incumbent 

telephone companies, cable companies, mobile communications companies, and government-owned service providers. Some of these 

providers have taken, or have stated that they may take measures, including legal actions, that could degrade, disrupt, or increase the 

cost of member access to our advertisements or our third party publishers’ advertisements by restricting or prohibiting the use of 

infrastructure to support or facilitate our offerings, or by charging increased fees to us or our members to provide our offerings. On 

December 14, 2017, the Federal Communications Commission voted to repeal the net neutrality rules which were intended, in part, to 
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prevent network operators from discriminating against legal traffic that traverses their networks. It is unclear whether or if such a repeal 

will be subject to challenge or preemption if the U.S. Congress passes new laws regarding net neutrality. In addition, as we expand 

internationally, government regulations concerning the internet, in particular net neutrality, may be nascent or non-existent. This 

regulatory environment, coupled with the potentially significant political and economic power of local network operators, could cause us 

to experience discriminatory or anti-competitive practices that could impede our growth, cause us to incur additional expense, or 

otherwise negatively affect our business. Such interference could result in a loss of existing customers, and increased costs, and could 

impair our ability to attract new customers, thereby harming our revenues and growth.

30 We may face risks associated with our use of certain artificial intelligence, machine learning, and large language models.

Our business uses artificial intelligence and machine learning (“AI/ML”) technologies, including those offered by third parties, to 

enhance our content, audience engagement, and overall service offerings and to drive innovation and organizational efficiencies. We 

are also exploring, developing, and introducing new AI/ML capabilities and large language models, including generative AI features, into 

our service offerings and platforms to offer enhanced application functionality, updated product offerings, and improved customer 

experiences. As with many new and emerging technologies, the use of AI/ML presents risks and challenges that could affect their
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adoption, and therefore our business. If we enable or offer AI/ML features and solutions that draw controversy due to their perceived or 

actual impact on human rights, privacy, employment, or in other social, economic, or political contexts, we may experience brand or 

reputational harm, competitive harm, or legal liability. Additionally, the use of AI/ML technologies may result in inaccurate outputs, 

contain biased information, or expose us to other risks, which could result in incidents that cause harm to our business, our customers, 

and to individuals. These deficiencies and other failures of AI/ML technologies could subject us to regulatory action, legal liability, 

including under new and proposed state, federal, and international rules and laws regulating AI/ML, as well as new applications or 

interpretations of existing data protection, privacy, intellectual property, and other laws.

Issues around the implementation and use of AI/ML technologies are complex and the regulatory landscape continues to evolve. 

It is likely that new laws and regulations will be adopted, or that existing laws and regulations may be interpreted in new ways that 

would affect our business and the ways in which we use, or contemplate the use of, AI/ML technology, our financial condition, and our 

results of operations, including as a result of the cost to comply with such laws or regulations. Further, potential government regulation 

related to AI/ML use and ethics may also increase the burden and cost of compliance and utilization of AI/ML, and failure to properly 

remediate AI/ML usage or ethics issues may cause public confidence in AI/ML to be undermined, which could slow their adoption in our 

offerings and services. In addition, market acceptance of AI/ML is uncertain, and we may be unsuccessful in our service and product 

development efforts. Any of these factors could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Financial Statements and General Corporate Matters
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If we do not maintain proper and effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, 

our ability to produce accurate financial statements could be impaired, which could adversely affect our operating results, our 

ability to operate our business and investors’ views of us.

Ensuring that we have adequate disclosure controls and procedures, including internal financial and accounting controls and 

procedures, in place to help ensure that we can produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming 

effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. On an ongoing basis, both we and our independent auditors document and test our 

internal controls and procedures in connection with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and, as part of that 

documentation and testing, identify areas for further attention and improvement. Implementing any appropriate changes to our internal 

controls may entail substantial costs in order to modify our existing accounting systems, take a significant period of time to complete, 

and distract our officers, directors and employees from the operation of our business. These changes may not, however, be effective in 

maintaining the adequacy of our internal controls, and any failure to maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate 

financial statements on a timely basis, could increase our operating costs and could materially impair our ability to operate our 

business. In addition, investors’ perceptions that our internal controls are inadequate or that we are unable to produce accurate 

financial statements may materially and adversely affect our stock price.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited.

Our business and operations may consume resources faster than we anticipate. In the future, we may need to raise additional 

funds to expand our sales and marketing and service development efforts or to make acquisitions. Additional financing may not be 

available on favorable terms, if at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to fund the expansion

of our sales and marketing and research and development efforts or take advantage of acquisition or other opportunities, which could 

seriously harm our business and operating results. If we incur debt, the debt holders would have rights senior to common stockholders 

to make claims on our assets and the terms of any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on our 

common stock. Furthermore, if we issue additional equity securities, stockholders will experience dilution, and the new equity securities 

could have rights senior to those of our common stock. Any debt financing is likely to have financial and other covenants that could 

have an adverse impact on our business if we do not achieve our projected results. Because our decision to issue securities in any 

future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing 

or nature of our future offerings. Thus, our stockholders bear the risk of our future securities offerings reducing the market price of our 

common stock and diluting their interest.

The impairment of a significant amount of goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet could result in a decrease in 

earnings and, as a result, our stock price could decline.

We have acquired assets and businesses over time, some of which have resulted in the recording of a significant amount of 

goodwill and/or intangible assets on our consolidated financial statements. We had $192.2 million $194.1 million of goodwill and $95.5 

million $89.2 million of net intangible assets as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. The goodwill was recorded because the fair 

value of the net tangible assets and/or intangible assets acquired was less than the purchase price. We may not realize the full value of 

the goodwill and/or intangible assets. We evaluate
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goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or 

circumstances suggest that the asset may be impaired. We did not have any intangible assets, other than goodwill, with indefinite lives 

as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. We evaluate other intangible assets subject to amortization whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of those assets may not be recoverable. If goodwill or other intangible assets are 

determined to be impaired, we will write-off the unrecoverable portion as a charge to our earnings. If we acquire new assets and 

businesses in the future, as we intend to do, we may record additional goodwill and/or intangible assets. The possible write-off of the 

goodwill and/or intangible assets could negatively impact our future earnings and, as a result, the market price of our common stock 

could decline.

The trading price of our common stock is volatile and may decline substantially.

The trading price of our common stock is volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of 

which are beyond our control. In addition to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on 

Form 10-K, these factors include:

• our operating performance and the operating performance of similar companies;

• the overall performance of the equity markets;

• announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, business plans, commercial relationships or new product or se
offerings;

31

• threatened or actual litigation;

• changes in laws or regulations relating to the provision of internet content;

• any change in our Board of Directors or management;

• publication of research reports about us, our competitors or our industry, or positive or negative recommendations or withdr
of research coverage by securities analysts;

• our sale of common stock or other securities in the future;

• large volumes of sales of our shares of common stock by existing stockholders; and

• general political and economic conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general, and historically the market for internet-related companies in particular, have experienced 

price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. 

Securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall market and in 

the market price of a company’s securities. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs, divert our 

management’s attention and resources and harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our full year and quarterly operating results are subject to fluctuations, and these fluctuations may adversely affect the 

trading price of our common stock.
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We have experienced fluctuations in our full year and quarterly revenues and operating results. Our revenues and operating 

results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors described in this Risk Factors section, many of which are 

outside of our control. Specifically, our results could be impacted quarter by quarter by changes in the spending priorities and marketing 

budget cycles of customers; the addition or loss of customers; the addition of new sites and services by us or our competitors; and

seasonal fluctuations in marketing spending, based on product launch schedules, annual budget approval processes for our customers 

and the historical decrease in marketing spending in the summer months and the accounting and tax implications of induced conversion 

transactions in the Notes(as Notes (as defined below). Due to the foregoing as well as other risks described in this Risk Factors section, 

our results of operations in one or more quarters may fall below the expectations of investors and/or securities analysts. In such an 

event, the trading price of our common stock is likely to decline.

36

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could deter takeover attempts.

Various provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could delay, prevent or make more difficult a merger, tender offer, 

proxy contest or change of control. Our stockholders might view any transaction of this type as being in their best interest since the 

transaction could result in a higher stock price than the then-current market price for our common stock. Among other things, our 

certificate of incorporation and bylaws:

• authorize our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock with the terms of each series to be fixed by our Board of Directors, w
could be used to institute a “poison pill” that would work to dilute the share ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effect
preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our Board;

• divide our Board of Directors into three classes so that only approximately one-third of the total number of directors is ele
each year;

• permit directors to be removed only for cause;

• prohibit action by written consent of our stockholders; and

• specify advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and director nominations. In addition, with some exceptions
Delaware General Corporation Law restricts or delays mergers and other business combinations between us and any stockho
that acquires 15% or more of our voting stock.

Our significant indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition.

At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had $51 million $3 million in aggregate principal amount of 0.125% convertible 

senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes”) and $414 million in aggregate principal of 0.0% convertible senior notes due 2026 (the “2026 

Notes” and together with the 2025 Notes, the “Notes”) outstanding. We may also borrow up to $75 million under our loan and security 

agreement with Western Alliance Bank, as administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders, and the banks and other financial 

institutions or entities from time-to-time party thereto as lenders (the “2021 Loan Agreement”). The significant amount of indebtedness 

we carry and may carry in the future could limit our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, 

acquisitions, debt service requirements, stock repurchases or other purposes.
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Our outstanding indebtedness may also increase our vulnerability to adverse economic, market and industry conditions, limit 

our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business operations or to our industry overall, and place us at a 

disadvantage in relation to our competitors that have lower debt levels. Our ability to refinance or repay at maturity our indebtedness 

will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time and we ultimately may not be able to do so on desirable 

terms or at all, which could result in a default on our debt obligations. Any or all of the above events and/or factors could have an 

adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Covenants in our loan agreement governing our revolving line of credit may restrict our operations, and our failure to comply 

with these covenants may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The 2021 Loan Agreement is secured by a security interest on substantially all of our assets and contains various restrictive covenants, 

including restrictions on our ability to dispose of our assets, merge with or acquire other entities, incur other indebtedness, make 

investments and engage in transactions with our affiliates. The 2021 Loan Agreement also contains certain financial covenants. Our 

ability to meet these restrictive and financial covenants can be affected by events beyond our control. The 2021 Loan Agreement 

provides that our breach or failure to satisfy certain covenants constitutes an event of default thereunder. Upon the occurrence of an 

event of default, the lender under the 2021 Loan Agreement could elect to declare any future amounts outstanding under the 2021 

Loan Agreement to be immediately due and payable, exercise the remedies of a secured party in respect of the security interest on 

substantially all of our assets and terminate all commitments to extend further credit under that facility. If we are unable to repay those 

amounts, our financial condition could be adversely affected.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected, or in the future should collect, sales and use, value 

added, or similar taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future sales, which could adversely affect 

our results of operations.

We do not collect sales and use, value added, or similar taxes in all jurisdictions in which we have sales, based on our 

understanding that such taxes are not applicable. Sales and use, value added, and similar tax laws and rates vary greatly by 

jurisdiction. Certain jurisdictions in which we do not collect such taxes may assert that such taxes are applicable, which could result in 

tax assessments, penalties, and interest, and we may be required to collect such taxes in the future. Such tax assessments, penalties, 

and interest, or future requirements, may adversely affect our results of operations.

 

Changes in applicable tax laws could result in adverse tax consequences to the Company.

Our tax positions could be adversely impacted by changes to tax laws, tax treaties, or tax regulations or the interpretation or 

enforcement thereof by any tax authority in which we file income tax returns, particularly in the U.S. and United Kingdom. We cannot 

predict the outcome of any specific legislative proposals.

Global taxing standards continue to evolve as a result of the Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development 

(OECD) recommendations aimed at preventing perceived base erosion and profit shifting ("BEPS") by multinational corporations. While 

these recommendations do not change tax law, the countries where we operate may implement legislation or take unilateral actions 

which may result in adverse effects to our income tax provision and financial statements.
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Future sales of our common stock in the public market could depress the market price of our common stock.

Our directors, executive officers and significant stockholders beneficially own approximately 14.5 million 15.4 million shares of our 

common stock, which represents approximately 50% 54% of our outstanding shares as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. In 

addition, approximately 10.1 million 8.3 million shares of our common stock are reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock 

options, the vesting of restricted stock, shares purchased through the TechTarget, Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 

“ESPP”) and upon conversion of our Notes. If these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold in the public 

market, the trading price of our common stock could decline substantially.

A limited number of stockholders have the ability to significantly influence the outcome of director elections and other 

matters requiring stockholder approval.

Our directors, executive officers and significant stockholders beneficially own approximately 50% 54% of our outstanding common 

stock as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. These stockholders, if they act together, could exert substantial influence over 

matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors, the amendment of our certificate of incorporation and 

bylaws and the approval of mergers or other business combination transactions. This concentration of ownership may discourage, 

delay or prevent a change in control of our company, which could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for 

their stock as part of a sale of our company and might reduce our stock price. These actions may be taken even if they are opposed by 

other stockholders.
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Risks Related to the Proposed Transaction

The proposed transaction may not be completed on the terms or timeline currently contemplated, or at all, and failure to 

complete the proposed transaction may result in material adverse consequences to our business and operations.

The proposed transaction is subject to several closing conditions, including the adoption of the Transaction Agreement and 

approval of the proposed transaction by our stockholders, the effectiveness of a registration statement relating to the registration of the 

issuance of the New TechTarget common stock in the proposed transaction, the approval of the listing of the New TechTarget common 

stock on Nasdaq, and the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements 

Act of 1976, or the HSR Act. If any one of these conditions is not satisfied or waived, the proposed transaction may not be completed. 

There is no assurance that the proposed transaction will be completed on the terms or timeline currently contemplated, or at all.

Under the Transaction Agreement, the parties’ obligations to complete the proposed transaction are conditioned on the expiration 

or termination of the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act.

If our stockholders do not adopt the Transaction Agreement and approve the proposed transaction or if the proposed transaction 

is not completed for any other reason, we would be subject to a number of risks, including the following:
• our stockholders will not become stockholders of New TechTarget and therefore will not realize the anticipated benefits of the 

proposed transaction, including any anticipated synergies from combining New TechTarget and the Informa Tech business;
• we may be required to pay the Termination Fee, which is $40,000,000 (subject to adjustment down to $30,000,000 in certain 

circumstances), if the Transaction Agreement is terminated: (i) in connection with our entry into an agreement with respect to 
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Toro Superior Proposal (as defined in the Transaction Agreement) prior to us receiving stockholder approval of the proposed 
transaction, or (ii) termination by Informa upon a Toro Change in Recommendation (as defined in the Transaction Agreement)
and

• the trading price of our common stock may experience increased volatility to the extent that the current market prices reflect a
market assumption that the Transactions will be completed.

The occurrence of any of these events individually or in combination could have a material adverse effect on our results of 

operations or the trading price of our common stock. We are also exposed to general competitive pressures and risks, which may be 

increased if the proposed transaction is not completed.

Each of TechTarget and the Informa Tech business will be subject to business uncertainties and contractual restrictions while 

the proposed transaction is pending that could adversely affect each of them.

Uncertainty about the effect of the proposed transaction on employees, customers and suppliers may have an adverse effect on 

either or both of us and the Informa Tech business, regardless of whether the proposed transaction is eventually completed, and, 

consequently, on New TechTarget. These uncertainties may impair our and the Informa Tech business’s ability to attract, retain and 

motivate key personnel until the proposed transaction is completed, or the Transaction Agreement is terminated, and for a period of
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time thereafter, and could cause customers, suppliers and others that deal with us or the Informa Tech business to seek to change or 

discontinue existing business relationships with us or the Informa Tech Business.

Employee retention and recruitment may be particularly challenging for us and the Informa Tech business during the pendency of 

the proposed transaction, as employees and prospective employees may experience uncertainty about their future roles with New 

TechTarget. For each of us and the Informa Tech business, the departure of existing key employees or the failure of potential key 

employees to accept employment with New TechTarget, despite our and the Informa Tech business’s retention and recruiting efforts, 

could have a material adverse impact on our and New TechTarget’s business, financial condition and operating results, regardless of 

whether the Transactions are eventually completed.

The pursuit of the proposed transaction and the preparation for the integration of our business and the Informa Tech business 

have placed, and will continue to place, a significant burden on our management and internal resources and the management and 

internal resources of the Informa Tech business. There is a significant degree of difficulty and management distraction inherent in the 

process of closing the proposed transaction and integrating our business and the Informa Tech business, which could cause an 

interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of each of the existing businesses, regardless of whether the proposed transaction 

is eventually completed. Before and immediately following the closing of the proposed transaction, the management teams of 

TechTarget and the Informa Tech Business will be required to devote considerable amounts of time to this integration process, which 

will decrease the time they will have to manage their respective existing businesses, service existing customers, attract new customers 

and develop new products, services or strategies. One potential consequence of such distractions could be the failure of management 

to realize other opportunities that could be beneficial to TechTarget or the Informa Tech Business, respectively. If TechTarget’s or the 
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Informa Tech Business’s senior management is not able to effectively manage the process leading up to and immediately following the 

Closing, or if any significant business activities are interrupted as a result of the integration process, the business of TechTarget or the 

Informa Tech Business could suffer.

In addition, the Transaction Agreement restricts TechTarget and Informa (with respect to the Informa Tech Business) from taking 

specified actions without the consent of the other until the Transactions are consummated or the Transaction Agreement is terminated. 

These restrictions may prevent TechTarget and Informa (with respect to the Informa Tech Business) from pursuing otherwise attractive 

business opportunities and making other changes to their businesses before completion of the Transactions or termination of the 

Transaction Agreement.

Ownership interests will not be adjusted if there is a change in our value or the value of the Informa Tech business and their 

respective assets before the proposed transaction is completed.

The shares of New TechTarget common stock to be received by Informa and our former stockholders in connection with the 

proposed transaction will not be adjusted if there is a change in the value or assets of our business or the Informa Tech business prior 

to the consummation of the proposed transaction. Upon the consummation of the proposed transaction, our former stockholders will 

receive one share of New TechTarget common stock and the per share cash consideration for each share of our common stock. The 

number of shares of New TechTarget common stock such stockholders receive is fixed and will not be adjusted if there are any 

decreases or increases in the trading price of our common stock prior to the closing of the proposed transaction. As such, the value of 

the shares of our common stock exchanged for New TechTarget common stock in the proposed transaction may be higher or lower 

than the value of such shares at an earlier date, but the number of shares of New TechTarget common stock received by our former 

stockholders will remain at one share of New TechTarget common stock for each share of our common stock. However, TechTarget 

stockholders will receive increased cash consideration to the extent that the EBITDA of the contributed Informa Tech businesses for the 

12-month period ended December 31, 2023 is less than certain thresholds specified in the Transaction Agreement.

The Transaction Agreement contains provisions that may discourage other companies from trying to acquire us.

The Transaction Agreement contains provisions that may discourage third parties from submitting business combination 

proposals to us that might result in greater value to our stockholders than the proposed transaction. The Transaction Agreement 

generally prohibits us from soliciting any competing acquisition proposal. In addition, if the Transaction Agreement is terminated by us 

or Informa in circumstances that obligate us to pay the termination fee provided for in the Transaction Agreement, our financial 

condition may be adversely affected as a result of such payment, which might deter third parties from proposing alternative business 

combination proposals.

We and New TechTarget have incurred and will continue to incur transaction-related costs in connection with the proposed 

transaction and the integration of the businesses.

We have incurred transaction-related costs in connection with the proposed transaction and both we and New TechTarget will 

incur costs in connection with the integration of our business and the Informa Tech business. There are many systems that must be

39

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

58/199

integrated, including information management, purchasing, accounting and finance, sales, billing, payroll and benefits, fixed asset and 

lease administration systems and regulatory compliance. TechTarget and the Informa Tech business are in the early stages of 

assessing the magnitude of these costs and, therefore, are not able to provide estimates of these costs. Moreover, many of the 

expenses that will be incurred, by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately at the present time. These expenses could, particularly 

in the near term, reduce the cost synergies that New TechTarget expects to achieve from the elimination of duplicative expenses and 

the realization of economies of scale and cost synergies related to the integration of the businesses following the completion of the 

proposed transaction, and accordingly, any net synergies may not be achieved in the near term or at all. These integration expenses 

may result in New TechTarget taking significant charges against earnings following the completion of the proposed transaction. Some of 

these costs and expenses will be incurred even if the proposed transaction are not consummated.

Some of our and the Informa Tech business’s existing agreements contain change in control, anti-assignment or early 

termination rights that may be implicated by the proposed transaction, and some of our and the Informa Tech business’s 

customers may experience uncertainty associated with the proposed transaction, which may limit New TechTarget’s 

business.

Parties with which we and the Informa Tech business currently do business or may do business in the future, including customers 

and suppliers, may experience uncertainty associated with the proposed transaction, including with respect to current or future business 

relationships with us, the Informa Tech business, and New TechTarget. As a result, our business relationships and the business 

relationships of the Informa Tech business may be subject to disruptions if customers, suppliers, or others attempt to negotiate changes 

in existing business relationships or consider entering into business relationships with parties other than us, the Informa Tech business, 

and New TechTarget. For example, certain customers, vendors and other counterparties have contractual consent rights that are, and 

may have contractual termination rights that could be, triggered by a change of control. These disruptions could impact our and the 

Informa Tech business’s relationships with existing customers and preclude us or them from attracting new customers, all of which 

could have a material adverse effect on our or New TechTarget’s business, financial condition and results of operations, cash flows, or 

share price. The effect of such disruptions could be exacerbated by a delay in the consummation of the proposed transaction.

If the proposed transaction closes and does not qualify as a transaction described in Section 351 of the Code, our 

stockholders may be required to pay substantial U.S. federal income taxes.

The proposed transaction is intended to qualify as a transaction described in Section 351 of the Code, and we, New TechTarget 

and Informa intend to report the proposed transaction consistent with such qualification. However, it is not a condition to our or 

Informa’s obligation to complete the proposed transaction that the proposed transaction qualify as a transaction described in Section 

351 of the Code, or that we or Informa receive an opinion from counsel to that effect. We and Informa have not sought, and will not 

seek any ruling from the Internal Revenue Service regarding any matters relating to the proposed transaction, and as a result, there can 

be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will agree that the proposed transaction qualifies as a transaction described in 

Section 351 of the Code or would not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a position contrary to the treatment of the proposed 

transaction as a transaction described in Section 351 of the Code. If the Internal Revenue Service or a court determines that the 

proposed transaction do not qualify as a transaction described in Section 351 of the Code, a holder of our common stock generally 

would recognize taxable gain or loss upon the exchange of our common stock for New TechTarget common stock pursuant to the 

proposed transaction.
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If the proposed transaction closes, New TechTarget will be controlled by Informa. The interests of Informa may differ from the 

interests of other stockholders of New TechTarget.


Immediately following the closing of the proposed transaction, Informa will beneficially own 57% of the fully diluted shares of New 

TechTarget common stock. Under the Stockholders Agreement to be entered into in connection with the proposed transaction, Informa 

will have the right to acquire additional equity securities of New TechTarget pursuant to pre-agreed procedures, preemptive rights and 

percentage maintenance rights.

Through its ownership of at least a majority of the shares of New TechTarget common stock and the provisions set forth in the 

charter and bylaws of New TechTarget and the Stockholders Agreement, Informa will have the ability to designate and elect a majority 

of the directors of the New TechTarget Board of Directors. The Stockholders Agreement provides that, for so long as Informa 

beneficially owns more than 50% of the outstanding shares of New TechTarget common stock, to the extent permitted by applicable 

law, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Informa HoldCo, New TechTarget will avail itself of available “Controlled Company” 

exemptions to the corporate governance listing standards of Nasdaq (in whole or in part, as requested by Informa HoldCo) that would 

otherwise require New TechTarget to have (i) a majority of the board of directors consist of independent directors, (ii) a 

nominating/corporate governance committee that is composed solely of independent directors and (iii) a compensation committee that 

is composed solely of independent directors.
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Under the Stockholders Agreement, the New TechTarget Board will initially consist of nine directors, including three directors not 

designated by Informa, five directors designated by Informa (one of whom will be the Chair), and the Chief Executive Officer of New 

TechTarget, who is expected to be the current Chief Executive Officer of Informa Tech. Pursuant to the terms of the Stockholders 

Agreement, Informa will have the right to consent to certain material actions of New TechTarget and its subsidiaries for so long as it 

maintains certain ownership percentages, including over certain mergers and acquisitions, sales of assets, the incurrence of 

indebtedness, issuances of securities and the termination of the employment or the appointment of a new Chief Executive Officer of 

New TechTarget. For as long as Informa beneficially owns a majority of the outstanding shares of New TechTarget common stock, 

Informa will also have control over all other matters submitted to stockholders for approval, including changes in capital structure, 

transactions requiring stockholder approval under Delaware law and corporate governance, subject to the terms of the Stockholders 

Agreement relating to Informa’s agreement to vote in favor of director nominees not designated by Informa and to proposals by Informa 

to acquire all of the shares of New TechTarget common stock held by non-Informa stockholders.

Among other things, Informa’s control could delay, defer, or prevent a sale of New TechTarget that New TechTarget’s other 

stockholders support, or, conversely, this control could result in the consummation of such a transaction that other stockholders do not 

support. This concentrated control could discourage a potential investor from seeking to acquire New TechTarget common stock and, 

as a result, might impact the market price of New TechTarget common stock.

Failure of the parties successfully to implement and operate under the Data Sharing Agreement between New TechTarget and 

Informa PLC could impact the potential benefits of the proposed transactions.
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The Transaction Agreement provides for a Data Sharing Agreement between New TechTarget and Informa PLC to become 

effective following the closing of the proposed transaction. Among other things, the Data Sharing Agreement will allow New TechTarget 

and Informa PLC to share data across each entity. If the parties are unsuccessful at implementing and operating under the Data 

Sharing Agreement, some of the potential benefits contemplated in connection with the proposed transaction might not be realized.

If the proposed transaction closes, the integration of TechTarget and the Informa Tech business following the closing will 

present challenges that may result in the anticipated benefits of the proposed transaction not being realized.

The proposed transaction involves the combination of businesses that currently operate as independent businesses. New 

TechTarget will be required to devote management attention and resources to integrating its business practices and operations, and 

prior to the proposed transaction, management attention and resources will be required to plan for such integration. Potential difficulties 

New TechTarget may encounter in the integration process include the following:
• the inability to successfully integrate the businesses, including operations, technologies, products and services, in a manner t

permits New TechTarget to achieve the cost savings and revenue synergies anticipated to result from the proposed transactio
which could result in the anticipated benefits of the proposed transaction not being realized partly or wholly in the time frame 
currently anticipated or at all;

• lost sales and customers as a result of certain customers of any of the businesses deciding not to do business with New 
TechTarget, or deciding to decrease their amount of business in order to reduce their reliance on a single company;

• the necessity of coordinating geographically separated organizations, systems and facilities;
• potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the propose

transaction;
• integrating personnel with diverse business backgrounds and business cultures, while maintaining focus on providing consiste

high-quality products and services;
• consolidating and rationalizing information technology platforms and administrative infrastructures as well as accounting syste

and related financial reporting activities and difficulty implementing effective internal controls over financial reporting and 
disclosure controls and procedures in particular; and

• preserving important relationships of us and the Informa Tech business and resolving potential conflicts that may arise.

Furthermore, it is possible that the integration process could result in us or the Informa Tech business losing key employees or 

skilled workers. The loss of key employees and skilled workers could adversely affect New TechTarget’s ability to successfully conduct 

its business because of their experience and knowledge of our businesses and the Informa Tech business. In addition, New TechTarget 

could be adversely affected by the diversion of management’s attention and any delays or difficulties encountered in connection with 

the integration of our business and the Informa Tech business. The process of integrating operations could cause an interruption of, or 

loss of momentum in, the activities of one or more of our and the Informa Tech business’s segments. If New TechTarget experiences 

difficulties with the integration process, the anticipated benefits of the proposed transaction may not be realized fully or at all, or may 

take longer to realize than expected. These integration matters could have an adverse effect on the
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business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects of New TechTarget during this transition period and for an undetermined 

period after completion of the proposed transaction.

Item 1B.	 Unresolved Staff Comments
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None.

Item 1C.	 Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

As is the case for all companies in our industry or with a significant digital presence, we are periodically subject to cyberattacks 

and other cyber incidents and, therefore, cybersecurity is an integral component of our overall enterprise information security program. 

We have adopted a multi-layered framework to secure our networks, systems, devices, products and services while also assessing, 

identifying, and managing cybersecurity risks. That framework is designed to help protect our information assets, operations, and 

resources from internal and external cyber threats by understanding and seeking to mitigate risks while ensuring business resiliency 

from unauthorized access or attack. Our cybersecurity policies, standards, and procedures include security risk assessments for high

priority systems, third party compliance assessments for external vendors and suppliers, and incident management and breach 

response plans. which are influenced by, and periodically assessed against, recognized cybersecurity frameworks. Our incident 

management policy is designed to help prevent, manage, and coordinate our response to, and recovery from, potential and confirmed 

cybersecurity incidents and includes processes to triage, assess the severity of, escalate, contain, investigate and remediate incidents, 

as well as comply with applicable legal obligations.

We seek to enhance our policies and practices to protect our platforms, adapt to changes in regulations, identify potential and 

emerging security risks and develop mitigation strategies for those risks. For example, we conduct regular risk assessments at planned 

intervals for high priority systems and/or applications to identify and analyze threats and vulnerabilities, identify controls, identify risk 

ratings and likelihood and level of potential impact, and provide recommendations for risk reduction, mitigation, acceptance, and 

avoidance. As part of our overall risk mitigation strategy, we also maintain cyber liability insurance coverage; however, such insurance 

coverage may not be sufficient in type or amount to cover us against claims related to security breaches, cyber-attacks and other 

related breaches.

We regularly engage external parties, including consultants, auditors, and cybersecurity service providers to enhance our 

cybersecurity oversight. For example, we maintain an ISO 27001 certification for our BrightTALK platform and obtained a SOC 2, Type 

II report for our Priority Engine platform. These third-party assessments are evaluated and updated regularly. Additionally, we utilize 

various external parties and tools to assist us with annual penetration testing, cybersecurity and related training, vulnerability and patch 

management, threat detection and response, and information technology general controls.

In order to oversee and identify risks from cybersecurity threats associated with our use of third-party service providers, we have 

a third-party risk management and assessment program designed to help protect against the misuse of information technology, data, 

and systems by third parties and business partners generally requiring third-party service providers to complete a security risk 

assessment, with certain high priority third-party providers undergoing annual risk assessments to determine if they have experienced 

any changes that could impact their security risk. If any critical risks are identified, we may perform a compliance audit of the third-party 

to further document findings and to recommend corrective actions.

As of the date of this report, we are not aware of any cybersecurity threats that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to 

materially affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. However, as discussed under "Item 1A. 

Risk Factors," specifically the risk titled “The loss of personal, confidential, and/or proprietary information due to our cybersecurity 

systems or the systems of our customers, vendors, or partners being breached could cause us to incur significant legal and financial 

exposure and liability, and materially adversely affect our business, operating results and reputation,” the sophistication of cyber threats 

continues to increase, and the preventative actions we take to reduce the risk of cyber incidents and protect our systems and 

information may be insufficient. Accordingly, no matter how well our controls are designed or implemented, we will not be able to 
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anticipate all security breaches, and we may not be able to implement effective preventive measures against such security breaches in 

a timely manner.

Cybersecurity Governance and Oversight

Our Board of Directors provides oversight over cybersecurity risk. Our Board of Directors receives and provides feedback on 

periodic updates from management regarding cybersecurity and is notified between such updates regarding significant new 

cybersecurity incidents, if any. Our Board of Directors also receives periodic briefings on cyber-related issues and accomplishments 

including, among
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other things, reviewing key elements of our cybersecurity program, ongoing training initiatives and awareness programs, occurrence of 

any incidents, and updates regarding third-party certifications and assessments.

We have a Privacy and Security Executive Taskforce (“Taskforce”) consisting of executive-level leaders that meets periodically to, 

among other things, review global trends in privacy, security, and compliance, identify key projects and resource needs, and review 

operational privacy and security statistics and metrics. Additionally, our Chief Technology Officer (“CTO”) is a member of the Taskforce 

and manages and oversees a team (the “IT Security Team”) that is responsible for leading company-wide cybersecurity efforts. The IT 

Security Team works with various business units and departments, including legal, product development, and operations, to help set 

standards, policies, and processes. Our CTO along with key members of his IT Security Team have worked in the information security 

field for many years and are actively involved in our cybersecurity efforts. Our internal audit function also provides independent testing 

on aspects of the operations of our cybersecurity program and the supporting control framework and reports the results of these audits 

in reports to our Audit Committee.

In an effort to deter and detect cyber threats, we periodically provide all full- and part-time employees with a data privacy, 

cybersecurity, and incident response training and compliance program, which covers timely and relevant topics, including phishing, 

malware, password security, confidential data protection, asset use and mobile security, and educates all employees on the importance 

of reporting all incidents immediately to the company’s dedicated Incident Management Team. We also use technology-based tools to 

mitigate cybersecurity risks to bolster our employee based cybersecurity programs.

Item 2.	 Properties

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we are leasing approximately 68,000 square feet of office space for our global 

headquarters in Newton, Massachusetts, through December 31, 2029. The Company has an option to extend the term for an additional 

five-year period subject to certain terms and conditions. Additionally, we have smaller leased offices throughout North America, Europe, 

Asia and Australia.

Item 3.	 Legal Proceedings
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We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings, and we are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation 

against us that could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.

34 Item 4.	 Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.	 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the trading symbol “TTGT”.

Holders

As of February 24, 2023 February 24, 2024, according to our transfer agent’s records there were 60 62 common stockholders of 

record.

Dividends

We did not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock during the three most recent fiscal years. We currently intend 

to retain earnings, if Under the Transaction Agreement, we may not declare, set aside, authorize, or pay any to fund the development 

and growth further dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock, or property or any combination thereof) in respect of our 

business and do any shares of capital stock or other equity interests, without obtaining Informa’s approval (which may not anticipate 

paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Our payment of be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or 

delayed).

As such, future dividends if any, will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors after considering various factors, 

including depend upon our financial condition, operating results, cash needs and growth plans, as well as restrictive covenants in our 

debt agreements. agreements, and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors, including, as relevant, Informa’s approval. 

There can be no assurances that dividends will be declared in the future.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total return to stockholders of our common stock for the period from December 31, 

2017 December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, to the cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 Index and the 

S&P 500 Media Industry Index for the same period. This graph assumes investment of $100 on December 31, 2017 December 31, 

2018 in our common stock, the Russell 2000 Index and the S&P 500 Media Industry Index and assumes any dividends are reinvested.
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COMPARATIVE STOCK PERFORMANCE

Among TechTarget, Inc.,

the Russell 2000 Index and

the S&P 500 Media Industry Index

 

   12/17    

12/1

8     12/19     12/20     12/21     12/22     12/18     12/19     12/20     12/21     12/22     12/23  

TechTarget Inc.

  $

100

.00     $

87.

72     $

187

.50     $

424

.64     $

687

.21     $

316

.52     $ 100.00     $ 213.76     $ 484.11     $ 783.46     $ 360.85     $ 285.50  

Russell 2000

  $

100

.00     $

88.

99     $

111

.70     $

134

.00     $

153

.85     $

122

.41     $ 100.00     $ 125.52     $ 150.58     $ 172.90     $ 137.56     $ 160.85  

S&P 500 Media 

Industry   $

100

.00     $

92.

44     $

124

.77     $

143

.88     $

144

.37     $

101

.07     $ 100.00     $ 134.98     $ 155.65     $ 156.18     $ 109.34     $ 131.76  

The information included under the heading “Stock Performance Graph” in Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is 

“furnished” and not “filed” and shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or subject to Regulation 14A, shall not be deemed “filed” 

for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated 

by reference in any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
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The following table provides information about purchases by us during the three months ended December 31, 2022 of equity

securities that are registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act.

Period  

Total Number of


Shares 

Purchased(1)(2)    

Average Price


Paid Per Share    

Total Number of


Shares 

Purchased as


Part of Publicly


Announced 

Plans or


Programs(1)(2)    

Approximate Dollar


Value of Shares that


May Yet Be


Purchased Under the


Plans or Programs  

October 1, 2022 – October 31, 2022     80,760     $ 63.15       80,760     $ 13,858,719  

November 1, 2022 – November 30, 

2022     298,138     $ 53.04       298,138     $ 198,038,506  

December 1, 2022– December 31, 2022     297,848     $ 43.39       297,848     $ 185,108,809  

Total     676,746     $ 50.00       676,746     $ 185,108,809  

(1) In May 2022, we announced that the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program (the “May 2022 Repurchase 

Program”), which authorized management to purchase up to $50.0 million shares of our common stock from time to time on the open 

market or in privately negotiated transactions with an expiration in May of 2024. The Company exhausted the May 2022 Repurchase 

Program in November of 2022.

(2) In November 2022, we announced that the Board of Directors approved a repurchase program (the “November 2022 Repurchase 

Program”), which authorized management to purchase up to $200.0 million shares of our common stock or convertible senior notes 

from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions with an expiration in November of 2024. We did not 

repurchase any common stock or convertible senior notes under this program during the three months ended December 31, 2023. As 

of December 31, 2023, $92.9 million remained available under the November 2022 Repurchase Program. We are restricted from 

making any such repurchases during the period between the execution of the Transaction Agreement and the closing of the proposed 

transaction without Informa’s approval (which may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed).

 

Item 6.	 [Reserved]
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Item 7.	 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the 

consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion 

and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results could differ 

materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed below 
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and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly under the heading “Risk Factors.” Please refer to our “Forward-Looking 

Statements” section on page 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Background

TechTarget, Inc. (the “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our”) is a global data, software and analytics leader for purchase intent-driven 

marketing and sales data which delivers business impact for business-to-business (“B2B”) companies. Our solutions enable B2B 

technology companies to identify, reach, and influence key enterprise technology decision makers faster and with higher efficacy. We 

offer products and services intended to improve information technology (“IT”) vendors’ abilities to impact highly targeted audiences for 

business growth using advanced targeting, first-party analytics and data services complemented with customized marketing programs 

that integrate content creation, demand generation, brand marketing, and other advertising techniques.

Our goal is to enable enterprise technology and business professionals to navigate the complex and rapidly-changing enterprise 

technology landscape where purchasing decisions can have significant financial and operational consequences. Our content strategy 

includes three primary sources which enterprise technology and business professionals use to assist them in their pre-purchase 

research: independent content provided by our professionals, vendor-generated content provided by our customers and member-

generated, or peer-to-peer, content. In addition to utilizing our independent editorial content, registered members and users appreciate 

the ability to deepen their pre-purchase research by accessing the extensive vendor-supplied content available across our virtual event 

and webinar channels and website network (collectively, our “Network”). Likewise, these members and users derive significant 

additional value from the ability our Network provides to seamlessly interact with and contribute to information exchanges in a given 

field. To advance our ability to provide purchase intent-driven marketing and sales data, we have been acquisitive over the last two 

years. During 2021, we acquired Xtelligent Healthcare Media, LLC, a leading healthcare B2B media company focusing on healthcare-

related technology. Similarly, during 2020, we acquired (i) BrightTALK Limited, a technology media company that provides customers 

with a platform to create, host and promote webinar and video content, (ii) The Enterprise Strategy Group, Inc., a leading provider of 

decision support content based on user research and market analysis for global enterprise companies, and (iii) Data Science Central, 

LLC, a digital publishing and media company focused on data science and business analytics.

We had approximately 30.2 million 31.8 million and 29.1 million 30.2 million registered members and users, which we refer to as 

our “audiences”, as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. While the size of our audiences does not 

provide direct insight into our customer numbers or our revenue, we believe the value of the services we sell to our customers is a 

direct result of the breadth and reach of this content footprint. This footprint creates the opportunity for our clients to gain business 

leverage by targeting our audiences through customized marketing programs. Likewise, the behavior exhibited by these audiences 

enables us to provide our customers with data products to improve their marketing and sales efforts. The targeted nature of our

audiences enables B2B technology companies to reach a specialized audience efficiently because our content is highly segmented and 

aligned with the B2B technology companies’ specific products.

Through our ability to identify, reach and influence key decision makers, we have developed a broad customer base and, in 

2022, 2023, delivered marketing and sales services programs to over 3,400 approximately 2,600 customers.

Transaction Agreement

On January 10, 2024, we announced that we had entered into the Transaction Agreement with Informa, New TechTarget, Toro 

Acquisition Sub, LLC (“Merger Sub”), Informa US Holdings Limited (“Ivory HoldCo”) and Informa Intrepid Holdings Inc (“Informa Tech”), 
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pursuant to which, among other things, (i) Ivory HoldCo will contribute all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of 

Informa Tech, plus $350 million in cash (subject to certain adjustments set forth in the Transaction Agreement for changes in net 

working capital of Informa Tech and in respect of EBITDA and certain non-current liabilities) to New TechTarget in exchange for New 

TechTarget common stock, (ii) Merger Sub will merge with and into TechTarget with TechTarget surviving the merger as a direct wholly 

owned subsidiary of New TechTarget (the “Merger”) and (iii) as a result of the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of our 

common stock will be converted (subject to certain exceptions) into the right to receive one share of New TechTarget common stock 

and a pro rata share of an amount in cash equal to $350 million plus the amount of the EBITDA adjustment (as defined in the 

Transaction Agreement), if any, which per share cash consideration amount is estimated as of the date of the Transaction Agreement to 

be approximately $11.79 per share of Common Stock.

Immediately following the closing of the proposed transaction, Informa and its affiliates will collectively own 57% of the 

outstanding New TechTarget common stock (on a fully diluted basis) and our stockholders will own the remaining outstanding New 

TechTarget common stock.

47

We will be required to pay Informa a termination fee between $30.0 and $40.0 million if the Transaction Agreement is terminated 

under certain specified circumstances, including termination by us in connection with our entry into an agreement with respect to a Toro 

Superior Proposal (as defined in the Transaction Agreement) prior to us receiving stockholder approval of the proposed transaction, or 

termination by Informa upon a Toro Change in Recommendation (as defined in the Transaction Agreement). The consummation of the 

proposed transaction is expected to occur in the second half of 2024 and remains subject to customary closing conditions, including 

satisfaction of certain regulatory approvals, approval by our stockholders and other customary closing conditions.

Executive Summary

Revenue

Our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2022 increased December 31, 2023 decreased approximately $34.1 

million $67.5 million, to $297.5 million $230.0 million, or 13% 23% compared with the same period in 2021. 2022. We saw increased a 

decrease in customer spend across our product suite and we were able to recognize revenues associated with the renewal of acquired 

customer contracts previously recorded as unearned revenue, as further highlighted in the table below (see “Adjusted Revenue”), each 

of which contributed to our growth for the year ended December 31, 2022. Revenues suite. Revenue from our Priority Engine™ 

products increased 14% decreased 29% to $69.8 million $49.4 million in 2022, 2023, compared to 2021.
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2022.

 

Adjusted Revenue
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We define Adjusted Revenue as the sum of revenue and the impact of fair value adjustments to acquired unearned revenue 

related to services billed by an acquired company prior to its acquisition. Adjusted Revenue is a non-GAAP financial measure that 

management uses to evaluate growth of the business period over period, excluding the impact of adjustments due to purchase 

accounting. Adjusted Revenue should be considered in addition to Revenue, but should not be considered a substitute for, or superior 

to, Revenue. In addition, our definition of Adjusted Revenue may not be comparable to the definitions as reported by other companies. 

We believe that it is important to evaluate growth on this basis. In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, “Business 

Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers,” which requires 

entities to apply Topic 606 to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities in a business combination as if it had 

originated the contracts. The standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, 

beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted this accounting standard update on January 1, 2023 and it 

had no material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and as a result expect our Adjusted Revenue to converge 

over time be consistent with our GAAP revenue.

revenue moving forward.

The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted Revenue:

 

  

Years Ended December 

31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2023     2022  

Revenue   $ 297,488     $ 263,427     $ 229,963     $ 297,488  

Impact of fair value adjustment on acquired unearned 

revenue

 

  1,676       11,476  

 

  —       1,676  

Adjusted revenue   $ 299,164     $ 274,903     $ 229,963     $ 299,164  

Revenue percentage change     13 %           (23 )%      

Adjusted revenue percentage change     9 %           (23 )%      

Longer-term contracts amounted to 41% 37% of our revenue in 2022, 2023, which is up 1% down 4% from 40% 41% in 

2021. 2022. The amount of revenue that we derived from longer-term contracts in 2022 increased 2023 decreased by approximately 

$18.6 million $37.7 million, an increase a decrease of 18% 31% compared to the amount that we recognized in 2021.2022.

Gross profit percentage was 74% 67%, 73% 74%, and 75% 73% for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 

2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively. Gross profit increased decreased by $26.8 million $64.6 million for fiscal 2022 2023 as 

compared to fiscal 2021, 2022, mainly due to the increase decrease in revenue compared to the same period a year ago.

Business Trends

The following discussion highlights key trends affecting our business.

• Macro-economic Conditions and Industry Trends. Because most of our customers are B2B technology companies, the 
success of our business is intrinsically linked to the health, and subject to the market conditions, of the IT industry. Despite 
the current uncertainty in the economy, there are several factors indicating positive IT spending over the next few years is 
likely. We believe there are several IT catalysts such as AI, security, data analytics, and cloud migrations, to name a few. 
Our growth continues to be driven in large part by the return on the investments we made in our data analytics suite of 
products, which continues to drive market share gains for us. While we will continue to invest in this growth area,
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management will also continue to carefully control discretionary spending such as travel and entertainment, and the filling of 
and replacement positions, in an effort to maintain profit margins and cash flows. Our business has been and is likely to cont
to be impacted by macro-economic conditions. Because our customers are B2B technology companies, the success of
business is intrinsically linked to the health and market conditions of the enterprise technology industry. We h
observed continued to see weakness within this market. This reflects the enterprise macro technology market materially wo
during 2022, with third party data indicating that over 1,000 technology companies, including many environment in w
customers remain cautious regarding their sales and marketing investment levels. We expect this dynamic to continue throug
2024 because of our largest customers, have announced layoffs. The layoffs have resulted in a challenging selling environm
where we have seen elongated sales cycles, budget cuts uncertainty surrounding inflation, interest rates, the presidential ele
and freezes at many of our customers, which have impacted our near-term outlook. We are seeing our international mar
perform worse than our domestic markets. Given the weak macroeconomic conditions, in December 2022, we announc
headcount reduction of approximately 5% of our workforce, which is expected to be completed in the first quarter of 2023
result in approximately $7 million in annual savings. geopolitical issues internationally.

• Customer Demographics. In the year ended December 31, 2022, revenues December 31, 2023,revenues from our legacy 
global customers (a static cohort comprised of our 10 historically largest on premises hardware technology companies), 
decreased by approximately 2% 19%, compared to the prior year. Revenues from our remaining customers increased 
11% decreased 24% from the prior year. The metric measures the year-over-year increase or decrease in GAAP revenue 
from this cohort of customers and is calculated by dividing the GAAP revenue from this cohort of customers for the current 
year by the GAAP revenue from this cohort of customers for the prior year. We use this information to monitor customer 
concentration trends within the Company, our business, which we deem an important metric for evaluating revenue 
diversification.
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Our key strategic initiatives include:

• Geographic – During 2022, 2023, approximately 36% 33% of our revenues were derived from international geo-targeted 
campaigns. We continue to focus on growing our international footprint. We expect that during 2023, 2024, international 
revenue will decline (additionally it will represent be consistent with 2023 levels as a smaller portion percent of our overall 
revenue) due to the macroeconomic uncertainties being experienced internationally. total revenue.

• Product –Purchase – Purchase intent data continues to drive our product road strategy. During 2023, 2024, we intend to 
improve upon our sales use case features by revamping continuing to enhance our sales alerts integrations, account based 
scoring and ROI dashboard features intent feeds among other strategic objectives (including expanding our saleforce.com 
connecter functionality). objectives. Additionally, we will continue to refine IntentMail AITM which was launched in December 
2023, which is Priority Engine’s AI-powered messaging feature, which enables sellers to automatically generate 
personalized email copy.

Sources of Revenues
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Revenues for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020 2021 by geo-target 

were as follows (in thousands):

    Twelve Months Ended December 31,  

                2022 vs.           2021 vs.  

                2021           2020  

    2022     2021     % change     2020     % change  

Revenue                              

North America   $ 189,897     $ 162,360       17 %   $ 90,919       79 %

International     107,591       101,067       6 %     57,457       76 %

Total Revenues   $ 297,488     $ 263,427       13 %   $ 148,376       78 %

    Twelve Months Ended December 31,  

                2023 vs.           2022 vs.  

                2022           2021  

    2023     2022     % change     2021     % change  

Revenue                              

North America   $ 153,952     $ 189,897       (19 )%   $ 162,360       17 %

International     76,011       107,591       (29 )%     101,067       6 %

Total Revenues   $ 229,963     $ 297,488       (23 )%   $ 263,427       13 %

We sell customized marketing programs to B2B technology companies targeting a specific audience within a particular enterprise 

technology or business sector or sub-sector. We maintain multiple points of contact with our customers to provide support throughout 

their organizations and their customers’ IT sales cycles. As a result, our customers often run multiple advertising programs with us in 

order to target their desired audience of enterprise technology and business professionals more effectively. There are multiple factors 

that can impact our customers’ marketing and advertising objectives and spending with us, including but not limited to, IT product 

launches, increases or decreases to their advertising budgets, the timing of key industry marketing events, responses to competitor 

activities and efforts to address specific marketing objectives such as creating brand awareness or generating sales leads. Our 

products and services are generally delivered under short-term contracts that run for the length of a given program, typically less than 

nine months. In the quarter ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 approximately 40% 32% of our revenues were from longer-

term contracts.

Product and Service Offerings

We use our offerings to provide B2B technology companies with numerous touch points to identify, reach and influence key 

enterprise technology decision makers. The following is a description of the products and services we offer:

IT Deal Alert™. IT Deal Alert™ is a suite of products and services for B2B technology companies that leverages the detailed purchase 

intent data that we collect about end-user enterprise technology organizations. Through proprietary scoring methodologies, we use this 

insight to help our customers identify and prioritize accounts whose content consumption around specific enterprise technology topics 

indicates that they are “in-market” for a particular product or service. We also use the data directly to identify and further profile 

accounts’ upcoming purchase plans.

• IT Deal Alert™. A suite of data, software and services for B2B technology companies that leverages the detailed purchase 
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intent data we collect on enterprise technology organizations and professionals researching IT purchases via our network 
of websites and our webinar community platform. Through our proprietary data-capture and scoring methodologies, we use
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this insight to help our customers identify and prioritize accounts and contacts whose content consumption and online 
research activities around specific enterprise technology topics indicate they are “in-market” for a particular B2B technology 
product or service. The suite of products and services includes Priority Engine™ and Qualified Sales Opportunities™. 
Priority Engine™ is a subscription service powered by our Activity Intelligence™ platform, which integrates with CRM and 
MAPs including Salesforce.com, Marketo, Hubspot, Eloqua, Pardot, and Integrate. The service delivers lead generation 
workflow solutions designed to enable marketers and salesforces to identify and prioritize accounts and individuals actively 
researching new technology purchases or upgrades, and then to engage those active prospects. We launched IntentMail 
AITM in December 2023, which is Priority Engine’s AI-powered messaging feature, which enables sellers to automatically 
generate personalized email copy. Qualified Sales Opportunities™ is a product that profiles specific in-progress purchase 
projects via surveys and interviews with business technology professionals whose research activity and content 
consumption is indicative of a pending technology purchase. Qualified Sales Opportunities™ include information on project 
scope, purchase criteria and vendors considered.
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• Demand Solutions. Our offerings enable our customers to reach and influence prospective buyers through content 
marketing programs, such as white papers, webcasts, podcasts, videocasts, virtual trade shows, and content sponsorships, 
designed to generate demand for their solutions, and through display advertising and other brand programs that influence 
consideration by prospective buyers. We believe this allows B2B technology companies to maximize ROI on marketing and 
sales expenditures by capturing sales leads from the distribution and promotion of content to our audience of enterprise 
technology and business professionals.

• Brand Solutions. Our suite of brand solutions provide B2B technology companies with direct exposure to targeted 
audiences of enterprise technology and business professionals actively researching information related to their products 
and services. We leverage our Activity Intelligence™ platform to enable significant segmentation and behavioral targeting 
of audiences to improve the relevancy of digital ads to researcher needs. Branding solutions include on-network banner 
advertising and digital sponsorships, off-network banner targeting, and microsites and related formats.

• Custom Content Creation. We deliver market insights and guidance to B2B technology companies through our Enterprise 
Strategy Group annual research and advisory subscription programs, custom market research services, and consulting 
engagements. In addition, Enterprise Strategy Group experts author custom content products including technical and 
economic validations, white papers, infographics, videos and webinars. This content is leveraged by B2B technology 
marketers to support product launches, enable demand-generation campaigns, and to establish overall thought leadership. 
We also create white papers, case studies, webcasts or videos to our customers’ specifications. These customized content 
assets are then promoted to our audience within both demand solutions and brand solutions programs. Additionally, we 
offer off-the-shelf editorial sponsorship products on topics aligned to customer markets, enabling them to engage and 
generate demand via packaged content created by our editorial staff to educate technology researchers on new technology 
trends and feature options.
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• BrightTALK platform. Allows our customers to create, host and promote webinars, virtual events and video content. 
Customers create their own hosted Channels on the platform where they schedule both live and on-demand webinars for 
promotion to BrightTALK’s community of in-market accounts and individuals. The BrightTALK Channel also enables 
customers to self-administer lead generation campaigns, set up workflow integrations between the Channel and their CRM 
and MAP systems, and access reporting detailing the size and growth of their community of subscribers over time. 
Customers may also create an off-network embedded Channel page on their own corporate website featuring content in 
their BrightTALK Channel, as well as an embedded BrightTALK registration form that captures and converts interested 
individuals to marketing leads.

Cost of Revenues, Operating Expenses and Other

Expenses consist of cost of revenues, selling and marketing, product development, general and administrative, depreciation, 

amortization, and interest and other expense, net. Personnel-related costs are a significant component of each of these expense 

categories except for depreciation, amortization and interest and other expense, net.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues consists primarily of salaries and related personnel costs; member acquisition expenses 

(primarily keyword purchases from leading internet search sites); lead generation expenses; freelance writer expenses; website hosting 

costs; vendor expenses associated with the delivery of webcast, podcast, videocast and similar content and other offerings; stock-

based compensation expenses; facility expenses and other related overhead.
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Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs; sales 

commissions; travel and entertainment-related expenses; stock-based compensation expenses; facility expenses and other related 

overhead. Sales commissions are recorded as expense when earned by the employee, based on recorded revenue.

Product Development. Product development includes the creation and maintenance of our network of websites and data analytics 

framework, advertiser offerings and technical infrastructure. Product development expense consists primarily of salaries and related 

personnel costs; stock-based compensation expenses; facility expenses and other related overhead.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs; facility

expenses and related overhead; accounting, legal and other professional fees; transaction-related expenses; and stock-based 

compensation expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2023, this also includes legal and other costs related to the proposed 

transaction with Informa.

Restructuring Cost for Reduction in Force. Restructuring cost for reduction in force consists of costs related to our December, 

2022 reduction in force, mainly labor, stock compensation, and related benefits.
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Depreciation. Depreciation expense consists of the depreciation of our property and equipment and other capitalized assets. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, ranging from three to ten years.

Amortization. Amortization expense consists of the amortization of intangible assets recorded in connection with our acquisitions, 

including changes in the value of contingent consideration in relation to certain of the acquisitions. Separable intangible assets that are 

not deemed to have an indefinite life are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which range from eighteen months to nineteen 

years, using methods that are expected to reflect the estimated pattern of economic use.

Interest and Other Expense, Net. Interest expense, net consists primarily of interest costs (offset in part by interest income), 

inducement expense and the related amortization of deferred issuance costs on our Notes and amounts borrowed under our current 

and our prior loan agreements and amortization of premiums on our investments, less any interest income earned on cash, cash 

equivalents and short-term investments. We historically have invested our cash in money market accounts, municipal bonds, 

government agency bonds, U.S. Treasury securities, and corporate bonds. Other expense consists primarily of non-operating gains or 

losses, primarily related to realized and unrealized foreign currency gains and losses on trade assets and liabilities.

Gain on early extinguishment of debt. Gain on early extinguishment of debt relates to our repurchase of certain of our outstanding 

2025 Notes.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which 

have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make 

estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue, long-

lived assets, goodwill, stock-based compensation, contingent liabilities, self-insurance accruals and income taxes. We base our 

estimates of the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we 

believe to be reasonable. In some cases, changes in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period. Our 

actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments used in the preparation of our 

consolidated financial statements. See the notes to our consolidated financial statements for information about these critical accounting 

policies as well as a description of our other accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

We generate substantially all of our revenues from the sale of targeted marketing and advertising campaigns, which we deliver 

via our network of websites, event channels and data analytics solutions (see “Product and Service Offerings” above). We recognize 

revenue when performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised goods and services to customers in an amount the 

Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The Company enters into contracts that can include various 

combinations of its offerings which are generally capable of being distinct and accounted for as a separate performance obligation. 

When performance obligations are combined into a single contract, we utilize stand-alone selling price (“SSP" SSP”) to allocate the 

transaction price among the
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performance obligations. Our estimates of SSP for each performance obligation require judgment that considers multiple factors such 

as historical pricing trends and pricing practices within different geographies.

Revenue from our brand and demand solutions is primarily recognized when the transfer of control occurs. Certain of the 

contracts within brand and demand solutions are duration-based campaigns which, in the event of customer cancellation, provide the 

Company with an enforceable right to a proportional payment for the portion of the campaign based on services provided. Accordingly, 

revenue from duration-based campaigns is recognized using a time-based measure of progress, which the Company believes best 

depicts how it satisfies its performance obligations in these arrangements as control is continuously transferred throughout the contract 

period. Revenue from microsites is recognized ratably over the life of the contract. Revenue from custom content creation is recognized 

over the expected period of performance using a single measure of progress, typically based on hours incurred. Payments received in 

advance of services being rendered are recorded as a component of contract liabilities.

Changes in judgments regarding these assumptions could impact the timing of revenue recognition.

Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment, capitalized software, goodwill, and other intangible assets. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets have arisen from our acquisitions. The amount assigned to intangible assets is subjective and 

based on our estimates of the future benefit of the intangible assets using accepted valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow. 

Our long-lived assets, other than goodwill, are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which we determine based on the 

consideration of several factors including the period of time the asset is expected to remain in service. Intangible assets are amortized 

over their
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estimated useful lives, which range from eighteen months to nineteen years, using methods of amortization that are expected to reflect 

the estimated pattern of economic use. The carrying amounts of our acquired intangible assets are periodically reviewed for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the assets may not be recoverable or their useful life is shorter than originally 

estimated. Consistent with our determination that we have only one reporting segment, we have determined that there is only one 

reporting unit and test goodwill for impairment at the entity level. We evaluate the carrying value and remaining useful lives of long-lived 

assets, other than goodwill, whenever indicators of impairment are present. We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill annually using 

the two-step process required by Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (“ASC 350”). The 

first step of the impairment test is to identify potential impairment by comparing the reporting unit’s fair value with its net book value (or 

carrying amount), including goodwill. The fair value is estimated based on a market value approach. If the fair value of the reporting unit 

exceeds it carrying amount, the reporting unit’s goodwill is not considered to be impaired and the second step of the impairment test is 

not performed. Whenever indicators of impairment are present, we would perform the second step and compare the implied fair value 

of the reporting unit’s goodwill, as defined by ASC 350, to it its carrying value to determine the amount of the impairment loss, if any. As 

of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there were no indications of impairment based on our analysis, and our estimated fair value 

exceeded our carrying value by a significant margin.
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Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

The Company uses its best estimates and assumptions to allocate fair value to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. Any residual purchase price is recorded as goodwill. The Company’s estimates 

are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement and can include but are not limited to, the cash flows that an asset is expected to

generate in the future, and the appropriate weighted-average cost of capital.

During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to 

the fair value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. In 

addition, uncertain tax positions and tax-related valuation allowances are initially recorded in connection with a business combination as 

of the acquisition date. The Company continues to collect information and reevaluates these estimates and assumptions quarterly and 

records any adjustments to the Company’s preliminary estimates to goodwill provided that the Company is within the measurement 

period. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, 

whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the Company’s consolidated statement of operations.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In April 2022, the Company’s board of directors adopted the TechTarget, Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), 

which was approved by the stockholders of the Company at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and became effective June 7, 

2022. On June 7, 2022, 600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance under the ESPP. After the initial 

offering period of three months, which commenced September 1, 2022, eligible employees are offered shares of common stock over a
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twelve-month offering period, which consists of two consecutive six-month purchase periods. Employees may purchase a limited 

amount (up to $25,000) of shares of the Company’s common stock under the ESPP at a discount of up to 15% of the lesser of the 

market value of the common stock at either (a) the beginning of the six-month purchase period during which the shares of common 

stock are purchased or (b) the end of such six-month purchase period. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 590,857 545,556 

shares of common stock remain available for issuance under the ESPP.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure stock-based compensation at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and recognize stock-based 

compensation in our results of operations using the straight-line method over the vesting period of the award. We use the Black-

Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option awards. We calculated the fair values of the options granted 

using the following estimated weighted average assumptions:

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021     2020  

Expected volatility     44 %     44 %     40 %
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Expected term   6 years     6 years     6 years  

Risk-free interest rate     2.69 %     0.82 %     0.34 %

Expected dividend yield     — %     — %     — %

Weighted-average grant date fair value per share   $ 33.99     $ 27.98     $ 11.29  
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    Years Ended December 31,  

    2023     2022     2021  

Expected volatility     47 %     44 %     44 %

Expected term   6 years     6 years     6 years  

Risk-free interest rate     3.59 %     2.69 %     0.82 %

Expected dividend yield     — %     — %     — %

Weighted-average grant date fair value per share   $ 17.92     $ 33.99     $ 27.98  

The expected volatility of options granted in 2023, 2022, 2021, and 2020 2021 was determined using a weighted average of the 

historical volatility of our stock for a period equal to the expected life of the option. The risk-free interest rate is based on a zero-coupon 

U.S. treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options. We have not paid and do not anticipate 

paying cash dividends on our shares of common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. We applied an 

estimated annual forfeiture rate based on historical averages in determining the expense recorded in each period.

Internal-Use Software and Website Development Costs

We capitalize costs of materials, consultants and compensation and related expenses of employees who devote time to the 

development of internal-use software and website applications. We begin to capitalize our costs to develop software and website 

applications when planning stage efforts are successfully completed, management has authorized and committed project funding, and it 

is probable that the project will be completed, and the software will be used as intended. Our judgment is required in determining the 

point at which various projects enter the state at which costs may be capitalized, in assessing the ongoing value of the capitalized costs 

and in determining the estimated useful lives over which the costs are amortized, which is generally three years. To the extent that we 

change the manner in which we develop and test new features and functionalities related to our internal use software and websites, 

assess the ongoing value of capitalized assets or determine the estimated useful lives over which the costs are amortized, the amount 

of internal use software and website development costs we capitalize and amortize in future periods would be impacted. We review 

capitalized internal-use software and website development costs for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. We would recognize an impairment loss only if the carrying 

amount of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. There were no impairments to internal-use software and website 

developments costs during the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 or 2020. 2021. We capitalized internal-

use software and website development costs of $12.9 million $14.2 million, $11.5 million $12.9 million, and $6.1 million $11.5 million for 

the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020, 2021, respectively.

Income Taxes
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We are subject to income taxes in both U.S. and foreign jurisdictions, and we use estimates in determining our provision for

income taxes. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and 

income tax bases of assets and liabilities using statutory rates expected to be in effect when such differences are settled.

Our net deferred tax liabilities are comprised primarily of book to tax differences on stock-based compensation, intangible asset 

basis, net operating loss carryforwards, valuation allowance and timing of deductions for right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, 

accrued expenses, depreciation, and amortization.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the periods indicated:

 

   Years Ended December 31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  

   ($ in thousands)     ($ in thousands)  

Revenues:

  $

29

7,

48

8      

1

0

0 %   $

26

3,

42

7      

1

0

0 %   $

14

8,

37

6      

1

0

0 %   $ 229,963       100 %   $ 297,488       100 %   $ 263,427       100 %

Total cost of 

revenues

   

75

,7

40      

2

5      

68

,1

53      

2

6      

37

,3

44      

2

5       72,776       32       75,740       25       68,153       26  

Amortization of 

acquired 

technology    

2,

74

8       1      

3,

05

5       1       —       —       2,761       1       2,748       1       3,055       1  

Gross profit

   

21

9,

00

0      

7

4      

19

2,

21

9      

7

3      

11

1,

03

2      

7

5       154,426       67       219,000       74       192,219       73  

Operating 

expenses:                                                                        
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Selling and 

marketing

   

10

0,

80

0      

3

4      

95

,7

57      

3

6      

55

,4

55      

3

7       97,161       42       100,800       34       95,757       36  

Product 

development

   

12

,3

48       4      

11

,6

39       4      

7,

82

7       5       10,911       5       12,348       4       11,639       4  

General and 

administrative

   

31

,8

82      

1

1      

34

,9

75      

1

3      

18

,9

83      

1

3       34,097       15       31,882       11       34,975       13  

Restructuring 

cost for a 

reduction in 

force    

4,

43

5       1       —       —       —       —       —       —       4,435       1       —       —  

Depreciation

   

7,

21

8       2      

5,

63

4       2      

4,

80

9       3       8,527       4       7,218       2       5,634       2  

Amortization

   

5,

62

4       2      

9,

86

0       4      

1,

13

7       1       5,999       3       5,624       2       9,860       4  

Total operating 

expenses

   

16

2,

30

7      

5

5      

15

7,

86

5      

6

0      

88

,2

11      

5

9       156,695       68       162,307       55       157,865       60  

Operating 

income

   

56

,6

93      

1

9      

34

,3

54      

1

3      

22

,8

21      

1

6  

Interest and 

other (expense), 

net

   

86

1       0      

(2

3,

27

5 )     (9 )    

(3

17 )     (0 )

Operating 

income (loss)     (2,269 )     (1 )     56,693       19       34,354       13  

Interest and 

other income 

(expense), net     11,655       5       861       0       (23,275 )     (9 )

Gain from early 

extinguishment 

of debt     5,033       2       —       —       —       —  
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Income before 

provision for 

income taxes    

57

,5

54      

1

9      

11

,0

79       4      

22

,5

04      

1

6       14,419       6       57,554       19       11,079       4  

Provision for 

income taxes

   

15

,9

45       5      

10

,1

30       4      

5,

43

6       4       9,958       4       15,945       5       10,130       4  

Net income

  $

41

,6

09      

1

4 %   $

94

9       0 %   $

17

,0

68      

1

2 %   $ 4,461       2 %   $ 41,609       14 %   $ 949       0 %

Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Revenues

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2023     2022     Decrease    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Total revenues   $ 229,963     $ 297,488     $ (67,525 )     (23 )%

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023 ("fiscal 2023") decreased by $67.5 million, or 23%, over the year ended 

December 31, 2022 ("fiscal 2022"), primarily due to the following:

• We acquired approximately 800 additional new customers during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the 
ended December 31, 2022 resulting in an approximately $34.6 million increase in revenues.

• Our customers count decreased to approximately 2,600 from approximately 3,400, a decrease of 24%, resulting in
approximately $103.8 million decrease in revenues from customers.

• Revenues increased by $1.7 million due to the renewal of acquired customer contracts previously recorded as unearned reve
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2023     2022    

Increase


(Decrease)    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

80/199

Cost of revenues   $ 72,776     $ 75,740     $ (2,964 )     (4 )%

Amortization of acquired technology     2,761       2,748       13       0 %

Total cost of revenues   $ 75,537     $ 78,488     $ (2,951 )     (4 )%

Gross profit   $ 154,426     $ 219,000     $ (64,574 )     (29 )%

Gross profit percentage     67 %     74 %            

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues for fiscal 2023 decreased by $3.0 million, or 4%, as compared to fiscal 2022 primarily due to 

the following:

• $1.9 million decrease in labor and related costs;

• $1.8 million decrease in variable costs attributable to contracted costs related to fulfilling campaigns; and

• $0.4 million increase in stock based compensation.

Gross Profit. Our gross profit is equal to the difference between our revenues and our cost of revenues for the period. Gross profit 

percentage was 67% for fiscal 2023 compared to 74% for fiscal 2022. Gross profit decreased by $64.6 million in fiscal 2023 compared

to fiscal 2022 primarily due to decreased revenue. Because the majority of our costs are labor-related, we expect our gross profit to 

fluctuate from period to period depending on the total revenue for the period.

Operating Expenses and Other

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2023     2022    

Increase/


(Decrease)    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Operating expenses:                        

Selling and marketing   $ 97,161     $ 100,800     $ (3,639 )     (4 )%

Product development     10,911       12,348       (1,437 )     (12 )

General and administrative     34,097       31,882       2,215       7  

Restructuring cost for a reduction in force     —       4,435       (4,435 )     (100 )

Depreciation     8,527       7,218       1,309       18  

Amortization     5,999       5,624       375       7  

Total operating expenses   $ 156,695     $ 162,307     $ (5,612 )     (3 )%

Interest and other income, net   $ 11,655     $ 861     $ 10,794       1254 %

Gain from early extinguishment of debt   $ 5,033     $ —     $ 5,033     NM  

Provision for income taxes   $ 9,958     $ 15,945     $ (5,987 )     (38 )%

Selling and Marketing. Sales and marketing costs decreased by $3.6 million in fiscal 2023 compared to fiscal 2022, primarily due 

to a $5.4 million increase in stock-based compensation offset by a $7.6 million decrease in labor and related costs and $1.3 million of 

decreased other costs.

Product Development. Product development costs decreased by $1.4 million in fiscal 2023 compared to fiscal 2022, primarily due 

to a $1.2 million decrease in labor and related costs.
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General and Administrative. General and administrative costs increased by $2.2 million in fiscal 2023 compared to fiscal 2022, 

primarily due to a $4.1 million increase in non-recurring legal and advisor costs relating to the proposed transaction and a $0.4 million 

increase in stock-based compensation, offset by a $1.2 million decrease in software and related costs and a $1.0 million decrease in 

labor and related costs.

Restructuring Cost for Reduction in Force. Restructuring cost for reduction in force consists of costed relates to our December 

2022 reduction in force and primarily consists of labor, stock compensation, and related severance benefits.
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Depreciation. Depreciation expense increased $1.3 million in fiscal 2023 compared to fiscal 2022, due to increased capitalized 

software expenditures.

Amortization. Amortization expense increased $0.4 million in fiscal 2023 compared to fiscal 2022, due to a decrease in 

amortization expense in fiscal 2022 from a decrease in fair value of contingent consideration due on a prior acquisition.

Interest and Other Income, Net. Interest and other income, net, increased by $10.8 million in fiscal 2023 compared to fiscal 2022, 

primarily due to a $9.5 million increase in interest income, a $0.7 million decrease in unrealized/realized foreign currency exchange 

losses, and a $0.4 million decrease in impairment expenses.

Gain from Early Extinguishment of Debt. Gain from early extinguishment of debt relates to the repurchase of certain of our 

outstanding 2025 Notes. During fiscal 2023, we repurchased $48.3 million aggregate principal amount of our 2025 Notes for $42.6 

million, including transaction costs, which resulted in a gain on early extinguishment of debt of $5.0 million. No such repurchases were 

made during fiscal 2022.

Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate was 69.0% and 27.7% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 

respectively. The higher rate in 2023 as compared to 2022 was primarily due to stock-based compensation shortfalls instead of excess 

benefits in 2022, and nondeductible legal and accounting fees, offset by lower non-deductible officers compensation and state income 

tax provision due to lower revenue and increased research and development tax credit and foreign derived intangible income 

deduction.

Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Revenues

 

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021     Increase    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  
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Total revenues   $ 297,488     $ 263,427     $ 34,061       13 %

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2022 (“fiscal 2022”) increased by $34.1 million, or 13%, over the year ended 

December 31, 2021 (“fiscal 2021”), primarily due to the following:

• Our existing customers revenue increased $8.5 million primarily due to a $9.8 million increase in revenue recognized with
renewal of acquired customer contracts.

• Addition of new customers during fiscal 2022. Our customer count expanded to approximately 3,400 from approximately 2,
an increase of approximately 20%, resulting in increased revenues of approximately $25.6 million.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit
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    Years Ended December 31,  




    2022     2021    

Increase


(Decrease)    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Cost of revenues   $ 75,740     $ 68,153     $ 7,587       11 %

Amortization of acquired technology     2,748       3,055       (307 )     (10 )%

Total cost of revenues   $ 78,488     $ 71,208     $ 7,280       10 %

Gross profit   $ 219,000     $ 192,219     $ 26,781       14 %

Gross profit percentage     74 %     73 %            

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021    

Increase


/(Decrease)    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Cost of revenues   $ 75,740     $ 68,153     $ 7,587       11 %

Amortization of acquired technology     2,748       3,055       (307 )     (10 )%

Total cost of revenues   $ 78,488     $ 71,208     $ 7,280       10 %

Gross profit   $ 219,000     $ 192,219     $ 26,781       14 %

Gross profit percentage     74 %     73 %            

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues for fiscal 2022 increased by $7.3 million, or 10%, as compared to fiscal 2021 primarily due to 

the following:

• $0.8 million increase in stock compensation;

• $2.6 million increase related to labor, benefits and related costs; and

• $3.2 million increase in variable costs attributable to contracted services costs and other costs related to fulfilling campaigns.

56

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

83/199

Gross Profit.Our gross profit is equal to the difference between our revenues and our cost of revenues for the period. Gross profit 

percentage was 74% for fiscal 2022 compared to 73% for fiscal 2021. The increase was primarily due to the increase in revenue over 

the prior year period and the decrease in the amortization of acquired technology.

Operating Expenses and Other

 

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021    

Increase


(Decrease)    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Operating expenses:                        

Selling and marketing   $ 100,800     $ 95,757     $ 5,043       5 %

Product development     12,348       11,639       709       6  

General and administrative     31,882       34,975       (3,093 )     (9 )

Restructuring cost for a reduction in force     4,435       —       4,435       —  

Depreciation     7,218       5,634       1,584       28  

Amortization     5,624       9,860       (4,236 )     (43 )

Total operating expenses   $ 162,307     $ 157,865     $ 4,442       3 %

Interest and other expense (income), net   $ (861 )   $ 23,275     $ (24,136 )     (104 )%

Provision for income taxes   $ 15,945     $ 10,130     $ 5,815       57 %

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021    

Increase


/(Decrease)    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Operating expenses:                        

Selling and marketing   $ 100,800     $ 95,757     $ 5,043       5 %

Product development     12,348       11,639       709       6  

General and administrative     31,882       34,975       (3,093 )     (9 )

Restructuring cost for a reduction in force     4,435       —       4,435       100  

Depreciation     7,218       5,634       1,584       28  

Amortization     5,624       9,860       (4,236 )     (43 )

Total operating expenses   $ 162,307     $ 157,865     $ 4,442       3 %

Interest and other expense (income), net   $ (861 )   $ 23,275     $ (24,136 )     (104 )%

Provision for income taxes   $ 15,945     $ 10,130     $ 5,815       57 %

Selling and Marketing Marketing.. Sales and marketing costs increased by $5.0 million for in fiscal 2022 as compared to fiscal 

2021, primarily due to a $5.2 million increase in stock-based compensation expenses.
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Product Development Development. . Product development costs increased by $0.7 million in fiscal 2022 as compared to fiscal 

2021, primarily due to higher contracted services and recruiting costs.

General and Administrative Administrative. . General and administrative costs decreased by $3.1 million in fiscal 2022 as 

compared to fiscal 2021, primarily due to a $3.3 million decrease in stock-based compensation costs and a $1.3 million decrease in pay 

related expenses, offset by a $1.3 million increase in bad debt expense and increased other costs.

Restructuring cost for reduction in force force. . Restructuring cost for reduction in force consists of costs related to our December, 

2022 reduction in force, mainly labor, stock compensation and related benefits.

Depreciation Depreciation. . Depreciation expense  increased $1.6 million in fiscal 2022 increased by $1.6 million as compared to 

fiscal 2021, primarily due to increased capitalized software expenditures.
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Amortization Amortization. . Amortization expense  decreased $4.2 million in fiscal 2022 decreased by $4.2 million as compared 

to fiscal 2021, primarily due to a decrease in fair value of contingent consideration.

Interest and Other Expense (income), Net Net. . Interest and other expense (income), net, in fiscal 2022 decreased by $24.1 

million as in fiscal 2022 compared to fiscal 2021, primarily due to a $3.4 million increase in net interest income offset by a decrease in 

inducement expense of $21.2 million incurred in connection with the retirement of approximately $149.9 million aggregate principal 

amount of our 2025 Notes (the “Inducement Expense”).

Provision for Income Taxes Taxes. . Our effective tax rate was 27.7% and 91.0% for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 

2021, respectively. The lower rate in 2022 as compared to 2021 was primarily due to decrease in nondeductible inducement expense 

and UK tax rate change. The effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily due to permanent differences of non-deductible 

expenses, excess tax deductions from stock-based compensation, state income taxes, and foreign income taxes.

Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Revenues

    Years Ended December 31,  




    2021     2020     Increase    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Total revenues   $ 263,427     $ 148,376     $ 115,051       78 %

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 (“fiscal 2021”) increased by $115.1 million, or 78%, over the year ended 

December 31, 2020 (“fiscal 2020”), primarily due to the following:

• Our existing customers increased spending by approximately $37 million.

• Addition of new customers during fiscal 2021. Our customer count expanded to approximately 2,800 from approximately 1,
an increase of approximately 75%, resulting in increased revenues of approximately $28 million.

• $50.0 million of revenue related to Bright TALK, which we acquired in December 2020.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit
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    Years Ended December 31,  




    2021     2020     Increase    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Cost of revenues   $ 68,153     $ 37,344     $ 30,809       83 %

Amortization of acquired technology     3,055       —       3,055       —  

Total cost of revenues   $ 71,208     $ 37,344     $ 33,864       91 %

Gross profit   $ 192,219     $ 111,032     $ 81,187       73 %

Gross profit percentage     73 %     75 %            

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues for fiscal 2021 increased by $33.9 million, or 91%, as compared to fiscal 2020 primarily due 

to the following:

• $1.7 million increase in stock compensation;

• $3.1 million increase in amortization of intangible assets (acquired technology) in connection with recently acquired businesse

• $5.0 million increase in variable costs attributable to contracted services costs related to fulfilling campaigns; and

• $24.1 million increase attributable to recently acquired businesses.

Gross Profit. Our gross profit is equal to the difference between our revenues and our cost of revenues for the period. Gross profit 

percentage was 73% for fiscal 2021 compared to 75% for fiscal 2020. The decrease was primarily due to lower gross profit from 

recently
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acquired businesses resulting from purchase accounting adjustments to acquired deferred revenue. Had we recognized revenue based 

on the historical carrying value of the acquired unearned revenue, our gross profit would have been approximately 74%.

Operating Expenses and Other

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2021     2020     Increase    

Percent


Change  

    ($ in thousands)  

Operating expenses:                        

Selling and marketing   $ 95,757     $ 55,455     $ 40,302       73 %

Product development     11,639       7,827       3,812       49  

General and administrative     34,975       18,983       15,992       84  

Depreciation     5,634       4,809       825       17  

Amortization     9,860       1,137       8,723       767  

Total operating expenses   $ 157,865     $ 88,211     $ 69,654       79 %

Interest and other expense, net   $ 23,275     $ 317     $ 22,958       7242 %

Provision for income taxes   $ 10,130     $ 5,436     $ 4,694       86 %
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Selling and Marketing. Sales and marketing costs increased by $40.3 million for fiscal 2021 as compared to the fiscal 2020 

primarily as a result of an increase in headcount and salaries, related to our acquisitions, and other related costs (including an increase 

in stock compensation of $8.0 million).

Product Development. Product development costs increased by $3.8 million in fiscal 2021 as compared to fiscal 2020. Pay and 

benefit costs increased by $1.3 million, primarily due to our increased headcount associated with our acquisitions. Additionally, the 

stock-based compensation costs increased by $1.2 million, primarily due to increase in stock price and the additional awards to new 

employees following our recent acquisitions.

General and Administrative. General and administrative costs increased by $16.0 million in fiscal 2021 as compared to fiscal 

2020, primarily due to a $10.8 million increase in stock-based compensation and labor related expenses also increased $4.1 million.

Depreciation. Depreciation expense in fiscal 2021 increased by $0.8 million as compared to fiscal 2020, primarily due to 

increased capital expenditures.

Amortization. Amortization expense in fiscal 2021 increased by $8.7 million as compared to fiscal 2020, primarily due to 

intangible assets acquired in 2020 and 2021 and changes to contingent consideration from certain of our acquisitions.

Interest and Other Expense, Net.Interest and other expense, net in fiscal 2021 increased by $23.0 million as compared to fiscal 

2020, primarily due to the increase in inducement expense of $21.2 million incurred in connection with the Inducement Expense.

Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate was 91.0% and 24.2% for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively. The higher rate in 2021 as compared to 2020 was primarily due to increases in non-deductible expenses, driven mainly by 

the non-deductible Inducement Expense, and offset, in part, by an increase in excess tax benefits of stock-based compensation. The 

effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily due to permanent differences of non-deductible expenses, excess tax 

deductions from stock-based compensation, state income taxes, and foreign income taxes.

Impact of Acquisitions

The comparability of our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2021 was impacted by our acquisitions, including 

the acquisition of BrightTALK Limited in December 2020.

Seasonality

The timing of our revenues is affected by seasonal factors. Our revenues are seasonal primarily as a result of the annual budget 

approval process of many of our customers, the normal timing at which our customers introduce new products, and the historical 

decrease in advertising in summer months. The timing of revenues in relation to our expenses, much of which do not vary directly with 

revenues, has an impact on the cost of revenues, selling and marketing, product development, and general and administrative 

expenses as a percentage of revenues in each calendar quarter during the year.
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The majority of our expenses are personnel-related and include salaries, stock-based compensation, benefits and incentive-

based compensation plan expenses. As a result, we have not experienced significant seasonal fluctuations in the timing of our 

expenses period to period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Resources

Our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 totaled $364.7 million $326.3 

million, a $17.0 million $38.5 million decrease from December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, primarily driven by cash utilized in investing 

and financing activities, which primarily consisted of purchases of shares of our purchase common stock and of treasury shares certain 

of our 2025 Notes under stock buyback programs our repurchase program entered into during 2022, offset in part by cash generated 

from our operations. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and investments, short-investments, and our cash flow from 

operating activities will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the next 12 months and beyond.

Our future working capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the operations of our existing business, our 

potential strategic expansion internationally, future acquisitions we might undertake and any expansion into complementary businesses. 

To the extent that our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and cash flow from operating activities are insufficient to fund 

our future activities, we may raise additional funds through additional bank credit arrangements or public or private equity or debt 

financings. We may also raise additional funds in financings with certain of the event foregoing actions, if we determine in were to move 

forward with them, we would be required to obtain Informa’s approval under the future Transaction Agreement, subject to effect 

one certain exceptions. In addition, we and New TechTarget are obligated under the Transaction Agreement to use our reasonable best 

efforts to enter into a revolving credit facility or more additional acquisitions other senior lending facility, which shall be entered into prior 

to (but effective upon) the closing of businesses. the proposed transaction, with commitments of at least $250,000,000 to be used 

(together with our and our subsidiaries available cash on hand) to satisfy our obligations under the Notes and for general working 

capital purposes.

 

 As of December 31,   As of December 31,  

 2022     2021     2020   2023     2022     2021  

Cash, cash equivalents and investments

$

364,73

3     $

381,69

9     $

82,70

0  

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term 

investments $ 326,269     $ 364,733     $ 381,699  

Accounts receivable, net

$ 60,359     $ 51,095     $

40,18

3   $ 39,239     $ 60,359     $ 51,095  

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments
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Our cash, cash equivalents and investments at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 were held for working capital purposes 

and were invested primarily in pooled bond funds. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Our accounts receivable balance fluctuates from period to period, which affects our cash flows from operating activities. The 

fluctuations vary depending on the timing of our service delivery and billing activity, cash collections, and changes to our allowance for 

doubtful accounts. We use days sales outstanding (“DSO”) as a measurement of the quality and status of our receivables. We define 

DSO as net accounts receivable at quarter end divided by total revenues for the applicable period, multiplied by the number of days in 

the applicable period. DSO was 63 days at December 31, 2023, 76 days at December 31, 2022,  and 60 days at December 31, 2021 

and 57 days at December 31, 2020. The net accounts receivable days for 2020 exclude our December 2020 acquisitions. The change 

in DSO year over year is primarily due to the timing of payments from all classes of customers.

Cash Flows

 

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021     2020  

    (in thousands)  

Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 90,702     $ 81,699     $ 52,453  

Net cash used in investing activities   $ (14,450 )   $ (56,984 )   $ (175,747 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   $ (92,958 )   $ 254,459     $ 153,366  

 

Cash Flows

58

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2023     2022     2021  

    (in thousands)  

Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 72,489     $ 90,702     $ 81,699  

Net cash used in investing activities   $ (93,021 )   $ (14,450 )   $ (56,984 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   $ (98,138 )   $ (92,958 )   $ 254,459  

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities primarily consists of net income adjusted for certain non-cash items including depreciation 

and amortization, the provision for bad debt, stock-based compensation, deferred income taxes, and the effect of changes in working 
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capital and other activities.

The decrease in cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2023 compared to fiscal 2022 was primarily the result of a

decrease in net income of $37.1 million, a change in non-cash stock compensation of $4.1 million, a $2.8 million change in depreciation 

and amortization expense, a $5.0 million gain related to the repurchase of certain of our outstanding 2025 Notes, and an increase of 

$17.0 million due to changes in operating assets, liabilities, and non-cash expenses, primarily driven by a $31.7 million change in 

accounts receivable, offset by a $10.2 million change in contract liabilities and a $11.2 million change in income taxes payable and 

other current liabilities

The increase in cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2022 compared to fiscal 2021 was primarily the result of increases 

in net income of $40.7 million, increases a change in non-cash stock compensation of $5.0 million, a $2.1 million decrease change in 

depreciation and amortization expense, a $21.2 million decrease in induced conversion expense and a decrease of $13.3 million due to 

changes in operating assets, liabilities, and non-cash expenses, primarily driven by a $17.1 million decrease change in contract 

liabilities offset by a $9.3 million increase change in accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

49

The increase in cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020 was primarily the result of 

increases changes in non-cash stock compensation of $21.7 million, a $13.5 million increase change in depreciation and amortization 

expense, a $21.2 million increase in induced conversion expense and changes in operating assets and liabilities, primarily driven by a 

$13.8 million decrease change in accrued expenses and related liabilities.

The increase in cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019 was primarily the result of increases 

in non-cash stock compensation of $2.6 million, a $1.9 million increase in depreciation and amortization expense and changes in 

operating assets and liabilities, primarily driven by a $7.0 million increase in accrued expenses and a $2.9 million increase in other 

liabilities.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2023 was $93.0 million; which consisted of $14.7 million for the 

purchase of property and equipment and other capitalized assets, primarily made up of computer equipment and related software and 

internal-use development costs and $78.4 million for the acquisition of certain investment holdings.

Cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2022 was $14.5 million; which consisted of $14.0 million for the 

purchase of property and equipment and other capitalized assets, primarily made up of computer equipment and related software and 

internal-use development costs and $0.4 million for the acquisition of certain investment holdings.

Cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2021 was $57.0 million; which consisted of $12.6 million for the 

purchase of property and equipment and other capitalized assets, primarily made up of computer equipment and related software and 

internal-use development costs, $20 million for the acquisition of certain investment holdings, and $24.3 million for the purchase of 

Xtelligent Healthcare Media, LLC during July 2021.

Cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2020 was $175.7 million; which consisted of $6.7 million for 

the purchase of property and equipment and other capitalized assets, primarily made up of computer equipment and related 
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software and internal-use development costs, and $174.0 million for the purchase of various businesses during 2020, offset in 

part by $5.0 million from sales of short-term investments.

Capital Expenditures. 

We have made capital expenditures primarily for computer equipment and related software needed to host our websites, internal-

use software development costs, as well as for leasehold improvements and other general purposes to support our growth. Our capital 

expenditures totaled $14.0 million $14.7 million, $12.6 million $14.0 million, and $6.7 million $12.6 million for the years ended December 

31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020, 2021, respectively. A majority of our capital expenditures in 2023, 2022, 2021, and 

2020 2021 were internal-use software and website development costs and, to a lesser extent, computer equipment and related 

software.

We anticipate that we will spend approximately $15 million in capital expenditures in 2023, primarily for capitalized internal-use 

software and website development costs of $14.2 million, $12.9 million and computer equipment $11.5 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, 2022, and related software. 2021, respectively. We are not currently party to any purchase contracts related to 

future capital expenditures. We believe we can fund these future additions through cash generated from operations.

59

Financing Activities

We utilized $79 million $50 million, $0 million $79 million, and $14.8 million $0.0 million for repurchase of shares under our stock 

repurchase programs in 2023, 2022, 2021, and 2020, 2021, respectively, as well as $9.4 million $42.6 million related to the repurchase 

of certain of our 2025 Notes in 2023, $4.6 million, $0.4 million $9.4 million, and $3.5 million $0.4 million related to tax withholdings on net 

share settlements in 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. During 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, we respectively. We paid earnout 

liabilities of $2.3 million, $5.2 million, and $1.1 million. No earnout liabilities were paid out in 2020. , during 2023, 2022, and 2021, 

respectively.

During 2021, we received net proceeds from our 2026 Notes offering of approximately $414 million, offset by $147 million used 

for repurchase and conversion of a portion of the outstanding 2025 Notes.

Common Stock Repurchase Programs

On November 7, 2018, we announced a stock repurchase program (the “November 2018 Stock Repurchase Program”) whereby 

we were authorized to repurchase up to an aggregate amount of $25.0 million of the shares of our common stock from time to time on 

the open market or in privately negotiated transactions at prices and in a manner that may be determined by management. We 

repurchased 736,760 shares at an aggregate purchase price of $14.8 million at an average share price of $20.10 during the year ended 

December 31, 2020, under the November 2018 Stock Repurchase Program. We terminated the November 2018 Stock Repurchase 

Program in May 2020.
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In May 2020, we announced that our board of directors had authorized a $25.0 million stock repurchase program (the “May 2020 

Repurchase Program”) whereby we were authorized to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time on the open market 

or in privately negotiated transactions at prices and in the manner determined by management. We repurchased 206,114 shares at an 

aggregate purchase price of $14.2 million at an average share price of $68.82 under the May 2020 Repurchase Program during 2022.

50

No amounts were repurchased under this program during 2021. The May 2020 Repurchase Program expired on May 1, 2022, with 

$10.8 million in authorized remaining capacity..

In May 2022, we announced that our board of directors had authorized a stock repurchase program (the “May 2022 Repurchase 

Program”) whereby we were authorized to repurchase shares of our common stock having an aggregate purchase prices of up to $50.0 

million from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions at prices and in the manner determined by 

management. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we repurchased 836,329 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $50.0 

million at an average share price of $59.77 under the May 2022 Repurchase Program. As of December 31, 2022, no amounts remained 

available under the May 2022 Repurchase Program.

In November 2022, we announced that our board of directors had authorized a new repurchase program (the “November 2022 

Repurchase Program”) whereby we are authorized to repurchase shares of our common stock and convertible senior notes having an 

aggregate purchase price of up to $200.0 million from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions at prices 

and in the manner determined by management over the next two years. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased 

1,318,664 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $50.0 million at an average share price of $37.90 under the November 2022 

Repurchase Program and $42.6 million of certain of our 2025 Notes. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we repurchased 

341,783 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $14.9 million at an average share price of $43.55 under the November 2022 

Repurchase Program. We did not repurchase any convertible senior notes during the year ended December 31, 2022. As of December 

31, 2022 December 31, 2023, $185.1 million $92.9 million remained available under the November 2022 Repurchase Program.We are 

restricted from making any repurchases during the period between the execution of the Transaction Agreement and the closing of the 

proposed transaction without Informa’s approval.

Repurchased shares were recorded under the cost method and are reflected as treasury stock in the accompanying 

Consolidated Balance Sheets. All repurchased shares were funded with cash on hand (see Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial 

Statements).

Convertible Senior Notes and Contractual Commitments

In December 2021, we issued $414 million in aggregate principal amount of 0.00% convertible senior notes (“2026 Notes”) due 

December 15, 2026, unless earlier repurchased by us or converted by the holder pursuant to their terms. Special interest, if any, is 

payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year.

The 2026 Notes are governed by an indenture between us, as issuer, and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as 

trustee. The 2026 Notes are unsecured and rank senior in right of payment to our future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in 

right of payment to the 2026 Notes and equal in right of payment to our unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated.

Upon conversion, we will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and 

shares of common stock, at our election.
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The 2026 Notes have an initial conversion rate of 7.6043 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2026 Notes. 

This represents an initial effective conversion price of approximately $131.50 per share of common stock and 3,148,180 shares 

issuable upon conversion. Throughout the term of the 2026 Notes, the conversion rate may be adjusted upon the occurrence of certain 

events. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, no such adjustment has occurred. Holders of the 2026 Notes will not receive any 

cash payment representing accrued and unpaid interest, if any, upon conversion of a 2026 Note.

60

Proceeds from the 2026 Notes were utilized to retire $149.9 million of the 2025 Notes and for general corporate purposes.

In December 2020, we issued $201.3 million in aggregate principal amount of 0.125% convertible senior notes (the “2025 Notes”) 

due December 15, 2025, unless earlier repurchased by us or converted by the holder pursuant to their terms. Interest is payable 

semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, which commenced on June 15, 2021.

The 2025 Notes are governed by an indenture between us, as issuer, and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as 

trustee. The 2025 Notes are unsecured and rank senior in right of payment to our future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in 

right of payment to the Notes and equal in right of payment to our unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated.

Upon conversion, we will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and 

shares of common stock, at our election.

The 2025 Notes have an initial conversion rate of 14.1977 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes. 

This represents an initial effective conversion price of approximately $70.43 per share of common stock and 2,857,447 shares issuable 

upon conversion of the full aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Notes. Throughout the term of the 2025 Notes, the conversion rate 

may be adjusted upon the occurrence of certain events. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, no such adjustment has 

occurred. Holders of the 2025 Notes will not receive any cash payment representing accrued and unpaid interest, if any, upon 

conversion of a Note, except in limited circumstances. Accrued but unpaid interest will be deemed to be paid by cash, shares of our 

common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock paid or delivered, as the case may be, to the holder upon 

conversion of the Notes.

51

After the induced conversion of $149.9 million aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Notes in December 2021, approximately 

$51 million of aggregate principal of 2025 Notes remain outstanding. After the purchase agreement of an aggregate of $48.3 million 

aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Notes in August 2023, approximately $3 million of aggregate principal of 2025 Notes remain 

outstanding. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 729,533 43,163 shares were issuable upon conversion of the full aggregate 

principal amounts of such remaining 2025 Notes.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our principal contractual commitments consist of obligations under leases for 

office space and our Convertible Debt. The offices are leased under non-cancelable operating lease agreements that expire through 
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2029.

We and New TechTarget are obligated under the Transaction Agreement to use our reasonable best efforts to enter into a 

revolving credit facility or other senior lending facility, which shall be entered into prior to (but effective upon) the closing of the proposed 

transaction, with commitments of at least $250,000,000 to be used (together with our and our subsidiaries available cash on hand) to 

satisfy our obligations under the Notes and for general working capital purposes.

See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the Notes and Note 10 to our Consolidated 

Financial Statements for further information with respect to our operating leases.

Line of Credit

On October 29, 2021, we entered into the 2021 Loan Agreement with Western Alliance Bank. The 2021 Loan Agreement 

provides for a $75 million revolving credit facility with a $5 million letter-of-credit sublimit and a maturity date of October 29, 2023. The 

2021 Loan Agreement is secured by substantially all of our assets. Borrowings under the 2021 Loan Agreement bear interest at a rate 

equal to one (1) month U.S. LIBOR, plus a spread based upon our leverage (as defined by 2021 Loan Agreement), which may vary 

between 2.00% and 2.75%. As of December 31, 2022, the interest rate was 7.14%. The 2021 Loan Agreement is subject to various 

leverage and non-financial covenants. No amounts were outstanding under the 2021 Loan Agreement as of December 31, 2022.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for recent accounting pronouncements that could have an effect on us.
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Item 7A.	 Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices 

and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. We do not hold or 

issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We currently have subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, Hong Kong, Australia, Singapore, Germany and France. Approximately 

25% 24% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 were derived from customers with billing 

addresses outside of the United States and our foreign exchange gains/losses were not significant. Currently, our largest foreign 

currency exposures are the euro and British pound. We performed a sensitivity analysis on the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations 

on our operating income, based on our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. For the year ended 
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December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we estimate that a 10% unfavorable movement in foreign currency exchange rates would 

have decreased operating income by less than $450 $860 thousand assuming that all currencies moved in the same direction at the 

same time and a constant ratio of non-U.S. dollar denominated revenue and expenses to U.S. dollar denominated revenue and 

expenses. Since a portion of our revenue is deferred revenue that is recorded at different foreign currency exchange rates, the impact 

to revenue of a change in foreign currency exchange rates is recognized over time, and the impact to expenses is more immediate, as 

expenses are recognized at the current foreign currency exchange rate in effect at the time the expense is incurred. We currently 

believe our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations is financially immaterial and therefore have not entered into foreign 

currency hedging transactions.

We continue to review this issue and may consider hedging certain foreign exchange risks through the use of currency futures or 

options in the future. The volatility of exchange rates depends on many factors that we cannot forecast with reliable accuracy. Our 

continued international expansion increases our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations and as a result such fluctuations could have a 

significant impact on our future results of operations.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling $364.7 

million $326.3 million. The cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments were held for working capital purposes. We do not enter 

into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Due to the short-term nature of these investments, we believe that we do not have 

any material exposure to changes in the fair value of our investment portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in 

interest rates, however, would reduce future investment income. Our 2025 Notes bear interest at a fixed rate. Our line of credit 

agreement, which we currently do not have any amounts outstanding, bears interest at LIBOR, or its replacement rate, plus 2.0% to 

2.75%.

Inflation

Although we cannot accurately anticipate the future effect of inflation on our financial condition or results of operations, inflation 

historically has not had a material impact on our operations. If our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we 

may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases for services. Our inability to do so could harm our business, 

financial condition or results of operations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

TechTarget, Inc.

Newton, Massachusetts

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TechTarget, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 

31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income (loss), 

stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and 

the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). We also 

have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 based on criteria
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established in Internal Control —Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission (“COSO”).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of 

the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 

control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — 

Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinion

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for convertible notes 

as of January 1, 2020 due to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Update 2020-06, Debt – 

Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic

815-40).

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for the consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over 

financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express 

an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial 

reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 

applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits 

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such 

procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting 

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included 

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 

basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 

financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 

maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 

company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
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made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 

regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a 

material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

55

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in 

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were 

communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material

64

to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical 

audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating 

the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they 

relate.

Revenue Recognition - Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company derives revenues primarily from the sale of targeted marketing and advertising campaigns. The Company’s product 

offerings can be sold on a stand-alone basis or together as part of a bundled offering, resulting in multiple performance obligations 

under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation within 

a campaign and the timing of revenue recognition requires management’s judgment and is susceptible to management override of 

control.

Given the accounting complexity and the management judgment necessary to identify performance obligations in the campaigns and 

determine the timing of revenue in campaigns with multiple performance obligations, auditing revenue recognition for such campaigns 

required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the recognition of revenue from multiple-performance-obligation campaigns included the following, 

among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of controls over revenue recognition, including those over the identification of performa
obligations included in the transaction, the allocation of transaction price to these performance obligations, and the timin
revenue recognition.

• We evaluated the Company’s accounting policies in the context of the applicable accounting standards.
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• We selected a sample of revenue campaigns, including those campaigns that we considered individually significant, 
performed the following:

o We obtained related contracts and evaluated whether the contracts properly documented the terms of the campaig
accordance with the Company’s policies.

o We tested evaluated management’s identification of distinct performance obligations by evaluating whether the under
goods, services, or both were highly interdependent and interrelated.

o We evaluated whether the Company appropriately determined all performance obligations in the campaign and whethe
methodology to allocate the transaction price to the individual performance obligation was appropriately applied base
their stand-alone selling prices.

o We compared the transaction price to the consideration expected to be received based on current rights and obligat
under the contracts and any modifications that were agreed upon with the customers.

o We evaluated whether the value allocated to each performance obligation was appropriately recognized in the co
accounting period.

o We obtained evidence of delivery of the performance obligations of the campaign to the customer.
/s/ Stowe & Degon, LLC

Westborough, Massachusetts

February 28, 2023 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
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TechTarget, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

  

December 

31,     December 31,  

   2022     2021     2023     2022  

Assets                        

Current assets:                        

Cash and cash equivalents

  $

34

4,5

23     $

36

1,6

23     $ 226,668     $ 344,523  

Short-term investments

   

20,

21

0      

20,

07

6       99,601       20,210  
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Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,494 and 

$2,514, respectively

   

60,

35

9      

51,

09

5  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $5,028 and 

$4,494 respectively     39,239       60,359  

Prepaid taxes     —       51       1,634       —  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

   

5,7

45      

5,2

66       4,331       5,745  

Total current assets

   

43

0,8

37      

43

8,1

11       371,473       430,837  

Property and equipment, net

   

22,

50

7      

18,

72

0       24,917       22,507  

Goodwill

   

19

2,2

27      

19

7,0

73       194,074       192,227  

Intangible assets, net

   

95,

51

7      

11

0,3

90       89,163       95,517  

Operating lease assets with right-of-use

   

20,

03

9      

23,

33

9       17,166       20,039  

Deferred tax assets

   

2,9

45      

47

4       2,445       2,945  

Other assets

   

64

5      

89

3       650       645  

Total assets

  $

76

4,7

17     $

78

9,0

00     $ 699,888     $ 764,717  

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity                        

Current liabilities:                        

Accounts payable

  $

3,2

98     $

3,7

83     $ 5,312     $ 3,298  

Current operating lease liabilities

   

4,0

99      

4,0

73       4,049       4,099  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

   

10,

93

5      

16,

63

8       9,041       10,935  

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

100/199

Accrued compensation expenses

   

4,6

43      

14,

54

0       1,345       4,643  

Income taxes payable

   

7,8

27      

47

4       2,522       7,827  

Contract liabilities

   

27,

08

6      

30,

49

2       14,721       27,086  

Total current liabilities

   

57,

88

8      

70,

00

0       36,990       57,888  

Non-current operating lease liabilities

   

20,

37

1      

24,

02

1       16,615       20,371  

Convertible senior notes

   

45

5,6

94      

45

3,1

94       410,500       455,694  

Other liabilities

    —      

2,7

79  

Deferred tax liabilities

   

13,

29

0      

16,

24

9       12,856       13,290  

Total liabilities

   

54

7,2

43      

56

6,2

43       476,961       547,243  

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 10)                        

Stockholders’ equity:                        

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no 

shares issued or outstanding     —       —       —       —  

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 

57,919,501 and 57,144,740 shares issued, respectively; 29,023,093 and 

29,633,898 shares outstanding, respectively     58       57  

Treasury stock, at cost; 28,896,408 and 27,510,842 shares, respectively

   

(27

8,8

76 )    

(19

9,7

96 )

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 

58,659,065 and 57,919,501 shares issued, respectively; 28,415,144 and 

29,023,093 shares outstanding, respectively     59       58  

Treasury stock, at cost; 30,243,921 and 28,896,408 shares, respectively     (329,118 )     (278,876 )
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Additional paid-in capital

   

42

5,4

58      

38

3,4

36       471,696       425,458  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

   

(9,

53

7 )    

29

8  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (4,542 )     (9,537 )

Retained earnings

   

80,

37

1      

38,

76

2       84,832       80,371  

Total stockholders’ equity

   

21

7,4

74      

22

2,7

57       222,927       217,474  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

  $

76

4,7

17     $

78

9,0

00     $ 699,888     $ 764,717  

 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TechTarget, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(in thousands, except per share data)

 

  

For the Years Ended 

December 31,     For the Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  

Revenues:                     $ 229,963     $ 297,488     $ 263,427  

Total revenues

  $

297

,48

8     $

263,

427     $

148,

376  

Cost of revenues:                                    
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Cost of revenues(1)

   

75,

740      

68,1

53      

37,3

44       72,776       75,740       68,153  

Amortization of acquired technology

   

2,7

48      

3,05

5       —       2,761       2,748       3,055  

Gross profit

   

219

,00

0      

192,

219      

111,

032       154,426       219,000       192,219  

Operating expenses:                                    

Selling and marketing(1)

   

100

,80

0      

95,7

57      

55,4

55       97,161       100,800       95,757  

Product development(1)

   

12,

348      

11,6

39      

7,82

7       10,911       12,348       11,639  

General and administrative(1)

   

31,

882      

34,9

75      

18,9

83       34,097       31,882       34,975  

Restructuring cost for a reduction in force(1)

   

4,4

35       —       —       —       4,435       —  

Depreciation, excluding depreciation of $2,758, 

$1,901, $991 included in cost of revenues    

7,2

18      

5,63

4      

4,80

9  

Depreciation, excluding depreciation of $3,846, 

$2,758, $1,901 included in cost of revenues     8,527       7,218       5,634  

Amortization

   

5,6

24      

9,86

0      

1,13

7       5,999       5,624       9,860  

Total operating expenses

   

162

,30

7      

157,

865      

88,2

11       156,695       162,307       157,865  

Operating income

   

56,

693      

34,3

54      

22,8

21  

Operating income (loss)     (2,269 )     56,693       34,354  

Interest and other income (expense), net

    861      

(23,

275 )     (317 )     11,655       861       (23,275 )

Gain from early extinguishment of debt     5,033       —       —  

Income before provision for income taxes

   

57,

554      

11,0

79      

22,5

04       14,419       57,554       11,079  

Provision for income taxes

   

15,

945      

10,1

30      

5,43

6       9,958       15,945       10,130  

Net income

  $

41,

609     $ 949     $

17,0

68     $ 4,461     $ 41,609     $ 949  

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:                                    
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Unrealized loss on investments (net of tax provision 

effect of $64, $3, and $0, respectively)   $

(22

5 )   $ (11 )   $ —  

Unrealized income (loss) on investments (net of tax 

provision effect of $(228), $64, and $3, respectively)   $ 808     $ (225 )   $ (11 )

Foreign currency translation gain (loss)

   

(9,6

10 )    

(1,3

02 )    

1,93

0       4,187       (9,610 )     (1,302 )

Other comprehensive income (loss)

   

(9,8

35 )    

(1,3

13 )    

1,93

0       4,995       (9,835 )     (1,313 )

Comprehensive income (loss)

  $

31,

774     $

(36

4 )   $

18,9

98     $ 9,456     $ 31,774     $ (364 )

Net income per common share:                            

Basic

  $

1.4

1     $ 0.03     $ 0.61     $ 0.16     $ 1.41     $ 0.03  

Diluted

  $

1.3

0     $ 0.03     $ 0.61     $ 0.16     $ 1.30     $ 0.03  

Weighted average common shares outstanding:                                    

Basic

   

29,

589      

28,4

34      

27,8

55       28,328       29,589       28,434  

Diluted

   

34,

072      

29,4

74      

28,6

75       28,495       34,072       29,474  

(1) Amounts include stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 

Cost of revenues   $ 2,978     $ 2,147     $ 410  

Selling and marketing     23,803       18,542       10,560  

Product development     1,617       1,729       550  

General and administrative     12,814       16,070       5,289  

Restructuring cost for a reduction in force     2,295       —       —  

Cost of revenues   $ 3,419     $ 2,978     $ 2,147  

Selling and marketing     29,245       23,803       18,542  

Product development     1,748       1,617       1,729  

General and administrative     13,236       12,814       16,070  

Restructuring cost for a reduction in force     —       2,295       —  

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TechTarget, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

 

  

Common 

Stock    

Treasury 

Stock    

Ad

diti

ona

l    

Acc

um

ulat

ed


Oth

er    

Tot

al    

Tot

al     Common Stock     Treasury Stock     Additional    

Accumulated


Other           Total  

  

Nu

mb

er 

of


Sh

are

s    

$0.

001


Par 

Val

ue    

Nu

mb

er 

of


Sh

are

s    

Cos

t    

Pai

d-In


Cap

ital    

Co

mpr

ehe

nsi

ve


Inc

om

e 

(Lo

ss)    

Ret

ain

ed


Ear

nin

gs    

Sto

ckh

old

ers’


Equ

ity    

Number of


Shares    

$0.001


Par 

Value    

Number of


Shares     Cost    

Paid-In


Capital    

Comprehensive


Income (Loss)    

Retained


Earnings    

Stockholders’


Equity  

Balance, 

December 31, 

2019

   

5

4,

9

0

3,

8

2

4     $

5

5      

2

6,

7

6

1,

3

0

5     $

(1

8

4,

9

7

2 )   $

3

1

7,

6

7

5     $

(3

1

9 )   $

2

0,

5

1

2     $

1

5

2,

9

5

1  

Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

exercise of 

options
   

5

0,

0

0

0       1       —       —      

5

5

0       —       —      

5

5

1  
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Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

restricted 

stock awards

   

6

6

6,

8

4

4       —       —       —       —       —       —       —  

Purchase of 

common 

stock through 

stock 

buyback

    —       —      

7

3

6,

7

6

0      

(1

4,

8

2

4 )     —       —       —      

(1

4,

8

2

4 )

Impact of net 

settlements

   

1

2,

4

8

7       —      

1

2,

4

8

7       —      

(3

,5

3

9 )     —       —      

(3

,5

3

9 )

Deferred tax 

effect from 

Convertible 

Debt

    —       —       —       —      

(1

0,

5

5

9 )     —       —      

(1

0,

5

5

9 )

Stock-based 

compensation 

expense(1)

    —       —       —       —      

1

7,

8

6

9       —       —      

1

7,

8

6

9  

Equity 

component of 

convertible 

senior notes

    —       —       —       —      

4

1,

0

5

9       —       —      

4

1,

0

5

9  

Unrealized 

gain on 

foreign 

currency 

exchange     —       —       —       —       —      

1,

9

3

0       —      

1,

9

3

0  
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Net income

    —       —       —       —       —       —      

1

7,

0

6

8      

1

7,

0

6

8  

Balance, 

December 31, 

2020

   

5

5,

6

3

3,

1

5

5     $

5

6      

2

7,

5

1

0,

5

5

2     $

(1

9

9,

7

9

6 )   $

3

6

3,

0

5

5     $

1,

6

1

1     $

3

7,

5

8

0     $

2

0

2,

5

0

6       55,633,155     $ 56       27,510,552     $ (199,796 )   $ 363,055     $ 1,611     $ 37,580     $ 202,506  

Reclassificati

on due to the 

adoption of 

ASU 2020-06

    —       —       —       —      

(3

0,

5

0

0 )     —      

2

3

3      

(3

0,

2

6

7 )     —       —       —       —       (30,500 )     —       233       (30,267 )

Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

exercise of 

options    

2,

5

0

0       —       —       —      

1

6       —       —      

1

6       2,500       —       —       —       16       —       —       16  

Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

restricted 

stock awards

   

6

9

7,

6

0

6       —       —       —       —       —       —       —       697,606       —       —       —       —       —       —       —  

Registration 

fees     —       —       —       —      

(2

9 )     —       —      

(2

9 )     —       —       —       —       (29 )     —       —       (29 )

Impact of net 

settlements

   

2

9

0       —      

2

9

0       —      

(3

7

0 )     —       —      

(3

7

0 )     290       —       290       —       (370 )     —       —       (370 )
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Issuance of 

common 

stock in 

connection 

with 

repurchase, 

conversion 

and 

inducement of 

convertible 

senior notes    

8

1

1,

1

8

9       1       —       —      

1

9,

9

4

8       —       —      

1

9,

9

4

9       811,189       1       —       —       19,948       —       —       19,949  

Deferred tax 

effect from 

Convertible 

Debt
    —       —       —       —      

1,

0

3

1       —       —      

1,

0

3

1       —       —       —       —       1,031       —       —       1,031  

Stock-based 

compensation 

expense(1)

    —       —       —       —      

3

0,

2

8

5       —       —      

3

0,

2

8

5       —       —       —       —       30,285       —       —       30,285  

Unrealized 

loss on 

investments     —       —       —       —       —      

(1

1 )     —      

(1

1 )     —       —       —       —       —       (11 )     —       (11 )

Unrealized 

loss on 

foreign 

currency 

exchange     —       —       —       —       —      

(1

,3

0

2 )     —      

(1

,3

0

2 )     —       —       —       —       —       (1,302 )     —       (1,302 )

Net income

    —       —       —       —       —       —      

9

4

9      

9

4

9       —       —       —       —       —       —       949       949  

Balance, 

December 31, 

2021

   

5

7,

1

4

4,

7

4

0     $

5

7      

2

7,

5

1

0,

8

4

2     $

(1

9

9,

7

9

6 )   $

3

8

3,

4

3

6     $

2

9

8     $

3

8,

7

6

2     $

2

2

2,

7

5

7       57,144,740       57       27,510,842       (199,796 )     383,436       298       38,762       222,757  
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Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

exercise of 

options
   

2

7,

5

0

0       —       —       —      

3

9

1       —       —      

3

9

1       27,500       —       —       —       391       —       —       391  

Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

restricted 

stock awards

   

7

3

6,

7

7

8       1       —       —       —       —       —       1       736,778       1       —       —       —       —       —       1  

Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

employee 

stock 

purchase plan    

9,

1

4

3       —       —       —      

3

5

5       —       —      

3

5

5       9,143       —       —       —       355       —       —       355  

Purchase of 

common 

stock through 

stock 

buyback

    —       —      

1,

3

8

4,

2

2

6      

(7

9,

0

8

0 )     —       —       —      

(7

9,

0

8

0 )     —       —       1,384,226       (79,080 )     —       —       —       (79,080 )

Impact of net 

settlements

   

1,

3

4

0       —      

1,

3

4

0       —      

(9

,4

1

8 )     —       —      

(9

,4

1

8 )     1,340       —       1,340       —       (9,418 )     —       —       (9,418 )

Stock-based 

compensation 

expense(1)

    —       —       —       —      

5

0,

6

9

4       —       —      

5

0,

6

9

4       —       —       —       —       50,694       —       —       50,694  

Unrealized 

loss on 

investments
    —       —       —       —       —      

(2

2

5 )     —      

(2

2

5 )     —       —       —       —       —       (225 )     —       (225 )
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Unrealized 

loss on 

foreign 

currency 

exchange     —       —       —       —       —      

(9

,6

1

0 )     —      

(9

,6

1

0 )     —       —       —       —       —       (9,610 )     —       (9,610 )

Net income

    —       —       —       —       —       —      

4

1,

6

0

9      

4

1,

6

0

9       —       —       —       —       —       —       41,609       41,609  

Balance, 

December 31, 

2022

   

5

7,

9

1

9,

5

0

1     $

5

8      

2

8,

8

9

6,

4

0

8     $

(2

7

8,

8

7

6 )   $

4

2

5,

4

5

8     $

(9

,5

3

7 )   $

8

0,

3

7

1     $

2

1

7,

4

7

4       57,919,501       58       28,896,408       (278,876 )     425,458       (9,537 )     80,371       217,474  

Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

exercise of 

options     2,500       —       —       —       18       —       —       18  

Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

restricted 

stock awards     662,914       1       —       —       (1 )     —       —       —  

Issuance of 

common 

stock from 

employee 

stock 

purchase plan     45,301       —       —       —       1,236       —       —       1,236  

Purchase of 

common 

stock through 

stock 

buyback     —       —       1,318,664       (50,242 )     —       —       —       (50,242 )
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Impact of net 

settlements     28,849       —       28,849       —       (4,564 )     —       —       (4,564 )

Stock-based 

compensation 

expense(1)     —       —       —       —       49,549       —       —       49,549  

Unrealized 

gain on 

investments     —       —       —       —       —       808       —       808  

Unrealized 

gain on 

foreign 

currency 

exchange     —       —       —       —       —       4,187       —       4,187  

Net income     —       —       —       —       —       —       4,461       4,461  

Balance, 

December 31, 

2023     58,659,065     $ 59       30,243,921     $ (329,118 )   $ 471,696     $ (4,542 )   $ 84,832     $ 222,927  

(1) Excludes $1.9 0 million, , $9.1 1.9 million, and $0.8 9.1 million of accrued compensation expense that has not been issued for the years 

ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020, 2021, respectively.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TechTarget, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

 

    For the Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021     2020  

Operating Activities:                  

Net income   $ 41,609     $ 949     $ 17,068  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities:                  

Depreciation     9,976       7,535       5,800  
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Amortization     8,372       12,915       1,137  

Provision for bad debt     2,239       904       218  

Stock-based compensation     43,507       38,550       16,809  

Amortization of debt issuance costs     2,500       1,364       47  

Deferred tax provision     (4,205 )     2,849       (203 )

Induced conversion expenses     —       21,229     —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                  

Accounts receivable     (12,463 )     (11,820 )     97  

Operating lease assets with right of use     2,895       1,738       2,757  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (427 )     (1,175 )     (260 )

Other assets     225       91       850  

Accounts payable     (401 )     (517 )     1,222  

Income taxes payable     5,818       1,526       633  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     1,755       (7,586 )     6,213  

Accrued compensation expenses     (2,599 )     12       322  

Operating lease liabilities with right of use     (2,975 )     (1,483 )     (3,110 )

Contract liabilities     (2,345 )     14,806       (118 )

Other liabilities     (2,779 )     (188 )     2,971  

Net cash provided by operating activities     90,702       81,699       52,453  

                   

Investing activities:                  

Purchases of property and equipment, and other capitalized assets     (14,028 )     (12,631 )     (6,660 )

Purchases of investments     (422 )     (20,007 )     (111 )

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments     —     —       5,042  

Acquisitions of business, net of acquired cash     —       (24,346 )     (174,018 )

Net cash used in investing activities     (14,450 )     (56,984 )     (175,747 )

                   

Financing activities:                  

Tax withholdings related to net share settlements     (9,418 )     (370 )     (3,539 )

Purchase of treasury shares and related costs     (79,080 )     —       (14,824 )

Proceeds from exercise of stock options     391       16       551  

Issuance of common stock from ESPP     355       —       —  

Registration fees     —       (29 )   —  

Payment of earnout liabilities     (5,206 )     (1,059 )     —  

Debt issuance costs     —       (10,950 )     (12 )

Proceeds from the issuance of convertible senior notes     —       414,000       194,940  
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Payments for repurchase and conversion of convertible senior notes     —       (147,149 )   —  

Loan Agreement and Term loan principal payment     —       —       (23,750 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     (92,958 )     254,459       153,366  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     (394 )     (167 )     57  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (17,100 )     279,007       30,129  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     361,623       82,616       52,487  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 344,523     $ 361,623     $ 82,616  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:                  

Cash paid for taxes, net   $ 12,577     $ 5,477     $ 4,906  

Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:                  

Right of use assets and operating lease liabilities   $ 740     $ 2,863     $ 2,403  

    For the Years Ended December 31,  

    2023     2022     2021  

Operating Activities:                  

Net income   $ 4,461     $ 41,609     $ 949  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities:                  

Depreciation     12,373       9,976       7,535  

Amortization     8,760       8,372       12,915  

Provision for bad debt     2,021       2,239       904  

Stock-based compensation     47,648       43,507       38,550  

Amortization of debt issuance costs     2,400       2,500       1,364  

Deferred tax provision     (711 )     (4,205 )     2,849  

Gain on early extinguishment of debt     (5,033 )     —       —  

Induced conversion expenses     —       —       21,229  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                  

Accounts receivable     19,213       (12,463 )     (11,820 )

Operating lease assets with right of use     2,293       2,895       1,738  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (202 )     (427 )     (1,175 )

Other assets     (4 )     225       91  

Accounts payable     2,003       (401 )     (517 )

Income taxes payable     (5,341 )     5,818       1,526  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (76 )     1,755       (7,586 )

Accrued compensation expenses     (1,433 )     (2,599 )     12  

Operating lease liabilities with right of use     (3,336 )     (2,975 )     (1,483 )

Contract liabilities     (12,547 )     (2,345 )     14,806  

Other liabilities     —       (2,779 )     (188 )
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Net cash provided by operating activities     72,489       90,702       81,699  

                   

Investing activities:                  

Purchases of property and equipment, and other capitalized assets     (14,635 )     (14,028 )     (12,631 )

Purchases of investments     (78,386 )     (422 )     (20,007 )

Acquisitions of business, net of acquired cash     —       —       (24,346 )

Net cash used in investing activities     (93,021 )     (14,450 )     (56,984 )

                   

Financing activities:                  

Tax withholdings related to net share settlements     (4,564 )     (9,418 )     (370 )

Purchase of treasury shares and related costs     (50,000 )     (79,080 )     —  

Proceeds from exercise of stock options     17       391       16  

Issuance of common stock from ESPP     1,236       355       —  

Registration fees     —       —       (29 )

Payment of earnout liabilities     (2,267 )     (5,206 )     (1,059 )

Debt issuance costs     —       —       (10,950 )

Proceeds from the issuance of convertible senior notes     —       —       414,000  

Payments for repurchase and conversion of convertible senior notes     (42,560 )     —       (147,149 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     (98,138 )     (92,958 )     254,459  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     815       (394 )     (167 )

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (117,855 )     (17,100 )     279,007  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     344,523       361,623       82,616  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 226,668     $ 344,523     $ 361,623  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:                  

Cash paid for taxes, net   $ 17,686     $ 12,577     $ 5,477  

Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:                  

Right of use assets and operating lease liabilities   $ 495     $ 740     $ 2,863  

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Years Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020 2021

(In thousands, except share and per share data, where otherwise noted or instances where expressed in millions)

1. Organization and Operations

TechTarget, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) is a global data and analytics leader and software provider for 

buyers of purchase intent-driven marketing and sales data for enterprise technology vendors. The Company’s service offerings enable 

technology vendors to better identify, reach and influence corporate information technology (“IT”) decision-makers actively researching 

specific IT purchases. The Company improves vendors’ ability to impact these audiences for business growth using advanced 

targeting, analytics and data services complemented by customized marketing programs that integrate demand generation, brand 

advertising techniques, and content curation and creation. The Company operates a network of approximately 150 websites and 1,100

webinars and virtual event channels, which each focus on a specific IT sector such as storage, security or networking. IT and business 

professionals have become increasingly specialized, and they have come to rely on the Company’s sector-specific websites and 

webinars and virtual event channels for purchasing decision support. The Company’s content platforms enable IT and business 

professionals to navigate the complex and rapidly changing IT landscape where purchasing decisions can have significant financial and 

operational consequences. At critical stages of the purchase decision process, these content offerings through different channels meet 

IT and business professionals’ needs for expert, peer and IT vendor information and provide platforms on which business-to-business 

technology companies can launch targeted marketing campaigns which generate measurable return on investment. Based upon the 

logical clustering of members and users’ respective job responsibilities and the marketing focus of the products being promoted by the

Company’s customers, the Company categorizes its content offerings to address the key market opportunities and audience extensions 

across a portfolio of distinct market categories: Security; Networking; Storage; Data Center and Virtualization Technologies; CIO/IT 

Strategy; Business Applications and Analytics; Application Architecture and Development; and ANCL Channel.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the application of certain significant accounting policies as described 

below and elsewhere in these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 

TechTarget Securities Corporation (“TSC”), TechTarget Limited, TechTarget (HK) Limited (“TTGT HK”), TechTarget (Australia) Pty Ltd., 

TechTarget (Singapore) Pte Ltd., E-Magine Médias SAS (“LeMagIT”), TechTarget Germany GmbH and as of December 23, 2020, 

BrightTALK Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary, BrightTALK, Inc. (“BrightTALK”). TSC is a Massachusetts corporation. TechTarget 

Limited is a subsidiary doing business principally in the United Kingdom. TTGT HK is a subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong in order 

to facilitate the Company’s activities in the Asia-Pacific region. TechTarget (Australia) Pty Ltd. and TechTarget (Singapore) Pte Ltd. are 

the entities through which the Company does business in Australia and Singapore, respectively; LeMagIT and TechTarget Germany 

GmbH, both wholly-owned subsidiaries of TechTarget Limited, are entities through which the Company does business in France and 

Germany, respectively. BrightTALK are entities which the Company does business for the BrightTALK webinar and virtual event 

platform.

Use of Estimates
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 

the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing 

basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to revenues, long-lived assets, goodwill, the allowance for doubtful 

accounts, stock-based compensation, earnouts, self-insurance accruals, the allocation of purchase price to intangibles and goodwill, 

and income taxes. Estimates of the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities are based on historical experience and on various 

other assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 

70

Revenue Recognition under ASC 606, Revenue from Contacts Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”)

The Company generates its revenues from the sale of targeted marketing and advertising campaigns, which it delivers via its 

data analytic solutions. Revenue is recognized when performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised goods or services 

to customers, as determined by applying a five-step process consisting of: a) identifying the contract, or contracts, with a customer, b) 

identifying the performance obligations in the contract, c) determining the transaction price, d) allocating the transaction price to the 

performance obligations in the contract, and e) recognizing revenue when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied.

61

The Company’s offerings consist of:

• IT Deal Alert™. A suite of data, software and services for B2B technology companies that leverages the detailed purchase 
intent data we collect on enterprise technology organizations and professionals researching IT purchases via our network 
of websites and our webinar community platform. Through our proprietary data-capture and scoring methodologies, we use 
this insight to help our customers identify and prioritize accounts and contacts whose content consumption and online 
research activities around specific enterprise technology topics indicate they are “in-market” for a particular B2B technology 
product or service. The suite of products and services includes Priority Engine™ and Qualified Sales Opportunities™. 
Priority Engine™ is a subscription service powered by our Activity Intelligence™ platform, which integrates with customer 
relationship management (“CRM”) and marketing automation platforms (“MAPs”) including Salesforce.com, Marketo, 
Hubspot, Eloqua, Pardot, and Integrate. The service delivers lead generation workflow solutions designed to enable 
marketers and salesforces to identify and prioritize accounts and individuals actively researching new technology 
purchases or upgrades, and then to engage those active prospects. We launched IntentMail AITM in December 2023, which 
is Priority Engine’s AI-powered messaging feature, which enables sellers to automatically generate personalized email 
copy. Qualified Sales Opportunities™ is a product that profiles specific in-progress purchase projects via surveys and
interviews with business technology professionals whose research activity and content consumption is indicative of a 
pending technology purchase. Qualified Sales Opportunities™ include information on project scope, purchase criteria and
vendors considered.

• Demand Solutions. Our offerings enable our customers to reach and influence prospective buyers through content 
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marketing programs, such as white papers, webcasts, podcasts, videocasts, virtual trade shows, and content sponsorships, 
designed to generate demand for their solutions, and through display advertising and other brand programs that influence 
consideration by prospective buyers. We believe this allows B2B technology companies to maximize ROI on marketing and 
sales expenditures by capturing sales leads from the distribution and promotion of content to our audience of enterprise 
technology and business professionals.

• Brand Solutions. Our suite of brand solutions provide B2B technology companies with direct exposure to targeted 
audiences of enterprise technology and business professionals actively researching information related to their products 
and services. We leverage our Activity Intelligence™ platform to enable significant segmentation and behavioral targeting 
of audiences to improve the relevancy of digital ads to researcher needs. Branding solutions include on-network banner 
advertising and digital sponsorships, off-network banner targeting, and microsites and related formats.

• Custom Content Creation. We deliver market insights and guidance to B2B technology companies through our Enterprise 
Strategy Group annual research and advisory subscription programs, custom market research services, and consulting 
engagements. In addition, Enterprise Strategy Group experts author custom content products including technical and 
economic validations, white papers, infographics, videos and webinars. This content is leveraged by B2B technology 
marketers to support product launches, enable demand-generation campaigns, and to establish overall thought leadership. 
We also create white papers, case studies, webcasts or videos to our customers’ specifications. These customized content 
assets are then promoted to our audience within both demand solutions and brand solutions programs. Additionally, we 
offer off-the-shelf editorial sponsorship products on topics aligned to customer markets, enabling them to engage and 
generate demand via packaged content created by our editorial staff to educate technology researchers on new technology 
trends and feature options.

• BrightTALK platform. Allows our customers to create, host and promote webinars, virtual events and video content. 
Customers create their own hosted Channels on the platform where they schedule both live and on-demand webinars for 
promotion to BrightTALK’s community of in-market accounts and individuals. The BrightTALK Channel also enables 
customers to self-administer lead generation campaigns, set up workflow integrations between the Channel and their CRM 
and MAP systems, and access reporting detailing the size and growth of their community of subscribers over time. 
Customers may also create an off-network embedded Channel page on their own corporate website featuring content in 
their BrightTALK Channel, as well as an embedded BrightTALK registration form that captures and converts interested 
individuals to marketing leads.

Revenue from demand and brand solutions is primarily recognized when the transfer of control occurs. Certain of the contracts 

within demand and brand solutions are duration-based campaigns which, in the event of customer cancellation, provide the Company 

with an enforceable right to a proportional payment for the portion of the campaign based on services provided. Accordingly, revenue

71

from duration-based campaigns is recognized using a time-based measure of progress, which the Company believes best depicts how 

it satisfies its performance obligations in these arrangements as control is continuously transferred throughout the contract period. 

Revenue from custom content creation is recognized over the expected period of performance using a single measure of progress, 

typically based on hours incurred. Revenue from Priority Engine™ and the Bright TALK platform are recognized over a time-based 

measure of progress, which the Company believes best depicts how it satisfies its performance obligations in these arrangements as 

control is continuously transferred throughout the contract period.
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62

To determine standalone selling price for the individual performance obligations in the arrangement, the Company uses an 

estimate of the observable selling prices in separate transactions. The Company establishes best estimates considering multiple factors 

including, but not limited to, class of client, size of transaction, available inventory, pricing strategies and market conditions. The 

Company uses a range of amounts to estimate stand-alone selling price when it sells the goods and services separately and needs to 

determine whether a discount is to be allocated based upon the relative stand-alone selling price to the various goods and services. 

Judgment is required to determine the standalone selling price for each distinct performance obligation.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist of cash, and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments, accounts receivable, 

accounts payable, long-term debt and contingent consideration. Due to their short-term nature and liquidity, the carrying value of these 

instruments, with the exception of contingent consideration and long-term debt, approximates their estimated fair values. See Note 4 for 

further information on the fair value of the Company’s investments. The Company classifies all of its short-term and long-term 

investments as available-for-sale. The fair value of contingent consideration was estimated using a discounted cash flow method.

Business Combinations

The Company uses its best estimates and assumptions to assign fair value to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The Company’s estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement.

During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to 

the fair value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. In 

addition, uncertain tax positions and tax-related valuation allowances are initially recorded in connection with a business combination as 

of the acquisition date. The Company continues to collect information and reevaluates these estimates and assumptions quarterly and 

records any adjustments to the Company’s preliminary estimates to goodwill provided that the Company is within the measurement 

period. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, 

whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the Company’s consolidated statement of operations.

Long-Lived Assets, Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

Long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment, capitalized software, goodwill and other intangible assets. The 

Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment and finite intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Conditions that would trigger an 

impairment assessment include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in legal factors or business climate that could affect 

the value of an asset or an adverse action or a significant decrease in the market price. A specifically identified intangible asset must be 

recorded as a separate asset from goodwill if either of the following two criteria is met: (1) the intangible asset acquired arises from 

contractual or other legal rights; or (2) the intangible asset is separable. Accordingly, intangible assets consist of specifically identified 

intangible assets. Goodwill is the excess of any purchase price over the estimated fair value of net tangible and intangible assets 

acquired.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed annually for impairment or more frequently if 

impairment indicators arise. Separable intangible assets that are not deemed to have an indefinite life are amortized over their 
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estimated useful lives, which range from eighteen months to nineteen years, using methods of amortization that are expected to reflect 

the estimated pattern of economic use, and are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the 

assets may not be recoverable. Consistent with the Company’s determination that it has a single reporting segment, it has been 

determined that there is a single reporting unit and goodwill is therefore tested for impairment at the entity level. The Company performs 

its annual test of impairment of goodwill as of December 31st of each year and whenever events or changes in circumstances suggest 

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable using the two-step process required by ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other 

(“ASC 350”). The first step of the impairment test is to identify potential impairment by comparing the reporting unit’s fair value with its 

net book value (or carrying amount), including goodwill. The fair value is estimated based on a market value approach. If the fair value

of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, the reporting unit’s goodwill is not considered to be impaired and the second step of 

the impairment test is not performed. Whenever indicators of impairment become present, the Company would perform the second step 

and compare the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill, as defined by ASC 350, to it carrying value to determine the amount

of the

72

impairment loss, if any. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there were no indications of impairment based on the step one 

analysis, and the Company’s estimated fair value exceeded its goodwill carrying value by a significant margin.

Based on the aforementioned evaluation, the Company believes that, as of the balance sheet date presented, none of the 

Company’s goodwill or other long-lived assets were impaired. The Company did not have any intangible assets, other than goodwill, 

with indefinite lives as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 or 2021. 2022.

63

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company reduces gross trade accounts receivable for an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful 

accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in its existing accounts receivable. The allowance for 

doubtful accounts is reviewed on a regular basis, and all past due balances are reviewed individually for collectability. Account balances 

are charged against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered 

remote. Provisions for doubtful accounts are recorded in general and administrative expense.

Below is a summary of the changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 

2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020. 2021.
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eries    
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e at


End of


Year    

Balance at


Beginning


of Year     Provision    

Write-offs,


Net of


Recoveries    

Balance at


End of


Year  

Year ended 

December 31, 2020   $ 1,899     $ 218     $ (363 )   $ 1,754  

Year ended 

December 31, 2023   $ 4,494     $ 2,021     $ (1,487 )   $ 5,028  

Year ended 

December 31, 2022   $ 2,514     $ 2,239     $ (259 )   $ 4,494  

Year ended 

December 31, 2021   $ 1,754     $ 904     $ (144 )   $ 2,514     $ 1,754     $ 904     $ (144 )   $ 2,514  

Year ended 

December 31, 2022   $ 2,514     $

2,23

9     $ (259 )   $ 4,494  

 

Property and Equipment and Other Capitalized Assets

Property and equipment and other capitalized assets are stated at cost. Property and equipment acquired through acquisitions of 

businesses are initially recorded at fair value. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method based on the month the asset is 

placed in service over the following estimated useful lives:

 

    Estimated Useful Life Lives

Furniture and fixtures   3 - 10 years

Computer equipment and software   3 years

Internal-use software and website development costs   3 - 5 years

Leasehold improvements   Shorter of useful life or remaining duration of lease

Property and equipment and other capitalized assets consist of the following:

 

   As of December 31,     As of December 31,  

   2022     2021     2023     2022  

Furniture and fixtures   $ 1,361     $ 1,367     $ 1,300     $ 1,361  

Computer equipment and software     5,393       5,267       4,678       5,393  

Leasehold improvements     3,867       3,792       3,786       3,867  

Internal-use software and website development costs     56,340       45,339       70,233       56,340  

     66,961       55,765       79,997       66,961  

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization     (44,454 )     (37,045 )     (55,080 )     (44,454 )

   $ 22,507     $ 18,720     $ 24,917     $ 22,507  
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Depreciation expense was $10.0 12.4 million, $7.5 10.0 million, and $5.8 7.5 million for the years ended December 31, 

2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020, 2021, respectively. Repairs and maintenance charges that do not increase the useful 

life of the assets are charged to operations as incurred. The Company wrote off approximately $2.4 1.9 million, $1.0 2.4 million, and 

$1.0 million of assets that were no longer in service during 2023, 2022, 2021, and 2020, 2021, respectively. Depreciation expense is 

classified as a component of operating expense in the Company’s results of operations with the exception of certain depreciation 

expense which is classified as a component of cost of goods sold.

73

Internal-Use Software and Website Development Costs

The Company capitalizes costs incurred during the development of its website applications and infrastructure as well as certain 

costs relating to internal-use software. The Company begins to capitalize costs to develop software and website applications when 

planning stage efforts are successfully completed, management has authorized and committed project funding, and it is probable that 

the project will be completed, and the software will be used as intended. Judgment is required in determining the point at which various 

projects enter the state at which costs may be capitalized, in assessing the ongoing value of the capitalized costs and in determining 

the estimated useful lives over which the costs are amortized, which is generally three years. To the extent that the Company changes 

the manner in which it develops and tests new features and functionalities related to its websites, assesses the ongoing value of 

capitalized assets, or determines the estimated useful lives over which the costs are amortized, the amount of website development 

costs it capitalizes

64

and amortizes in future periods would be impacted. The estimated useful life lives of costs capitalized is evaluated for each specific 

project. Capitalized internal-use software and website development costs are reviewed for recoverability whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized only if 

the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The Company capitalized internal-use software and 

website development costs of $12.9 14.2 million, $11.5 12.9 million, and $6.1 11.5 million for the years ended December 31, 

2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020, 2021, respectively.

Debt Issuance Costs

Costs incurred with the issuance of the Company’s convertible debt are deferred and amortized as interest expense over the term 

of the related convertible instrument using the effective interest method. To the extent the convertible debt is outstanding, these 

amounts are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets as a deduction of the convertible debt.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist mainly of cash and cash 

equivalents, investments and accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents and investments principally 
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in accredited financial institutions of high credit standing. The Company routinely assesses the credit worthiness of its customers. The 

Company generally has not experienced any significant losses related to individual customers or groups of customers in any particular 

industry or area. The Company does not require collateral. Due to these factors, no additional credit risk beyond amounts provided for 

collection losses is believed by management to be probable in the Company’s accounts receivable.

At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, no customer represented 10% of total accounts 

receivable. No single customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenues in the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 

2023, 2021, 2022, or 2020. 2021.

Income Taxes

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on temporary differences between the financial reporting 

and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using statutory rates. A valuation allowance is established against net deferred tax assets 

if, based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

The Company records a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a 

tax return using a “more likely than not” threshold as required by the provisions of ASC 740-10, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 

Taxes (“ASC 740”).

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, if any, in income tax expense.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has stock-based employee compensation plans which are more fully described in Note 11. Stock-based 

compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized in the Consolidated Statement 

of Income and Comprehensive Income using the straight-line method over the vesting period of the award. The Company uses the 

Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option awards.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity during a period, except those resulting from investments by stockholders 

and distributions to stockholders. The Company's comprehensive income includes changes in the fair value of the Company’s 

unrealized gains on available for sale securities and foreign currency translation adjustments.

74

There were no reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income in the periods ended December 31, 

2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, or 2020. 2021.

Foreign Currency
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The functional currency for each of the Company’s subsidiaries is the local currency of the country in which it is incorporated. All 

assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollar equivalents at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date or at a historical 

rate. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates. Translation gains or losses are recorded in stockholders’ 

equity as an element of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

65

Net Income Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares and vested restricted stock 

units outstanding during the period. Because the holders of unvested restricted stock units do not have non-forfeitable rights to 

dividends or dividend equivalents, the Company does not consider these restricted stock units to be participating securities that should 

be included in its computation of earnings per share under the two-class method. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the 

weighted average number of common shares and vested, undelivered restricted stock units outstanding during the period, plus the 

dilutive effect of potential future issuances of common stock relating to stock option and restricted stock unit programs using the 

treasury stock method. In calculating diluted earnings per share, the dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units is 

computed using the average market price for the respective period. In addition, the assumed proceeds under the treasury stock method 

include the average unrecognized compensation expense of stock options and restricted stock units that are in-the-money. This results 

in the “assumed” buyback of additional shares, thereby reducing the dilutive impact of stock options and restricted stock units.

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share is as follows:

 

  

For the Years Ended 

December 31,     For the Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  

Numerator:                                    

Net income

  $

41,6

09     $ 949     $

17,0

68     $ 4,461     $ 41,609     $ 949  

Denominator:                                    

Basic:                                    

Weighted average shares of common stock and vested, 

undelivered restricted stock units outstanding

   

29,5

89,0

00      

28,4

34,2

13      

27,8

55,8

88       28,327,591       29,589,000       28,434,213  

Diluted:                                    

Weighted average shares of common stock and vested, 

undelivered restricted stock units outstanding

   

29,5

89,0

00      

28,4

34,2

13      

27,8

55,8

88       28,327,591       29,589,000       28,434,213  

Effect of potentially dilutive shares

   

4,48

3,13

1      

1,03

9,67

8      

818,

659       166,953       4,483,131       1,039,678  
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Total weighted average shares of common stock and 

vested, undelivered restricted stock units outstanding and 

potentially dilutive shares    

34,0

72,1

31      

29,4

73,8

91      

28,6

74,5

47       28,494,544       34,072,131       29,473,891  

Calculation of Net Income Per Common Share:                                    

Basic:                                    

Net income applicable to common stockholders

  $

41,6

09     $ 949     $

17,0

68     $ 4,461     $ 41,609     $ 949  

Weighted average shares of stock outstanding

   

29,5

89,0

00      

28,4

34,2

13      

27,8

55,8

88       28,327,591       29,589,000       28,434,213  

Net income per common share   $ 1.41     $ 0.03     $ 0.61     $ 0.16     $ 1.41     $ 0.03  

Diluted:                                    

Net income applicable to common stockholders(1)

  $

44,1

73     $ 949     $

17,4

23     $ 4,461     $ 44,173     $ 949  

Weighted average shares of stock outstanding

   

34,0

72,1

31      

29,4

73,8

91      

28,6

74,5

47       28,494,544       34,072,131       29,473,891  

Net income per common share(2)   $ 1.30     $ 0.03     $ 0.61     $ 0.16     $ 1.30     $ 0.03  

 

 

(1) For the years year ended December 31, 2022 and 2020 respectively, , we excluded $2.6 million and $0.4 million of amortization 
and interest expense relating to our convertible notes when calculating net income for diluted earnings per share. There was no 
such adjustment in 2023 or 2021, due to anti-dilutive nature of the add-back.

(2) In calculating diluted net income per share, 107 1.3 thousand million shares, 14 107 thousand shares, and 0 14 thousand shares 
related to outstanding stock options and unvested, undelivered restricted stock units which were excluded for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022,

75

and 2020, 2021, respectively, because they were anti-dilutive. Additionally, in calculating diluted net income per share, weighted 
average shares include includes 3.9 million shares, 0 shares, and 0.1 million shares related to the if converted basis of our 
convertible notes for the years year ended December 31, 2022, . There was no such adjustment for 2023 or 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. due to the anti-dilutive nature of the add-back.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance
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In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-

09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires public entities, on an annual basis, to provide 

disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation, as well as disclosure of income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. ASU 

2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently 

evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-09.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment 

Disclosures, which requires public entities to disclose information about their reportable segments’ significant expenses and other 

segment items on an interim and annual basis. Public entities with a single reportable segment are required to apply the disclosure 

requirements in ASU 2023-07, as well as all existing segment disclosures and reconciliation requirements in ASC 280 on an interim and 

annual basis. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years 

beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 

2023-07.

In December 2022, the FASB issued No. ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 818): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 

848, which extends the period of time companies can utilize the reference rate reform relief guidance in Topic 848 to December 31, 

2024. The guidance was effective upon issuance and had no material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): “Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes” 

(ASU 2019-12), which simplifies the accounting for income taxes. This guidance was effective for us in the first quarter of 2021 on a 

prospective basis, and early adoption is permitted. We adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2021 and the guidance did not 

have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 

350), Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (ASU 2017-04). ASU 2017-04 eliminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair 

value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge (step 2 of the goodwill impairment test) and instead requires only a one-step 

quantitative impairment test, performed by comparing the fair value of goodwill with its carrying amount. ASU 2017-04 is effective on a 

prospective basis effective for goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted 

for goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. We adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2020 

and the guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): 

Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement that is a Service Contract (ASU 2018-

15), which requires implementation costs incurred by customers in cloud computing arrangements (i.e., hosting arrangements) to be 

capitalized under the same premises of authoritative guidance for internal-use software, and deferred over the non-cancellable term of 

the cloud computing arrangements plus any optional renewal periods that are reasonably certain to be exercised by the customer or for 

which the exercise is controlled by the service provider. ASU 2018-15 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, 

and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. We adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2020 and 

the guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-03, “Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,” (ASU 2016-03) which 

amends ASC 326 “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses” which introduces a new methodology for accounting for credit losses on 

financial instruments. The guidance establishes a new forward looking "expected loss model" that requires entities to estimate current 

expected credit losses on accounts receivable and financial instruments by using all practical and relevant information. We adopted the 

new standard effective January 1, 2020 and the guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, “Changes to Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurements” (Topic 

820) (ASU 2018-13), which improved the effectiveness of disclosure requirements for recurring and nonrecurring fair value 

measurements. The standard removes, modifies, and adds certain disclosure requirements. We adopted the new standard effective 

January 1, 2020 and the guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and 

Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers,” which requires entities to apply Topic 606 to recognize and measure contract 

assets and contract liabilities in a business combination as if it had originated the contracts. The standard is effective for public 

companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is 

permitted. We will adopt adopted this accounting standard update on January 1, 2023 and will apply it had no material effect on the 

guidance prospectively for future acquisitions. Company's consolidated financial statements.

3. Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table depicts the disaggregation of revenue according to categories consistent with how the Company evaluates its 

financial performance and economic risk. International revenue consists of international geo-targeted campaigns, which are campaigns 

targeted at an audience of members outside of North America.

 

   Years Ended December 31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  

North America   $ 189,897     $ 162,360     $ 90,919     $ 153,952     $ 189,897     $ 162,360  

International     107,591       101,067       57,457       76,011       107,591       101,067  

Total Revenue   $ 297,488     $ 263,427     $ 148,376     $ 229,963     $ 297,488     $ 263,427  
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    Years Ended December 31,  

    2023     2022     2021  

Revenue under short-term contracts   $ 144,217     $ 174,040     $ 158,561  

Revenue under longer-term contracts     85,746       123,448       104,866  

Total   $ 229,963     $ 297,488     $ 263,427  

 

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021     2020  

Revenue under short-term contracts   $ 174,040     $ 158,561     $ 96,371  

Revenue under longer-term contracts     123,448       104,866       52,005  

Total   $ 297,488     $ 263,427     $ 148,376  
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Contract liabilities

Timing may differ between the satisfaction of performance obligations and the invoicing and collection of amounts related to the 

Company’s contracts with customers. Liabilities are recorded for amounts that are collected in advance of the satisfaction of 

performance obligations. Contract liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets were $27.1 14.7 million and $30.5 27.1 

million at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively. Additionally, certain 

customers may receive credits, which are accounted for as a material right. The Company estimates these amounts based on the 

expected amount of future services to be provided to customers and allocates a portion of the transaction price to these material rights. 

The Company recognizes these material rights as the material rights are exercised. The resulting amounts included in contract liabilities 

on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets were $1.9 million and $2.6 1.9 million at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 

and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively.

 

   Contract Liabilities     Contract Liabilities  

Year-to-Date Activity   (in thousands)     (in thousands)  

Balance at January 1, 2020   $ 4,335  

Billings     19,769  

Revenue Recognized     (8,415 )

Balance at December 31, 2020     15,689  

Balance at January 1, 2021   $ 15,689  

Billings     278,230       278,230  

Revenue Recognized     (263,427 )     (263,427 )

Balance at December 31, 2021     30,492       30,492  

Billings     294,082       294,082  

Revenue Recognized     (297,488 )     (297,488 )

Balance at December 31,2022   $ 27,086  

Balance at December 31, 2022     27,086  

Billings     217,598  

Revenue Recognized     (229,963 )

Balance at December 31, 2023   $ 14,721  

The Company elected to apply the following practical expedients:

• Existence of a Significant Financing Component in a Contract. As a practical expedient, the Company has not assessed 
whether a contract has a significant financing component because the Company expects at contract inception that the 
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period between payment by the customer and the transfer of promised goods or services by the Company to the customer 
will be one year or less. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include requirement 
of payment within 30 to 90 days. In addition, the Company has determined that the payment terms that the Company 
provides to its customers are structured primarily for reasons other than the provision of financing to the customer.

• Costs to Obtain a Contract. The Company’s revenues are primarily generated from customer contracts that are for one year 
or less. Costs primarily consist of incentive compensation paid based on the achievements of sales targets in a given 
period for related revenue streams and are recognized in the month when the revenue is earned. As a practical expedient, 
for amortization periods which are determined to be one year or less, the Company expenses any incremental costs of 
obtaining the contract with a customer when incurred. For those customer contracts greater than one year, the Company 
capitalizes and amortizes the expenses over the period of benefit.

• Revenues Invoiced. The Company has applied the practical expedient for certain revenue streams to exclude the value of 
remaining performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected term of one year or less or (ii) contracts for 
which the Company recognizes revenue in proportion to the amount it has the right to invoice for services performed.

4. Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, including short-term and long-

term investments and contingent consideration. The fair value of these financial assets and liabilities was determined based on three 

levels of input as follows:

• Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

68

• Level 2. Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets; and

• Level 3. Unobservable inputs.

77

The fair value hierarchy of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value and measured on a recurring basis is 

as follows:

 







   







     

Fair Value Measurements at


Reporting Date Using  













   

December 31, 

2022    

Quoted Prices


in Active


Markets for


Identical Assets


(Level 1)    

Significant


Other


Observable


Inputs


(Level 2)    

Significant
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Assets:                        

Short-term investments (1)   $ 20,210     $ —     $ 20,210     $ —  

Total assets   $ 20,210     $ —     $ 20,210     $ —  

Liabilities:                        

Contingent consideration - current (2)   $ 2,259     $ —     $ —     $ 2,259  

Contingent consideration - non-current (2)     —       —       —       —  

Total liabilities   $ 2,259     $ —     $ —     $ 2,259  

         

Fair Value Measurements at


December 31, 2023  

   

December 31, 

2023    

Quoted Prices


in Active


Markets for


Identical Assets


(Level 1)    

Significant


Other


Observable


Inputs


(Level 2)    

Significant


Unobservable


Inputs


(Level 3)  

Assets:                        

Time deposits (1)   $ 25,877     $ —     $ 25,877     $ —  

Pooled bond funds     73,724       —       73,724       —  

Total Short Term Investments   $ 99,601     $ —     $ 99,601     $ —  
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Assets:                                                

Short-term 

investments (1)   $

20,07

6     $

15,0

00     $

5,0

76     $ —  

Total assets

  $

20,07

6     $

15,0

00     $

5,0

76     $ —  

Pooled bond 

funds   $ 20,210     $ —     $ 20,210     $ —  

Total short-term 

investments   $ 20,210     $ —     $ 20,210     $ —  

Liabilities:                                                

Contingent 

consideration - 

current (2)   $ 5,200     $ —     $ —     $

5,20

0     $ 2,259     $ —     $ —     $ 2,259  

Contingent 

consideration - 

non-current (2)     2,779       —       —      

2,77

9  

Total liabilities

  $ 7,979     $ —     $ —     $

7,97

9     $ 2,259     $ —     $ —     $ 2,259  

(1) Short-term investments The Company's time deposits consist of money market funds (Level 1) and pooled bond funds do
deposits which mature within nine months (Level 2). Level All level 2 investments are priced using observable inputs, such as 
prices in markets that are not active and yield curves.

(2) Contingent consideration liabilities are measured using the income approach and discounted to present value based on an 
assessment of the probability that the Company would be required to make such future payments. The contingent 
consideration liabilities are measured at fair value using significant Level 3 (unobservable) inputs, such as discount rates and 
probability measures. Remeasurement of the contingent consideration to fair value is expensed through the income statement 
in the period remeasured. In 2022, we recorded a decrease in amortization expense of $0.5 million related to the revaluation of 
contingent consideration. In 2021, we recorded amortization expense of $3.7 million related to the revaluation of contingent 
consideration. Contingent consideration–current is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the balance 
sheet.

The following table provides a roll-forward of the fair value of the contingent consideration categorized as Level 3 for the year 

ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023:

 

69

    Fair Value  

Balance as of December 31, 2022   $ 2,259  

Payments on contingent liabilities     (2,267 )

Amortization of discount on contingent liabilities     8  

Balance as of December 31, 2023   $ —  
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    Fair Value  

Balance as of December 31, 2021   $ 7,979  

Liabilities resulting from acquisitions     —  

Payments on contingent liabilities     (5,206 )

Amortization of discount on contingent liabilities     50  

Remeasurement of contingent liabilities     (564 )

Balance as of December 31, 2022   $ 2,259  

       

Amounts included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities     2,259  

Amounts included in Other liabilities     —  

Total Contingent Consideration   $ 2,259  

78

 

5. Acquisitions

2021 Acquisition

During July 2021, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of Xtelligent Healthcare Media, LLC, a leading healthcare 

B2B media company focusing on healthcare-related technology for consideration of $24.3 million in cash after deducting $0.7 million for 

negative working capital and contingent consideration valued at $2.5 million. The earnouts are subject to certain revenue growth targets 

and the payment is adjusted based on actual results with a maximum payment of $5 million. The transaction was not material to the 

Company and the costs associated with the acquisition were not material. The Company accounted for the transaction as a business 

combination. In allocating the purchase consideration based on estimated fair values, the Company recorded $11.4 million of intangible 

assets and $16.1 million of goodwill. The majority of the goodwill balance associated with this business combination is deductible for 

U.S. income tax purposes.

2020 Acquisitions

BrightTALK Limited

On December 23, 2020, the Company acquired all outstanding stock of BrightTALK Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary 

BrightTALK, Inc., which is a leading marketing platform for webinars and virtual events that enables marketers to create original webinar 

and video content. The Company has included the financial results of BrightTALK in the condensed consolidated financial statements 

from the date of acquisition. The transaction costs associated with the acquisition were approximately $5.0 million and were recorded in 

general and administrative expense. The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for BrightTALK was approximately 

$151.0 million in cash.
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Our consolidated financial statements have not been retroactively restated to include BrightTALK’s historical financial position or 

results of operations. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. In accordance with the purchase method of 

accounting, the purchase price paid has been allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their estimated fair values as 

of the acquisition date, with the excess of the purchase price over the net assets acquired recorded as goodwill. We completed our 

valuation processes of all of the assets and liabilities acquired in the acquisition, and made certain adjustments to the purchase price 

allocation.

 

The following table shows the preliminary purchase price allocation as of the date acquired, and adjustments to December 31, 

2022 (in thousands):
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    December 23, 2020     Adjustments(1)     December 31, 2021  

Cash   $ 1,997     $ —     $ 1,997  

Accounts receivable     11,810       —       11,810  

Operating lease right-of-use assets     1,986       —       1,986  

Other assets     2,948       (332 )     2,616  

Goodwill     71,846       2,362       74,208  

Intangible assets     90,370       —       90,370  

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities     (9,194 )     (2,091 )     (11,285 )

Unearned revenue     (6,980 )     —       (6,980 )

Operating lease liabilities     (2,446 )     —       (2,446 )

Deferred tax liabilities and income tax payable     (11,490 )     61       (11,429 )

Net Assets acquired   $ 150,847     $ —     $ 150,847  

(1) Excludes currency translation adjustments related to assets and liabilities of BrightTALK Limited since the purchase date.

The excess of purchase consideration over the fair value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired was recorded 

as goodwill, which is primarily attributed to the assembled workforce and expanded market opportunities, for which there is no basis for 

U.S. income tax purposes. The fair values assigned to tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on management’s 

estimates and assumptions. Certain tax attributes that will benefit the Company, for which the calculations are not yet complete, are 

payable to the seller upon the Company’s realization of those benefits. Estimated fair value measurements relating to the acquisition 

are made using Level 3 inputs including discounted cash flow techniques. Fair value is estimated using inputs primarily from the income 

approach, which include the use of both the multiple period excess earnings method and the relief from royalties method. The 

significant assumptions used in estimating fair value include (i) the estimated life the asset will contribute to cash flows, such as attrition 

rate of customers or remaining contractual terms, (ii) profitability and (iii) the estimated discount rate that reflect the level of risk 

associated with receiving future cash flows. The Company valued the customer relationship asset using an income approach; 

specifically, the multi-period excess earnings method. The significant assumptions used to value customer relationships included, 

among others, attrition rates, revenue growth rate, and discount rate. The initial purchase price was adjusted to account for changes to 

estimate of payment due to seller upon realization of certain tax benefits and changes to deferred tax estimates.

Other Acquisitions
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During 2020, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of two other companies for an aggregate of $25.0 million in cash 

and $2.2 million of contingent consideration and has included the financial results of these companies in its condensed consolidated 

financial statements from the dates of acquisition. The earnouts are subject to certain revenue growth targets and the payment is 

adjusted based on actual results. The transactions were not material to the Company and the costs associated with the acquisitions 

were not material. The Company accounted for the transactions as business combinations. In allocating the purchase consideration 

based on estimated fair values, the Company recorded $17.1 million of intangible assets (offset by the value of assumed liabilities 

under of the agreements of $3.5 million), and $12.7 million of goodwill. The majority of the goodwill balance associated with these 

business combinations is deductible for U.S. income tax purposes.

6. Investments

The Company’s short-term investments are accounted for as available for sale securities. These investments are recorded at fair 

value with the related unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, a component of stockholders’ 

equity, net of tax. The cumulative unrealized gain, net of taxes, was $703 thousand as of December 31, 2023. The cumulative 

unrealized loss, net of taxes, was $302 thousand and $14 thousand and $0as of December 31, 2022,  and 2021, and 2020, 

respectively. Realized gains and losses on the sale of these investments are determined using the specific identification method. There 

were no realized gains or losses in as of December 31, 2023, 2022 or 2021. During 2020, we realized a loss of $42 thousand.
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Short-term and long-term investments consisted of the following:

 

   December 31, 2022     December 31, 2023  

  

Amortiz

ed


Cost    

Gross


Unrealiz

ed


Gains    

Gross


Unrealiz

ed


Losses    

Estimat

ed


Fair 

Value    

Amortized


Cost    

Gross


Unrealized


Gains    

Gross


Unrealized


Losses    

Estimated


Fair Value  

Short-term 

investments:                                    

Time Deposits   $ 25,877     $ —     $ —     $ 25,877  

Pooled bond funds

  $ 20,512     $ —     $ (302 )   $

20,21

0       73,021       703       —       73,724  

Total short-term 

investments   $ 20,512     $ —     $ (302 )   $

20,21

0     $ 98,898     $ 703     $ —     $ 99,601  

 

   December 31, 2021     December 31, 2022  

  

Amorti

zed


Cost    

Gross


Unreal

ized


Gains    

Gross


Unreal

ized


Losse

s    

Estima

ted


Fair 

Value    

Amortized


Cost    

Gross


Unrealized


Gains    

Gross


Unrealized


Losses    

Estimated


Fair Value  
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Short-term investments:                                                

Pooled bond and money 

market funds   $

20,09

0     $ —     $ (14 )   $

20,07

6  

Time Deposits   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —  

Pooled bond funds     20,512       —       (302 )     20,210  

Total short-term 

investments   $

20,09

0     $ —     $ (14 )   $

20,07

6     $ 20,512     $ —     $ (302 )   $ 20,210  
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7. Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

 




   As of December 31,     As of December 31,  

   2022     2021     2023     2022  

Balance as of beginning of year   $ 197,073     $ 179,118     $ 192,227     $ 197,073  

Effect of exchange rate changes     (4,846 )     (563 )     1,847       (4,846 )

Additions     —       18,518  

Balance as of end of year   $ 192,227     $ 197,073     $ 194,074     $ 192,227  
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8. Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the Company’s intangible assets, net:
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As of December 31, 

2022         As of December 31, 2023  

  

Estima

ted


Useful 

Lives


(Years)  

Gros

s


Carry

ing


Amou

nt    

Accum

ulated


Amortiz

ation     Net    

Estimated


Useful Lives


(Years)  

Gross


Carrying


Amount    

Accumulated


Amortization     Net  

Customer relationships

  5-19   $

82,5

58     $

(16,40

4 )   $

66,

154     5-19   $ 83,959     $ (21,604 )   $ 62,355  

Developed websites, technology 

and patents   10    

31,7

68       (7,294 )    

24,

474     10     33,202       (10,802 )     22,400  

Trademark, trade name and 

domain name   5-16    

7,39

1       (2,770 )    

4,6

21     5-16     7,627       (3,365 )     4,262  

Proprietary user information 

database and internet traffic   5    

1,08

3       (1,083 )     —     5     1,106       (1,106 )     —  

Non-Compete agreement   1.5-3     600       (332 )     268     1.5-3     600       (454 )     146  

Total intangible assets

      $

123,

400     $

(27,88

3 )   $

95,

517         $ 126,494     $ (37,331 )   $ 89,163  

 

 

   




    As of December 31, 2021  

   

Estimated


Useful Lives


(Years)  

Gross


Carrying


Amount    

Accumulate

d


Amortization     Net  

Customer relationships   5-19   $ 85,663     $ (11,695 )   $ 73,968  

Developed websites, technology and patents   10     34,939       (4,509 )     30,430  

Trademark, trade name and domain name   5-16     7,913       (2,355 )     5,558  

Proprietary user information database and internet traffic   5     1,133       (1,133 )     —  

Non-Compete agreement   1.5-3     600       (166 )     434  

Total intangible assets       $ 130,248     $ (19,858 )   $ 110,390  

   




    As of December 31, 2022  

   

Estimated


Useful Lives


(Years)  

Gross


Carrying


Amount    

Accumulate

d


Amortizatio

n     Net  

Customer relationships   5-19   $ 82,558     $ (16,404 )   $ 66,154  

Developed websites, technology and patents   10     31,768       (7,294 )     24,474  
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Trademark, trade name and domain name   5-16     7,391       (2,770 )     4,621  

Proprietary user information database and internet traffic   5     1,083       (1,083 )     —  

Non-Compete agreement   1.5-3     600       (332 )     268  

Total intangible assets       $ 123,400     $ (27,883 )   $ 95,517  

Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which range from eighteen months to nineteen years, using 

methods of amortization that are expected to reflect the estimated pattern of economic use. The remaining amortization expense will be 

recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 6.5 6.4 years. Amortization expense was $8.9 8.8 million, $9.2 8.9 million 

and $0.5 9.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020, 2021, respectively. 

Amortization expense is recorded within operating expenses as the intangible assets consist of customer-related assets and website 

traffic that the Company considers to be in support of selling and marketing activities. The Company did not write-off any intangible 

assets in 2023, 2022 2021 or 2020.2021.

The Company expects amortization expense of intangible assets to be as follows:

 

Years Ending December 31:  

Amortization


Expense    

Amortization


Expense  

2023   $ 8,629  

2024     8,598     $ 8,831  

2025     8,560       8,792  

2026     8,506       8,738  

2027     8,501       8,734  

2028     8,734  

Thereafter     52,723       45,334  

   $ 95,517     $ 89,163  
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o

9. Convertible Notes and Loan Agreement

Convertible Notes

In December 2020, the Company issued $201.3 million in aggregate principal amount of convertible senior notes due December 

15, 2025 (“2025 Notes”) and in December 2021, the Company issued $414 million of aggregate principal amount of convertible senior 
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notes due December 15, 2026 (“2026 Notes”). Further details are included below:
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S
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(i

n 

m
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n

s)

Maturity 

Date

Interest 

Rate

First Interest 

Payment 

Date

Effective 

Interest 

Rate

Semi-Annual 

Interest Payment 

Dates

Initial Conversion 

Rate per $1,000 

Principal

Initial 

Conversion 

Price  

Number of 

Shares (in 

millions)

2

0

2

5 

N

o
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e

s

D

e
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e
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b

e
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1
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2
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6

%
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15
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15

14.

19

77

$ 7

0

.

4

3

  1.

0

December 

15, 2025

0.125% June 15, 

2021

0.8% June 15, and 

December 15

14.1977 $ 70.43   0.1
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2

0

2

6 

N

o

t

e
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e
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e
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e
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1

5

, 

2

0

2

6

0.

0

%

–
–

0.

0

%

–
–

7.6

04

3

$ 1

3

1

.

5

0

  4.

3

December 

15, 2026

0.0% –– 0.0% –– 7.6043 $ 131.50   4.3

The 2025 Notes and the 2026 Notes (collectively, the “Notes”) are governed by indentures between the Company, as issuer, and 

U.S. Bank, National Association, as trustee (together, the “Indentures”). The Notes are unsecured and rank senior in right of payment to 

the Company’s future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes and equal in right of payment to the 

Company’s unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated.

Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of the Company’s common stock or a 

combination of cash and shares of common stock, at the Company’s election.

Terms of the Notes

Prior to the close of business on September 15, 2025 and September 14, 2026, the 2025 Notes and 2026 Notes, respectively, will 

be convertible at the option of holders during certain periods, only upon satisfaction of certain conditions set forth below. On or after 

September 15, 2025 (for the 2025 Notes) and September 14, 2026 (for the 2026 Notes), until the close of business on the second 

scheduled trading day immediately preceding the applicable maturity date, holders may convert all or any portion of their Notes at the 

conversion price at any time regardless of whether the conditions set forth below have been met.

Holders may convert all or a portion of their Notes prior to the close of business on the day immediately preceding their 

respective free convertibility date described above, in multiples of the $1,000 principal amount, only under the following circumstances:

• during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on March 31, 2021 for the 2025 Notes and March 
31, 2022 for the 2026 Notes (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sales price of the common stock for at 
least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the 
last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion 
price on each applicable trading day;

• during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period, or the Notes measurement period, in which 
the “trading price” (as defined in each Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of Notes for each trading day of the Notes 
measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the 
conversion rate on each such trading day;
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• if the Company calls any or all of the Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on September 14, 2025 
for the 2025 Notes or September 14, 2026 for the 2026 Notes; or

• upon the occurrence of specified corporate events.

74

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the 2026 Notes and 2025 Notes are not convertible.

Whether the 2026 Notes or the 2025 Notes will be convertible in the future prior to the applicable free convertibility date will depend 

on the satisfaction of conversion conditions contained within each series of Notes. Since the Company may elect to repay the

82

2026 Notes and the 2025 Notes in cash, shares of our common stock, or a combination of both, the Company has continued to classify 

the 2026 and the 2025 Notes as long-term debt on its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

The Notes consist of the following as of December 31:

 

 2022     2021   2023     2022  

Liability Component:

2026 

Notes    

2025 

Notes    

2026 

Notes    

2025 

Notes   2026 Notes     2025 Notes     2026 Notes     2025 Notes  

     Principal $

414,

000     $

51,3

81     $

414,

000     $

51,3

81   $ 414,000     $ 3,040     $ 414,000     $ 51,381  

     Less: 

unamortized debt 

issuance costs  

8,67

3      

1,01

4      

10,8

36      

1,35

1     6,500       40       8,673       1,014  

Net carrying amount $

405,

327     $

50,3

67     $

403,

164     $

50,0

30   $ 407,500     $ 3,000     $ 405,327     $ 50,367  

 

The following table sets forth total interest expense recognized related to the Notes:

 

 

Year Ended December 

31,   Year Ended December 31,  

 2022     2021   2023     2022     2021  

0.125% Coupon $ 64     $ 240   $ 43     $ 64     $ 240  

Amortization of debt discount and transaction 

costs   2,500       5,364     2,400       2,500       5,364  
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Induced conversion expense   —       21,229     —       —       21,229  

 $ 2,564     $ 26,833   $ 2,443     $ 2,564     $ 26,833  

The The fair value of the Notes, which was determined based on inputs that are observable in the market or that could be derived 

from, or corroborated with, observable market data, quoted price of the Notes in an over-the-counter market (Level 2), and carrying 

value of debt instruments (carrying value excludes the equity component of the Company’s convertible notes classified in equity) were

as follows:

 
  December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021  

  Fair Value     Carrying Value     Fair Value     Carrying Value  

Convertible senior notes $ 361,658     $ 455,694     $ 490,513     $ 453,194  

  December 31, 2023     December 31, 2022  

  Fair Value     Carrying Value     Fair Value     Carrying Value  

Convertible senior notes $ 347,087     $ 410,500     $ 361,658     $ 455,694  

 

Based on the closing price of our common stock of $44.06 34.86 on December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the if-converted 

value of the 2026 Notes and 2025 Notes was less than their aggregate principal value.

Partial Repurchase and Conversion of the 2025 Notes

On December 15, 2021, During December 2021, the Company used a portion of the proceeds from the issuance of the 2026

Notes, together with 0.8 million shares of its common stock, to repurchase and retire $149.9 million aggregate principal amount of the 

2025 Notes, and paid accrued and unpaid interest thereon (the "2025 Notes Repurchase Transaction"). The 2025 Notes Repurchase 

Transaction was accounted for as an induced conversion in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 470-20, Debt with 

Conversion and Other Options (ASC 470-20). The total fair value of the additional consideration to induce the conversion of $21.2 

million was recognized as an inducement expense and classified as a component of interest expense in its consolidated statement of 

income. The remaining cash and common stock consideration issued under the original terms of the 2025 Notes was accounted for 

under the general conversion accounting guidance where the difference between the carrying amount of the 2025 Notes retired, 

including unamortized debt issuance cost of $4 million, and the cash consideration paid and the par value of the common stock issued, 

was recorded in additional paid-in capital.

2025 Notes

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2020-06, based on market data available for publicly traded, senior, unsecured corporate bonds

issued by companies in the same industry and with similar maturities, During August 2023, the Company estimated the implied market 

interest rate of its Notes to be approximately repurchased $5 48.3%, assuming no conversion option. Assumptions used in the estimate 

represent what market participants

75
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would use in pricing the liability component  million aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Notes including market interest rates, credit 

standing, and yield curves, all of which are defined as Level 2 observable inputs. The estimated implied interest rate was applied to the 

2025 Notes, which resulted in a fair value of the liability component of for $158.8 42.6 million upon issuance, calculated as the present 

value of future contractual payments based on the including $201.3 0.3 million of aggregate principal amount. The excess of the 

principal amount of the liability component over its carrying amount, or the debt discount, is amortized to interest expense over the term 

of the Notes. The $42.5 million difference between the gross proceeds received from the issuance of the Notes of $201.3 million and 

the estimated fair value of the liability component represents the equity component of the Notes and was recorded in additional paid-in 

capital. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.

In accounting for the transaction costs related to the issuance of the Notes, the Company allocated the total amount incurred to 

the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds. Transaction costs attributable to the liability component, 

totaling $5.25 million, are being amortized to expense over the term of the Notes, and transaction costs attributable to the equity 

component, totaling $1.4 million, and were included with the equity component in shareholders’ equity.

Effective January 1, 2021, upon the adoption of ASU 2020-06, the Company reclassified the equity component into the debt 

component as more fully described above (See Note 2). The Company concluded, based upon its adoption of ASU 2020-06, the Notes 

will be accounted for as debt with no bifurcation of the embedded conversion features. Transaction costs were recorded as a direct 

reduction from the related debt liability in the consolidated balance sheet and are amortized to interest expense using the effective 

interest method over the term of the Notes.

2021 Loan Agreement

On October 29, 2021, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Western Alliance Bank, as administrative

agent and collateral agent for the lenders, and the banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto as 

lenders (the “2021 Loan Agreement”). The 2021 Loan Agreement provides for a $75 million revolving credit facility with a $5 million 

letter-of-credit sublimit and a maturity date of October 29, 2023. The 2021 Loan Agreement is secured by substantially all of the 

Company’s assets. Borrowings under the 2021 Loan Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to one (1) month U.S. LIBOR, plus a 

spread based upon the Company’s leverage (as defined by 2021 Loan Agreement), which may vary between 2.00% and 2.75%. The 

2021 Loan Agreement is subject to various leverage and non-financial covenants. No amounts were outstanding under the 2021 Loan 

Agreement as of December 31, 2022. fees.

10. Leases and Contingencies

The Company conducts its operations in leased office facilities under various noncancelable operating lease agreements that 

expire through December 2029.
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On October 26, 2017, the Company entered into a Third Amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to the lease agreement for office 

space in Newton, Massachusetts, dated as of August 4, 2009 (the “Newton Lease”). The Third Amendment extended the lease term to 

December 31, 2029 and preserves the Company’s option to extend the term for an additional five-year period subject to certain terms 

and conditions set forth in the Newton Lease. The Third Amendment reduced the rentable space from approximately 110,000 square 

feet to approximately 74,000 square feet effective January 1, 2018. As of January 1, 2018, base monthly rent under the Third 

Amendment is $0.3 million. The base rent increases biennially at a rate averaging approximately 1% per year, as of January 1, 

2022 January 1, 2023. The Company remains responsible for certain other costs under the Third Amendment, including operating 

expense and taxes.

In April 2021, the Company entered into a Fourth Amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”). The Fourth Amendment became 

effective during May 2021. The Fourth Amendment reduced the rentable space from approximately 74,000 square feet to approximately 

68,000 square feet and provided the Company with a one-time payment of approximately $0.6 million. As of May 1, 2021, base monthly 

rent is approximately $0.3 million per month. All other terms and conditions are substantially similar to those terms in the Third 

Amendment.

Certain of the Company’s operating leases, including the Newton Lease, include lease incentives and escalating payment 

amounts and are renewable for varying periods. The Company recognizes the related rent expense on a straight-line basis over the 

term of each lease, taking into account the lease incentives and escalating lease payments.

The Company has various non-cancelable lease agreements for certain of its offices with original lease periods expiring between 

2021 and 2029. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain it will 

exercise that option. Leases with renewal options allow the Company to extend the lease term typically between 1 and 5 years. When 

determining the lease term, renewal options reasonably certain of being exercised are included in the lease term. When determining if a 

renewal option is reasonably certain of being exercised, the Company considers several economic factors, including but not limited to,

76

the significance of leasehold improvements incurred on the property, whether the asset is difficult to replace, underlying contractual 

obligations, or specific characteristics unique to that particular lease that would make it reasonably certain that the Company would 

exercise such option. Renewal and termination options were generally not included in the lease term for the Company's existing 

operating leases. Certain of the arrangements have discounted rent periods or escalating rent payment provisions. Leases with an 

initial term of twelve months or less are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes rent expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, operating lease assets were $20.0 17.2 million and $23.3 20.0 

million and operating lease liabilities were $24.5 20.7 million and $28.1 24.5 million, respectively. The maturities of the Company’s 

operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

 
            

   Minimum Lease   Minimum Lease  

Years Ending December 31:   Payments     Payments  

2023   $ 4,884  

2024     4,843     $ 4,963  
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2025     3,899       4,046  

2026     3,752       3,954  

2027     3,265       3,557  

2028     3,401  

Thereafter     6,665       3,333  

Total future minimum lease payments     27,308     23,254  

Less imputed interest     2,838       2,590  

Total operating lease liabilities   $ 24,470     $ 20,664  

            

Included in the condensed consolidated balance sheet:            

Current operating lease liabilities   $ 4,099     $ 4,049  

Non-current operating lease liabilities     20,371       16,615  

Total operating lease liabilities   $ 24,470     $ 20,664  
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For the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the total lease cost is comprised of the following 

amounts (in thousands):

 

                        

 

  December 31, 2022   December 31, 2021    

December 31, 

2023  

December 31, 

2022  

December 31, 

2021  

Operating lease expense   $ 4,251   $ 4,540     $ 4,204   $ 4,251   $ 4,540  

Short-term lease expense     22     215       17     22     215  

Total lease expense   $ 4,273   $ 4,755     $ 4,221   $ 4,273   $ 4,755  

 

The following summarizes additional information related to operating leases:

 
    As of  

   

December 31, 

2022 2023  

Weighted-average years remaining lease term — operating leases     3.7 3.3  

Weighted-average discount rate — operating leases     3.6 3.7 %
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If the rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The Company uses its best judgment when determining the incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate of interest that the Company 

would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term to the lease payments in a similar currency.

Litigation

From time to time and in the ordinary course of business, the Company may be subject to various claims, charges, and litigation. 

At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the Company did not have any pending claims, charges, or litigation that it 

expects would have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

77

11. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Option and Incentive Plans

In April 2007, the Company’s board of directors approved the 2007 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”), which was 

approved by the stockholders of the Company and became effective upon the consummation of the Company’s IPO in May 2007. The 

2007 Plan allowed the Company to grant incentive stock options (“ISOs”), non-qualified stock options (“NSOs”), stock appreciation 

rights, deferred stock awards, restricted stock units and other awards. Under the 2007 Plan, stock options could not be granted at less

than fair market value on the date of grant and grants generally vested over a three- to four-year period. Stock options granted under 

the 2007 Plan expire no later than ten years after the grant date. Additionally, beginning with awards made in August 2015, the 

Company had the option to direct a net issuance of shares for satisfaction of tax liability with respect to vesting of awards and delivery 

of shares. Prior to August 2015, this choice of settlement method was solely at the discretion of the award recipient. The 2007 Plan 

expired in May 2017.

No new awards may be granted under the 2007 Plan; however, the shares of common stock remaining in the 2007 Plan are 

available for issuance in connection with previously awarded grants under the 2007 Plan. There are 25,000 20,000 shares of common 

stock that remain subject to outstanding stock grants under the 2007 Plan as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

In March 2017, the Company’s board of directors approved the 2017 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”), which 

was approved by the stockholders of the Company at the 2017 Annual Meeting and became effective June 16, 2017. The 2017 Plan 

replaces the Company’s 2007 Plan. On June 16, 2017, 3,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance 

under the 2017 Plan and, generally, shares that are forfeited or canceled from awards under the 2017 Plan also will be available for 

future awards. In April 2021, the stockholders of the Company authorized the issuance of up to an additional 3,800,000 shares of the 

Company’s common stock under the 2017 Plan. Under the 2017 Plan, the Company may grant restricted stock and restricted stock 

units, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance awards, and other stock-based and cash-based awards. 

Grants generally vest in equal tranches over a three-year period. Stock options granted under the 2017 Plan expire no later than ten 

years after the grant date. Shares of stock issued pursuant to restricted stock awards are restricted in that they are not transferable until 

they vest. Shares of stock underlying awards of restricted stock units are not issued until the units vest. Non-qualified stock options 

cannot be exercised until they vest. Under the 2017 Plan, all stock options and stock appreciation rights must be granted with an 

exercise price that is at least equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The 2017 Plan broadly prohibits 

the repricing of options and stock appreciation rights without stockholder approval and requires that no dividends or dividend

equivalents be paid with respect to options or stock appreciation rights. The 2017 Plan further provides that, in the event any dividends 
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or dividend equivalents are declared with respect to restricted stock, restricted stock units, other stock-based awards and performance 

awards (referred to as “full-value awards”), such dividends or dividend equivalents would be subject to the same vesting and forfeiture 

provisions as the
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underlying award. There are a total of 1,764,799 1,745,998 shares of common stock that remain subject to outstanding stock-based 

grants under the 2017 Plan as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. There are a total of 2,319,628 1,646,666 shares of common 

stock remain available for issuance under the 2017 Plan as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the grant-date fair value of an award. The Company 

calculated the fair values of the options granted using the following estimated weighted-average assumptions:

 

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2022     2021     2020  

Expected volatility     44 %     44 %     40 %

Expected term   6 years     6 years     6 years  

Risk-free interest rate     2.69 %     0.82 %     0.34 %

Expected dividend yield     — %     — %     — %

Weighted-average grant date fair value per share   $ 33.99     $ 27.98     $ 11.29  

    Years Ended December 31,  

    2023     2022     2021  

Expected volatility     47 %     44 %     44 %

Expected term   6 years     6 years     6 years  

Risk-free interest rate     3.59 %     2.69 %     0.82 %

Expected dividend yield     — %     — %     — %

Weighted-average grant date fair value per share   $ 17.92     $ 33.99     $ 27.98  

The expected volatility of options granted has been in 2023, 2022, and 2021 was determined using a weighted average of the 

historical volatility of the Company’s our stock for a period equal to the expected life of the option. The expected life of options has been 

determined utilizing the “simplified” method. The risk-free interest rate is based on a zero-coupon U.S. treasury instrument whose term 

is consistent with the expected life of the stock options. The Company has not paid and does do not anticipate paying cash dividends on 

its our shares of common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. The Company applied an estimated 

annual forfeiture rate based on historical averages in determining the expense recorded in each period.
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A summary of the stock option activity under the Company’s stock option plans for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 

31, 2023 is presented below:

 

  

Option

s


Outsta

nding    

Weigh

ted-


Avera

ge


Exerci

se


Price 

Per


Share    

Weight

ed-


Averag

e


Remai

ning


Contra

ctual


Term


in 

Years    

Aggre

gate


Intrins

ic


Value    

Options


Outstanding    

Weighted-


Average


Exercise


Price Per


Share    

Weighted-


Average


Remaining


Contractual


Term


in Years    

Aggregate


Intrinsic


Value  

Options outstanding at December 

31, 2021    

125,00

0     $

25.4

9              

Options outstanding at December 

31, 2022     120,000     $ 37.29              

Granted

    22,500      

74.7

0                   25,000       36.46              

Exercised

   

(27,50

0 )    

14.2

5           $

1,11

7       (2,500 )     7.03           $ 81  

Forfeited     —       —                   —       —              

Canceled     —       —                   (2,500 )     7.03              

Options outstanding at December 

31, 2022    

120,00

0     $

37.2

9       6.44     $

1,95

9  

Options exercisable at December 

31, 2022     97,500     $

28.6

6       5.75     $

1,95

9  

Options vested or expected to vest 

at December 31, 2022    

119,27

6     $

37.0

7       6.42     $

1,95

9  

Options outstanding at December 

31, 2023     140,000     $ 38.22       6.34     $ 1,107  

Options exercisable at December 

31, 2023     115,000     $ 38.61       5.67     $ 1,107  

Options vested or expected to vest 

at December 31, 2023     139,128     $ 38.24       6.32     $ 1,107  

During the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020, 2021, the total intrinsic value of options 

exercised (i.e. the difference between the market price of the underlying stock at exercise and the price paid by the employee to 
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exercise the options) was $1.1 0.1 million, $0.2 1.1 million, and $1.6 0.2 million, respectively, and the total amount of cash received by 

the Company from exercise of these options was $0.4 17 million, thousand, $0 391 million, thousand, and $0.6 16 million, thousand, 

respectively.
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Restricted Stock Unit Awards

Restricted stock unit awards are valued at the market price of a share of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant. 

A summary of the restricted stock unit award activity under the Company’s plans for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 

2023 is presented below:

 

   Shares    

Weighte

d-


Average


Grant 

Date


Fair 

Value


Per 

Share    

Aggreg

ate


Intrinsic


Value     Shares    

Weighted-


Average


Grant Date


Fair Value


Per Share    

Aggregate


Intrinsic


Value  

Nonvested outstanding at December 

31, 2021    

1,609,3

50     $ 54.45        

Nonvested outstanding at December 

31, 2022     1,642,799     $ 62.40        

Granted

   

994,38

0       64.53             799,263       33.63        

Vested

   

(905,08

1 )     49.89             (841,714 )     57.88        

Forfeited     (55,850 )     74.04             (26,800 )     61.36        

Nonvested outstanding at December 

31, 2022    

1,642,7

99     $ 62.40     $ 72,382  

Nonvested outstanding at December 

31, 2023     1,573,548     $ 50.22     $ 54,853,883  
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The total grant-date fair value of restricted stock unit awards that vested during the years ended December 31, 2022 December 

31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 and 2020 was  $48.7 million, $45.2 million, $23.6 million, and $14.7 23.6 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, there was $82.4 60.7 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related 

to stock options and restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.9 1.90 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)

In April 2022, the Company’s board of directors adopted the TechTarget, Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), 

which was approved by the stockholders of the Company at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and became effective June 7, 

2022. On June 7, 2022, 600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance under the ESPP. After the initial 

offering period of three months, commencing September 1, 2022, eligible employees will be offered shares of common stock over a 

twelve-month offering period, which consists of two consecutive six-month purchase periods. Employees may purchase a limited 

amount (up to $25,000) of shares of the Company’s common stock under the ESPP at a discount of up to 15% of the lesser of the 

market value of the common stock at either (a) the beginning of the six-month purchase period during which the shares of common 

stock are
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purchased or (b) the end of such six-month purchase period. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 590,857 545,556 shares of 

common stock remain available for issuance under the ESPP.

The initial offering period under the ESPP began September 1, 2022 and ran through November 30, 2022. The following table 

summarizes activity related to the purchase rights issued under the ESPP (in thousands, except share and per share data):

 

   December 31, 2022    

December 31, 

2023  

December 31, 

2022

Shares issued under the ESPP     9,143     45,301   9,143

Proceeds from issuance of shares   $ 355     $1,236   $355

Valuation Assumptions

The valuation of ESPP purchase rights and the underlying weighted-average assumptions are summarized as follows:

    December 31, 2023     December 31, 2022  

ESPP:            

Expected term in years     0.50       0.44  

Risk-free interest rate     5.36 %     4.14 %

Expected volatility     43 %     45 %

Expected dividend yield     — %     — %

Weighted-average fair value per right granted   $ 9.03     $ 13.71  

 

    December 31, 2022  
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ESPP:      

Expected term in years     0.44  

Risk-free interest rate     4.14 %

Expected volatility     45 %

Expected dividend yield     — %

Weighted-average fair value per right granted   $ 13.71  
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12. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Repurchase Programs

On November 7, 2018, we announced a stock repurchase program (the “November 2018 Stock Repurchase Program”) whereby 

we were authorized to repurchase up to an aggregate amount of $25.0 million of shares of our common stock from time to time on the 

open market or in privately negotiated transactions at prices and in a manner that may be determined by management. We 

repurchased 736,760 shares at an aggregate purchase price of $14.8 million at an average share price of $20.10 during the year ended 

December 31, 2020, under the November 2018 Stock Repurchase Program. We terminated the November 2018 Stock Repurchase 

Program in May 2020.

In May 2020, we announced that our board of directors had authorized a $25.0 million stock repurchase program (the “May 2020 

Repurchase Program”) whereby we were authorized to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time on the open market 

or in privately negotiated transactions at prices and in the manner determined by management. We repurchased 206,114 shares at an 

aggregate purchase price of $14.2 million at an average share price of $68.82 under the May 2020 Repurchase Program during 2022. 

No amounts were repurchased under this program during 2021. The May 2020 Repurchase Program expired on May 1, 2022, with 

$10.8 million in authorized remaining capacity.

In May 2022, we announced that our board of directors had authorized a stock repurchase program (the “May 2022 Repurchase 

Program”) whereby we were authorized to repurchase shares of our common stock having an aggregate purchase prices of up to $50.0 

million from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions at prices and in the manner determined by 

management. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we repurchased 836,329 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $50.0 

million at an average share price of $59.77 under the May 2022 Repurchase Program. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 

no amounts remained available under the May 2022 Repurchase Program.

In November 2022, we announced that our board of directors had authorized a new repurchase program (the “November 2022 

Repurchase Program”) where we are authorized to repurchase shares of our common stock and convertible senior notes having an 

aggregate purchase price of up to $200.0 million from time to time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions at prices 

and in the manner determined by management over the next two years. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased 
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1,318,664 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $50.0 million at an average price of $37.90 under the November 2022 

Repurchase Program. In 2023, we also accrued $0.2 million of federal excise tax on net share repurchases. During the year ended 

December 31, 2022, we repurchased 341,783 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $14.9 million at an average share price of 

$43.55 under the November 2022 Repurchase Program. The Company repurchased $48.3 million aggregate principal amount of the 

2025 Notes for $42.6 million. The Company did not repurchase any convertible senior notes during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, $185.1 92.9 million remained available under the November 2022 Repurchase Program.

Repurchased shares are recorded under the cost method and are reflected as treasury stock in the accompanying Consolidated 

Balance Sheets.
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We are restricted from making any repurchases during the period between the execution of the Transaction Agreement and the closing 

of the proposed transaction without Informa’s approval.

Reserved Common Stock

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company has reserved (i) 4,109,427 3,412,664 shares of common stock for 

settlement of outstanding and unexercised options, issuance following vesting of outstanding restricted stock units, and future awards 

available for grant under the 2007 Plan and 2017 Plan, (ii) 590,857 545,556 shares of common stock for use in settling purchases under 

the ESPP and (iii) and 5,349,987 4,389,127 shares issuable upon conversion of the Notes.

13. Income Taxes

Income before provision for income taxes was as follows:

 

   Years Ended December 31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  

United States   $ 52,122     $ 5,804     $ 20,271     $ 14,380     $ 52,122     $ 5,804  

Foreign     5,432       5,275       2,233       39       5,432       5,275  

Income before income taxes   $ 57,554     $ 11,079     $ 22,504     $ 14,419     $ 57,554     $ 11,079  
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The income tax provision consisted of the following:

 

   Years Ended December 31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  
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Current:                                    

Federal   $ 14,862     $ 5,587     $ 4,073     $ 6,733     $ 14,862     $ 5,587  

State     3,830       1,407       1,230       2,525       3,830       1,407  

Foreign     1,290       263       243       1,411       1,290       263  

Total current     19,982       7,257       5,546       10,669       19,982       7,257  

Deferred:                                    

Federal     (2,752 )     (867 )     (122 )     1,126       (2,752 )     (867 )

State     (1,017 )     313       2       (442 )     (1,017 )     313  

Foreign     (268 )     3,427       10       (1,395 )     (268 )     3,427  

Total deferred     (4,037 )     2,873       (110 )     (711 )     (4,037 )     2,873  

   $ 15,945     $ 10,130     $ 5,436     $ 9,958     $ 15,945     $ 10,130  

The income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020 2021 differs from the 

amounts computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to consolidated income before provision for income taxes as 

follows:

 

   Years Ended December 31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  

Provision computed at statutory rate

  $

12,08

6     $ 2,327     $ 4,726     $ 3,028     $ 12,086     $ 2,327  

Increase resulting from:                                    

Difference in rates for foreign 

jurisdictions     (42 )     (42 )     17       14       (42 )     (42 )

Stock-based compensation

    (1,984 )     (3,903 )    

(1,31

4 )     5,050       (1,984 )     (3,903 )

Nondeductible inducement expense     —       4,458     —       —       —       4,458  

Transaction-related fees     867       —       —  

Other non-deductible expenses     131       97       548       167       131       97  

Non-deductible officers compensation     4,098       1,665       899       1,639       4,098       1,665  

State income tax provision     2,237       1,344       974       1,619       2,237       1,344  

Subsidiary earnings taxed in the US     333       1,176       (40 )     (732 )     333       1,176  

Research and development credit     (726 )     (468 )     (466 )     (1,259 )     (726 )     (468 )

Valuation allowance     (343 )     474       71       (405 )     (343 )     474  

Change in tax rate     (24 )     3,006       (20 )     (31 )     (24 )     3,006  

Other     179       (4 )     41       1       179       (4 )

Provision for income taxes

  $

15,94

5     $

10,13

0     $ 5,436     $ 9,958     $ 15,945     $ 10,130  
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Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

 




   As of December 31,     As of December 31,  

   2022     2021     2023     2022  

Deferred tax assets:                        

Net operating loss carryforwards   $ 4,446     $ 6,572     $ 3,146     $ 4,446  

Right of use operating lease liability     6,178       7,016       5,251       6,178  

Accruals and allowances     3,140       2,365       1,890       3,140  

Stock-based compensation     4,553       3,447       4,879       4,553  

§163(j) interest expense carryover     —       521  

Property and equipment     178       —  

Contract liabilities     467       —       —       467  

Other     4       4       130       4  

Gross deferred tax assets     18,788       19,925       15,474       18,788  

Less valuation allowance     (1,397 )     (1,961 )     (836 )     (1,397 )

Total deferred tax assets     17,391       17,964       14,638       17,391  

Deferred tax liabilities:                        

Intangible asset     (21,642 )     (23,816 )     (20,687 )     (21,642 )

Right of use operating lease asset     (5,179 )     (6,066 )     (4,362 )     (5,179 )

Property and equipment     (915 )     (3,708 )     —       (915 )

Contract liabilities     —       (149 )

Total deferred tax liabilities     (27,736 )     (33,739 )     (25,049 )     (27,736 )

Net deferred tax liabilities   $ (10,345 )   $ (15,775 )   $ (10,411 )   $ (10,345 )

As reported:                        

Non-current deferred tax assets   $ 2,945     $ 474     $ 2,445     $ 2,945  

Non-current deferred tax liabilities   $ (13,290 )   $ (16,249 )   $ (12,856 )   $ (13,290 )

 

In evaluating the ability to realize the net deferred tax asset, the Company considers all available evidence, both positive and 

negative, including past operating results, the existence of cumulative losses in the most recent fiscal years, tax planning strategies that 

are prudent and feasible, and forecasts of future taxable income. In considering sources of future taxable income, the Company makes 

certain assumptions and judgments which are based on the plans and estimates used to manage the underlying business of the 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

152/199

Company. Changes in the Company’s assumptions and estimates, as well as changes in tax rates, may materially impact income tax 

expense for the period.

The valuation allowances were $1.4 0.8 million and $2.0 1.4 million at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 

respectively. The valuation allowance is mainly against state NOL due to dilution of state apportionment.

The Company had no unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. It is not expected that the amount of 

unrecognized tax benefits will change significantly within the next twelve months.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. and in foreign jurisdictions. Generally, the Company is no longer subject to 

U.S., state, local and foreign income tax examinations by tax authorities in its major jurisdictions for years before 2017, except to the 

extent of NOL and tax credit carryforwards from those years. Major taxing jurisdictions include the U.S., both federal and state, and the 

United Kingdom. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company also had U.S. federal and state NOL carryforwards of 

$16.1 10.1 million, of which $3.7 million will begin to expire in 2036 and the remaining amount may be carried forward indefinitely. The 

Company also has foreign NOL carryforwards of $0.2 million, which may be carried forward indefinitely. The deferred tax assets related 

to the domestic NOL carryforwards have been partially offset by valuation allowance related to BrightTALK, Inc. and the deferred tax 

assets related to the foreign NOL carryforwards have been partially offset by a $0.1 million valuation allowance related to Hong Kong.

The Company considers the excess of its financial reporting over its tax basis in investments in foreign subsidiaries essentially 

permanent in duration and as such has not recognized deferred tax liability related to this difference. Undistributed earnings of the 

Company’s foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately $16.0 16.1 million as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. The 

Company has not provided any additional federal or state income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on the undistributed earnings as 

such earnings have been indefinitely reinvested in the business. Due to the various methods by which such earnings could be 

repatriated in the future, the amount of taxes attributable to the undistributed earnings is not practicably determinable.
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14. Segment Information

The Company views its operations and manages its business as one operating segment based on factors such as how the 

Company manages its operations and how its executive management team reviews results and makes decisions on how to allocate 

resources and assess performance.

Geographic Data

Net sales by campaign target area were as follows 
(1):
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   Years Ended December 31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  

North America   $ 189,897     $ 162,360     $ 90,919     $ 153,952     $ 189,897     $ 162,360  

International     107,591       101,067       57,457       76,011       107,591       101,067  

Total Revenue   $ 297,488     $ 263,427     $ 148,376     $ 229,963     $ 297,488     $ 263,427  

 

(1) Net sales to customers by campaign target area is based on the geo-targeted (target audience) location of the campaign.
 

Net sales to unaffiliated customers by geographic area were as follows 
(2):

 




   Years Ended December 31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2020     2023     2022     2021  

United States   $ 223,528     $ 188,904     $ 103,797     $ 175,045     $ 223,528     $ 188,904  

United Kingdom     31,197       36,189       18,405       24,379       31,197       36,189  

Other International     42,763       38,334       26,174       30,539       42,763       38,334  

Total   $ 297,488     $ 263,427     $ 148,376     $ 229,963     $ 297,488     $ 263,427  

 

(2) Net sales to unaffiliated customers by geographic area is based on the customers’ current billing addresses and does not conside
geo-targeted (target audience) location of the campaign.
 

Long-lived assets by geographic area were as follows:

 

   Years Ended December 31,     Years Ended December 31,  

   2022     2021     2023     2022  

United States   $ 222,488     $ 224,235     $ 221,394     $ 222,488  

International     87,763       101,948       86,760       87,763  

Total   $ 310,251     $ 326,183     $ 308,154     $ 310,251  

 

Long-lived assets are comprised of property and equipment, net; goodwill; and intangible assets, net. No single country outside of 

the U.S. and the United Kingdom accounted for 1% or more of the Company’s long-lived assets during either of these periods.

15. 401(k) Plans

The Company maintains 401(k)-retirement savings plans (the “Plans”) whereby employees may elect to defer a portion of their

salary and contribute the deferred portion to the Plans. The Company contributed $1.8 1.9 million, $1.7 1.8 million and $1.2 1.7 million to 

the Plans for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020 2021 respectively. Employee 

contributions and the Company’s matching contributions are invested in one or more collective investment funds at the participant’s 

direction. The Company’s matching contributions vest in accordance with the term of the respective Plan.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

154/199

 

 

83 16. Subsequent Event

On January 10, 2024, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Transaction Agreement”) with Informa and certain 

of our and their subsidiaries. Pursuant to the Transaction Agreement, we and Informa, among other things, agreed to combine our 

businesses with the business of Informa Intrepid Holdings Inc. (“Informa Tech”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Informa which will own

91

 

and operate Informa’s digital businesses (Industry Dive, Omdia (including Canalys)), NetLine and certain of its digital media brands 

(e.g. Information Week, Light Reading, and AI Business), under a new publicly traded holding company (“New TechTarget”). Upon 

closing, among other things, Informa and its subsidiaries will collectively own 57% of the outstanding common stock of New TechTarget 

(on a fully diluted basis) and our former stockholders will own the remaining outstanding common stock of New TechTarget. Our former 

stockholders will also receive a pro rata share of an amount in cash equal to $350 million plus the amount of any EBITDA adjustment 

(as defined in the Transaction Agreement), which is estimated as of the date of the Transaction Agreement to be approximately $11.79 

per share of our common stock. The various transactions set forth in the Transaction Agreement (the “proposed transaction”) are 

expected to close in the second half of 2024, subject to satisfaction or waiver of certain customary conditions.

We will be required to pay Informa a termination fee between $30.0 and $40.0 million if the Transaction Agreement is terminated 

under certain specified circumstances, including termination by us in connection with our entry into an agreement with respect to a Toro 

Superior Proposal (as defined in the Transaction Agreement) prior to us receiving stockholder approval of the proposed transaction, or 

termination by Informa upon a Toro Change in Recommendation (as defined in the Transaction Agreement).
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Item 9.	 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.	 Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We are required to maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be 

disclosed in its our reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and 
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reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (the “SEC’s”) SEC rules and forms, and that 

such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

In connection with the preparation of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 

2023, management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer), conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 

2023. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and 

procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, identified in connection with the evaluation of such internal 

control, that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2022 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, 

our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal 

control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act, as a process designed 

by, or under the supervision of, a company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by our Board of Directors, 

management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal 

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposition
our assets;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated fina
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being m
only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria for 

effective control over financial reporting described in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on management’s evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 

2022 December 31, 2023, our internal control over financial reporting was effective. Management has reviewed its assessment with the 

Audit Committee.
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The independent registered public accounting firm, Stowe and Degon LLC, has audited our consolidated financial statements and 

has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, which is 

included in Item 8 herein.
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Item 9B.	 Other Information

None. Bylaws

84 On January 10, 2024, our Board of Directors approved and adopted an amendment to our Amended and Restated Bylaws, or 

our Bylaws, effective January 10, 2024, to designate (i) the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or if such court does not 

have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware, as the sole and exclusive forum for bringing certain legal 

actions against us or on our behalf, and (ii) the federal district courts of the United States as the sole and exclusive forum for any 

complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any rule or regulation promulgated 

thereunder, in each case unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum.

The foregoing summary of the amendment to our Bylaws is qualified in all respects by reference to the text of our Bylaws, a copy 

of which is filed as Exhibit 3.2 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Trading Plans

There were no Rule 10b5-1 plans or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K) 

adopted, modified, or terminated by any directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f)) of the Company during the fourth 

quarter of 2023 covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9C.	 Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10.	 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item concerning directors and executive officers is incorporated herein by reference under the 

headings to be titled “Election of Class II Directors” and “Information About Corporate Governance” in our definitive proxy statement to 

be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC in connection with the Company’s 2023 2024 Proxy Statement (the “Proxy 

Statement”).

Code of Ethics
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The Company has a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers (including our principal 

executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions) as well as 

the members of the Board of Directors of the Company. The code is available at 

https://investor.techtarget.com/govdocs. governance/corporate-governance. We will make any required disclosure under Item 5.05 of 

Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or a waiver from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our 

principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions by 

posting such information on our website.

Item 11.	 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be set forth under the headings to be titled “Director Compensation,” “Executive 

Compensation,” and “Compensation Committee Report” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.	 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be set forth under the headings to be titled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial 

Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 

reference.

Item 13.	 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be set forth under the headings to be titled “Information about Corporate Governance” 

and “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.	 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be set forth under the heading to be titled “Independent Registered Public Accounting 

Firm” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15.	 Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Documents filed as part of this 

report:

(1) Financial Statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following consolidated financial statem
are included in Item 8:

• Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022
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• Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 Decembe
2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020 2021

• Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2
and 2020 2021

• Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021, 2022, 
2020 2021

• Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required or because the required informatio
given in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

(3) Exhibit Index.
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  Second Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement by 

and among the Registrant, the Investors named therein and SG 

Cowen Securities Corporation, dated as of December 17, 2004

  S-1   10.1   2/07/2007   333-

140503
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  Indemnification Agreement   8-K   10.1   8/07/2019   001-

33472
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  TechTarget, Inc. 2007 Stock Option and Incentive Plan   S-1/A   10.3   4/20/2007   333-

140503
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  Form of 
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  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2007 

Stock Option and Incentive Plan

  S-1/A   10.5   4/20/2007   333-

140503
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  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-

Employee Directors

  S-1/A   10.5.1   4/27/2007   333-

140503
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  Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated January 

17, 2008, by and between the Registrant and Don Hawk

  10-K   10.26   3/31/2008   001-

33472
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2

  Lease Agreement by and between MA-Riverside Project L.L.C., 

as landlord and TechTarget, Inc., as tenant

  8-K   10.1   8/7/2009   001-

33472
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Amend
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    Riverside Center, 275 Grove Street, Newton, Massachusetts, dated 

April 30, 2021.

               

                     

  10.10#   Amendment and Waiver to Amended and Restated Employment 

Agreement between the Registrant and Don Hawk (dated January 10, 

2012)

  10-K   10.37   3/15/2012   001-33472

                     

  10.11   Second Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Hines 

Global REIT Riverside Center, LLC, as landlord and successor in 

interest to MA-Riverside Project, LLC and TechTarget, Inc., as tenant 

dated July 23, 2015

  10-Q   10.1   11/9/2015   001-33472
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  10.12#   Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Michael Cotoia 

(dated May 3, 2016)

  8-K   10.2   5/9/2016   001-33472

                     

  10.13#   Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Greg Strakosch 

(dated May 3, 2016)

  8-K   10.3   5/9/2016   001-33472

                     

  10.14#   Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Daniel T. Noreck 

(dated December 19, 2016)

  8-K   10.1   12/19/2016   001-33472

                     

  10.15#   TechTarget, Inc. 2017 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended   8-K   99.1   6/11/2021   001-33472

                     

  10.16#   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement   10-Q   10.2   8/9/2017   001-33472

                     

  10.17#   Form of Stock Option Agreement   10-Q   10.3   8/9/2017   001-33472

                     

  10.18   Third Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Hines Global 

REIT Riverside Center, LLC, as landlord and successor in interest to 

MA-Riverside Project, LLC and TechTarget, Inc., as tenant dated 

October 26, 2017

  8-K   10.1   10/27/2017   001-33472

                     

  10.19#   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement   8-K   10.1   8/3/2018   001-33472

                     

  10.20   Loan and Security Agreement, by and among the Registrant, Western 

Alliance Bank, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the 

banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party 

thereto as lenders, dated as of October 29, 2021.Agreement.

  10-Q   10.1   11/03/2021   001-33472

                     

*10.21#   2023 Executive Incentive Bonus Plan                

                     

  10.22   Consent and First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, by 

and among the Registrant, Western Alliance Bank, as administrative 

agent and collateral agent, and the banks and other financial 

institutions or entities from time to time party thereto as lenders, dated 

as of December 7, 2021.

  10-K   10.23   02/28/2022   001-33472

                     

  10.23   TechTarget, Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan   8-K   99.1   06/09/2022   001-33472

                     

  16.1   Changes in Registrant's Certifying Accountant, Letter from BDO USA, 

LLP dated June 17, 2019.

  8-K   16.1   6/17/2019   001-33472
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*21.1   List of Subsidiaries                

                     

*23.1   Consent of Stowe & Degon, LLC                

                     

*31.1   Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities 

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(A) And 15d-14(A), As Adopted Pursuant 

To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

               

                     

  10.8   First Amendment to Lease Agreement, by and between the Registrant 

and MA-Riverside Project L.L.C. for the premises located at One 

Riverside Center, 275 Grove Street, Newton, Massachusetts, dated 

November 18, 2010

  8-K   10.1   11/22/2010   001-33472

                     

  10.9   Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement, by and between the 

Registrant and ARE-MA REGION NO. 76, LLC for the premises 

located at One Riverside Center, 275 Grove Street, Newton, 

Massachusetts, dated April 30, 2021.

  10-Q   10.1   5/05/2021   001-33472

                     

  10.10#   Amendment and Waiver to Amended and Restated Employment 

Agreement between the Registrant and Don Hawk (dated January 10, 

2012)

  10-K   10.37   3/15/2012   001-33472

                     

  10.11   Second Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Hines 

Global REIT Riverside Center, LLC, as landlord and successor in 

interest to MA-Riverside Project, LLC and TechTarget, Inc., as tenant 

dated July 23, 2015

  10-Q   10.1   11/9/2015   001-33472

                     

  10.12#   Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Michael Cotoia 

(dated May 3, 2016)

  8-K   10.2   5/9/2016   001-33472

                     

  10.13#   Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Greg Strakosch 

(dated May 3, 2016)

  8-K   10.3   5/9/2016   001-33472

                     

  10.14#   Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Daniel T. Noreck 

(dated December 19, 2016)

  8-K   10.1   12/19/2016   001-33472

                     

  10.15#   TechTarget, Inc. 2017 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended   8-K   99.1   6/11/2021   001-33472

                     

  10.16#   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement   10-Q   10.2   8/9/2017   001-33472
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  10.17#   Form of Stock Option Agreement   10-Q   10.3   8/9/2017   001-33472

                     

  10.18   Third Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Hines Global 

REIT Riverside Center, LLC, as landlord and successor in interest to 

MA-Riverside Project, LLC and TechTarget, Inc., as tenant dated 

October 26, 2017

  8-K   10.1   10/27/2017   001-33472

                     

  10.19#   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement   8-K   10.1   8/3/2018   001-33472

                     

**10.20#   2023 Executive Incentive Bonus Plan                

                     

  10.21   Consent and First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, by 

and among the Registrant, Western Alliance Bank, as administrative 

agent and collateral agent, and the banks and other financial 

institutions or entities from time to time party thereto as lenders, dated 

as of December 7, 2021.

  10-K   10.23   02/28/2022   001-33472

                     

  10.22   TechTarget, Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan   8-K   99.1   06/09/2022   001-33472

                     

10.23   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement   10-Q   10.24   11/08/2023   001-33472

                     

10.24   Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Rebecca 

Kitchens (dated September 8, 2023)

  10-Q   10.25   11/08/2023   001-33472

                     

10.25   Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Steven Niemiec 

(dated September 8, 2023)

  10-Q   10.26   11/08/2023   001-33472

                     

10.26   Employment Agreement, dated as of January 10, 2024, by and 

between Toro CombineCo, Inc. and Don Hawk

  8-K   10.1   1/11/2024   001-33472

88 97

 

*31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities 

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(A) And 15d-14(A), As Adopted Pursuant 

To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002
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*32.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (1)

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (1)

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (1)

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (1)

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (1)

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 

(1)

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and 

contained in Exhibit 101)

                     

10.27   Employment Agreement, dated as of January 10, 2024, by and 

between Toro CombineCo, Inc. and Daniel Noreck

  8-K   10.2   1/11/2024   001-33472

                     

10.28   Employment Agreement, dated as of January 10, 2024, by and 

between Toro CombineCo, Inc. and Rebecca Kitchens

  8-K   10.3   1/11/2024   001-33472

                     

10.29   Employment Agreement, dated as of January 10, 2024, by and 

between Toro CombineCo, Inc. and Steven Niemeic

  8-K   10.4   1/11/2024   001-33472

                     

10.30   Separation Agreement, dated as of January 10, 2024, by and between 

TechTarget, Inc. and Michael Cotoia

  8-K   10.5   1/11/2024   001-33472

                     

10.31   Separation Agreement, dated as of January 10, 2024, by and between 

TechTarget, Inc. and Greg Strakosch

  8-K   10.6   1/11/2024   001-33472

                     

10.32   Consulting Agreement, dates as of January 10, 2024 by and between

Toro Combine Co, Inc. and Michael Cotoia

  8-K   10.7   1/11/2024   001-33472

                     

10.33   Form of Lock-Up Agreement   8-K   10.8   1/11/2024   001-33472

                     

**21.1   List of Subsidiaries                

                     

**23.1   Consent of Stowe & Degon, LLC                
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**31.1   Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities 

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(A) And 15d-14(A), As Adopted Pursuant 

To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

               

                     

**31.2   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities 

Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(A) And 15d-14(A), As Adopted Pursuant 

To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

               

                     

**32.1   Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

               

                     

**97.1   Compensation Recovery Policy                

                     

101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document (1)                

                     

101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase 

Documents

               

                     

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and 

contained in Exhibit 101)

               

                     

 

*Certain schedules, annexes and exhibits to the Transaction Agreement and Plan of Merger have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)

(2) of Regulation S-K. The registrant will furnish copies of any such schedules, annexes and exhibits to the U.S. Securities and 

Exchange Commission upon request.

** Filed herewith.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement filed as an Exhibit to this report pursuant to 15(a) and 15(c) of Form 10-

K.
(1) Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, December
2021 December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for
Years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2020 Decembe
2021, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, December
2021 December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021, and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 16.	 Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 

TECHTARGET, INC.

Date: February 28, 2023 February 28, 2024

     

By:   /s/ Michael Cotoia

    Michael Cotoia

    Chief Executive Officer and Director

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons 

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

 

Signature   Title   Date

         

/s/ Michael Cotoia   Chief Executive Officer and Director   February 28, 2023 2024

Michael Cotoia   (Principal executive officer)    

         

/s/ Daniel Noreck   Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer   February 28, 2023 2024

Daniel Noreck   (Principal financial and accounting officer)    

         

/s/ Greg Strakosch   Executive Chairman   February 28, 2023 2024

Greg Strakosch        

         

/s/ Robert D. Burke   Director   February 28, 2023 2024

Robert D. Burke        
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/s/ Bruce Levenson   Lead Independent Director   February 28, 2023 2024

Bruce Levenson        

         

/s/ Roger M. Marino   Director   February 28, 2023 2024

Roger M. Marino        

         

/s/ Perfecto Sanchez   Director   February 28, 2023 2024

Perfecto Sanchez        

         

/s/ Christina Van Houten   Director   February 28, 2023 2024

Christina Van Houten        
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Exhibit 3.2

AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS

OF TECHTARGET, INC.

(the "Corporation")

ARTICLE I

Stockholders

SECTION 1.	 Annual Meeting.	 The annual meeting of stockholders (any such meeting being referred to in these By-laws as 

an "Annual Meeting") shall be held at the hour, date and place within or without the United States which is fixed by the Board of 

Directors, which time, date and place may subsequently be changed at any time by vote of the Board of Directors. If no Annual 

Meeting has been held for a period of thirteen months after the Corporation's last Annual Meeting, a special meeting in lieu thereof 

may be held, and such special meeting shall have, for the purposes of these By-laws or otherwise, all the force and effect of an 

Annual Meeting. Any and all references hereafter in these By-laws to an Annual Meeting or Annual Meetings also shall be deemed 

to refer to any special meeting(s) in lieu thereof.

SECTION 2.	 Notice of Stockholder Business and Nominations.
(a) Annual Meetings of Stockholders.

(1)Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors of the Corporation and the proposal of business to be 
considered by the stockholders may be made at an Annual Meeting (a) pursuant to the Corporation's notice of meeting, (b) 
by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (c) by any stockholder of the Corporation who was a stockholder of record 
at the time of giving of notice provided for in this By-law, who is entitled to vote at the meeting, who is present (in person or 
by proxy) at the meeting and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this By-law. In addition to the other 
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requirements set forth in this By-law, for any proposal of business to be considered at an Annual Meeting, it must be a 
proper subject for action by stockholders of the Corporation under Delaware law.

(2)For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an Annual Meeting by a stockholder pursuant to 
clause (c) of paragraph (a)(1) of this By-law, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the 
Secretary of the Corporation. To be timely, a stockholder's notice shall be delivered to the Secretary at the principal 
executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the 90th day nor earlier than the close of 
business on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's Annual Meeting; provided, however, that in 
the event that the date of the Annual Meeting is advanced by more than 30 days before or delayed by more than 60 days 
after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the close of 
business on the 120th day prior to such Annual Meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day 
prior to such Annual Meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting 
is first made. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary provided herein, for the first Annual Meeting following the initial 
public offering of common stock of the Corporation, a stockholder's notice shall be timely if delivered to the Secretary at the 
principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the 
scheduled date of such Annual Meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of 
such Annual Meeting is first made or sent by the Corporation. Such stockholder's notice shall set forth (a) as to each 
person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a

director, all information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of 

directors in an election contest, or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to

Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") (including such person's 

written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected); (b) as to any 

other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description of the business desired to be 

brought before the meeting, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, any material interest in such business 

of such stockholder and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made, and the names and addresses of 

other stockholders known by the stockholder proposing such business to support such proposal, and the class and number 

of shares of the Corporation's capital stock beneficially owned by such other stockholders; and (c) as to the stockholder 

giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made

(i) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation's books, and of such beneficial owner, and 

(ii) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are owned beneficially and of record by such stockholder and 

such beneficial owner.
(3)Notwithstanding anything in the second sentence of paragraph (a)(2) of this By-law to the contrary, in the event that 

the number of directors to be elected to the Board of Directors of the Corporation is increased and there is no public 
announcement naming all of the nominees for director or specifying the size of the increased Board of Directors made by 
the Corporation at least 85 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's Annual Meeting, a stockholder's notice 
required by this By-law shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by 
such increase, if it shall be delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the 
close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by the Corporation.

(b) General.
(1)Only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the provisions of this By-law shall be eligible for 

election and to serve as directors and only such business shall be conducted at an Annual Meeting as shall have been 
brought before the meeting in accordance with the provisions of this By-law. The Board of Directors or a designated 
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committee thereof shall have the power to determine whether a nomination or any business proposed to be brought 
before the meeting was made in accordance with the provisions of this By-law. If neither the Board of Directors nor such 
designated committee makes a determination as to whether any stockholder proposal or nomination was made in 
accordance with the provisions of this By-law, the presiding officer of the Annual Meeting shall have the power and duty to 
determine whether the stockholder proposal or nomination was made in accordance with the provisions of this By-law. If 
the Board of Directors or a designated committee thereof or the presiding officer, as applicable, determines that any 
stockholder proposal or nomination was not made in accordance with the provisions of this By-law, such proposal or 
nomination shall be disregarded and shall not be presented for action at the Annual Meeting.

(2)For purposes of this By-law, "public announcement" shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by the 
Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the 
Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

(3)Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this By-law, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable 
requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this By-
law. Nothing in this By-law shall be deemed to affect any rights of
(i) stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation's proxy statement pursuant to

Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act or (ii) the holders of any series of Undesignated Preferred Stock to elect directors 

under specified circumstances.

SECTION 3.	 Special Meetings.	 Except as otherwise required by statute and subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of 

any series of Undesignated Preferred Stock, special meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation

may be called only by the Board of Directors acting pursuant to a resolution approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the 

Directors then in office. Only those matters set forth in the notice of the special meeting may be considered or acted upon at a special 

meeting of stockholders of the Corporation.

SECTION 4.	 Notice of Meetings; Adjournments.	A notice of each Annual Meeting stating the hour, date and place, if any, of 

such Annual Meeting shall be given not less than ten (10) days nor more than sixty (60) days before the Annual Meeting, to each 

stockholder entitled to vote thereat by delivering such notice to such stockholder or by mailing it, postage prepaid, addressed to such 

stockholder at the address of such stockholder as it appears on the Corporation's stock transfer books.

Notice of all special meetings of stockholders shall be given in the same manner as provided for Annual Meetings, except that 

the notice of all special meetings shall state the purpose or purposes for which the meeting has been called.

Notice of an Annual Meeting or special meeting of stockholders need not be given to a stockholder if a waiver of notice is 

executed before or after such meeting by such stockholder or if such stockholder attends such meeting, unless such attendance was 

for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of any business because the meeting was not 

lawfully called or convened.

The Board of Directors may postpone and reschedule any previously scheduled Annual Meeting or special meeting of 

stockholders and any record date with respect thereto, regardless of whether any notice or public disclosure with respect to any such 

meeting has been sent or made pursuant to Section 2 of this Article I of these By- laws or otherwise. In no event shall the public 

announcement of an adjournment, postponement or rescheduling of any previously scheduled meeting of stockholders commence a 

new time period for the giving of a stockholder's notice under Section 2 of this Article I of these By-laws.
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When any meeting is convened, the presiding officer may adjourn the meeting if (a) no quorum is present for the transaction of 

business, (b) the Board of Directors determines that adjournment is necessary or appropriate to enable the stockholders to consider 

fully information which the Board of Directors determines has not been made sufficiently or timely available to stockholders, or (c) 

the Board of Directors determines that adjournment is otherwise in the best interests of the Corporation. When any Annual Meeting 

or special meeting of stockholders is adjourned to another hour, date or place, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting 

other than an announcement at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken of the hour, date and place, if any, to which the 

meeting is adjourned and the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to 

be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting; provided, however, that if the adjournment is for more than 30 days, or if 

after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, notice of the adjourned meeting and the means of 

remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such 

adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote thereat and each stockholder who, by law or under 

the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation (as the same may hereafter be amended and/or restated, the "Certificate") or 

these By-laws, is entitled to such notice.

SECTION 5.	 Quorum.	 A majority of the shares entitled to vote, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a 

quorum at any meeting of stockholders. If less than a quorum is present at a meeting, the holders of voting stock representing a 

majority of the voting power present at the meeting or the presiding officer may adjourn the meeting from time to time, and the 

meeting may be held as adjourned without further notice, except as provided in Section 5 of this Article I. At such adjourned meeting 

at which a quorum is present, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally 

noticed. The stockholders present at a duly constituted meeting may continue to transact business until adjournment, 

notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough stockholders to leave less than a quorum.

SECTION 6. Voting and Proxies. Stockholders shall have one vote for each share of stock entitled to vote owned by them of 

record according to the stock ledger of the Corporation, unless otherwise provided by law or by the Certificate. Stockholders may 

vote either (i) in person, (ii) by written proxy or (iii) by a transmission permitted

by §212(c) of the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL"). Any copy, facsimile telecommunication or other reliable reproduction 

of the writing or transmission permitted by §212(c) of the DGCL may be substituted for or used in lieu of the original writing or 

transmission for any and all purposes for which the original writing or transmission could be used, provided that such copy, facsimile 

telecommunication or other reproduction shall be a complete reproduction of the entire original writing or transmission. Proxies shall 

be filed in accordance with the procedures established for the meeting of stockholders. Except as otherwise limited therein or as 

otherwise provided by law, proxies authorizing a person to vote at a specific meeting shall entitle the persons authorized thereby to 

vote at any adjournment of such meeting, but they shall not be valid after final adjournment of such meeting. A proxy with respect to 

stock held in the name of two or more persons shall be valid if executed by or on behalf of any one of them unless at or prior to the 

exercise of the proxy the Corporation receives a specific written notice to the contrary from any one of them.

SECTION 7.	 Action at Meeting.	 When a quorum is present at any meeting of stockholders, any matter before such meeting 

(other than an election of a director or directors) shall be decided by a majority of the votes properly cast for and against such matter, 

except where a different vote is required by law, by the Certificate or by these By-laws. In the event of a contested election, when a 
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quorum is present, directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the shares present in person or represented by proxy 

at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors. If directors are to be elected by a plurality vote, stockholders shall not 

be permitted to vote against a nominee. An election shall be a “contested election” if the number of nominees exceeds the number of 

directors to be elected at the meeting as of the tenth (10th) day preceding the date of the corporation’s first notice to stockholders of 

such meeting sent pursuant to Section 4 of Article I of these By-laws (the “Determination Date”); provided, however, that if, in 

accordance with Section 4 of Article I of these By-laws, stockholders are entitled to nominate persons for election as a director after 

the otherwise applicable Determination Date, the Determination Date shall instead be the last day on which stockholders are entitled 

to nominate persons for election as a director. Any election that is not a contested election shall be an uncontested election. In the 

event of an uncontested election, when a quorum is present a director nominee shall be elected if the number of votes cast “for” such 

director’s election exceeds the number of votes cast “against” that director’s election by the shares present in person or represented 

by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors (with “abstentions” and “broker non-votes” not counted as a 

vote cast either “for” or “against” that director’s election). The Corporation shall not directly or indirectly vote any shares of its own 

stock; provided, however, that the Corporation may vote shares which it holds in a fiduciary capacity to the extent permitted by law.

SECTION 8.	 Stockholder Lists.	 The Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or the Corporation's transfer agent or other person 

authorized by these By-laws or by law) shall prepare and make, at least 10 days before every Annual Meeting or special meeting of 

stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the 

address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the 

examination of any stockholder, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting in the manner provided by law. The list shall 

also be open to the examination of any stockholder during the whole time of the meeting as provided by law.

SECTION 9.	 Presiding Officer.	 The Chairman of the Board, if one is elected, or if not elected or in his or her absence, the 

President, shall preside at all Annual Meetings or special meetings of stockholders and shall have the power, among other things, to 

adjourn such meeting at any time and from time to time, subject to Sections 5 and 6 of this Article I. The order of business and all 

other matters of procedure at any meeting of the stockholders shall be determined by the presiding officer.

SECTION 10.	 Inspectors of Elections.	 The Corporation shall, in advance of any meeting of stockholders, appoint one or more 

inspectors to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. The Corporation may designate one or more persons as alternate 

inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate is able to act at a meeting of stockholders, the 

presiding officer shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Any inspector may, but need not, be an officer, employee 

or agent of the Corporation. Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of his or her duties, shall take and sign an oath 

faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of his or her ability. The inspectors shall 

perform such duties as are required by the DGCL, including the counting of all votes and ballots. The inspectors may appoint or 

retain other persons or entities to assist the inspectors in the performance of the duties of the inspectors. The presiding officer may 

review all determinations made by the inspectors, and in so doing the presiding officer shall be entitled to exercise his or her sole 

judgment and discretion and he or she shall not be bound by any determinations made by the inspectors. All determinations by the 

inspectors and, if applicable,

the presiding officer, shall be subject to further review by any court of competent jurisdiction.
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ARTICLE II

Directors

SECTION 1.	 Powers.	 The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the 

Board of Directors except as otherwise provided by the Certificate or required by law.

SECTION 2.	 Number and Terms.	 The number of directors of the Corporation shall be fixed solely and exclusively by 

resolution duly adopted from time to time by the Board of Directors. The directors shall hold office in the manner provided in the 

Certificate.

SECTION 3.	 Qualification.	 No director need be a stockholder of the Corporation.

SECTION 4.	 Vacancies.	 Vacancies in the Board of Directors shall be filled in the manner provided in the Certificate.

SECTION 5.	 Removal. Directors may be removed from office in the manner provided in the Certificate.

SECTION 6.	 Resignation.	 A director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chairman of the Board, if one is 

elected, the President or the Secretary. A resignation shall be effective upon receipt, unless the resignation otherwise provides.

SECTION 7.	 Regular Meetings.	 The regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held, without notice other than 

this Section 7, on the same date and at the same place as the Annual Meeting following the close of such meeting of stockholders. 

Other regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such hour, date and place as the Board of Directors may by 

resolution from time to time determine and publicize by means of reasonable notice given to any director who is not present at the 

meeting at which such resolution is adopted.

SECTION 8.	 Special Meetings.	 Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called, orally or in writing, by or at the 

request of a majority of the directors, the Chairman of the Board, if one is elected, or the President. The person calling any such 

special meeting of the Board of Directors may fix the hour, date and place thereof.

SECTION 9.	 Notice of Meetings.	Notice of the hour, date and place of all special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be 

given to each director by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, or in case of the death, absence, incapacity or refusal of such 

persons, by the Chairman of the Board, if one is elected, or the President or such other officer designated by the Chairman of the 

Board, if one is elected, or the President. Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given to each director in 

person, by telephone, or by facsimile, electronic mail or other form of electronic communication, sent to his or her business or home 

address, at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting, or by written notice mailed to his or her business or home address, at least 48 

hours in advance of the meeting. Such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when hand delivered to such address, read to such 

director by telephone, deposited in the mail so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid if mailed, dispatched or transmitted if faxed, 

telexed or telecopied, or sent by electronic mail or other form of electronic communication, or when delivered to the telegraph 

company if sent by telegram.

A written waiver of notice signed before or after a meeting by a director and filed with the records of the meeting shall be 

deemed to be equivalent to notice of the meeting. The attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of 

such meeting, except where a director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the 

transaction of any business because such meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Except as otherwise required by law, by the 

Certificate or by these By-laws, neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any meeting of the Board of Directors 

need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.
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SECTION 10.	 Quorum.	 At any meeting of the Board of Directors, a majority of the total number of directors shall constitute a 

quorum for the transaction of business, but if less than a quorum is present at a meeting, a majority of the directors present may 

adjourn the meeting from time to time, and the meeting may be held as adjourned without further notice, except as provided in 

Section 9 of this Article II. Any business which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed may be transacted at 

such adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present. For purposes of this section, the total number of directors includes any 

unfilled vacancies on the Board of Directors.

SECTION 11.	 Action at Meeting.	 At any meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present, the vote of a majority 

of the directors present shall constitute action by the Board of Directors, unless otherwise required by law, by the Certificate or by 

these By-laws.

SECTION 12.	 Action by Consent.	 Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors may be 

taken without a meeting if all members of the Board of Directors consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission and the 

writing or writings or electronic transmission or transmissions are filed with the records of the meetings of the Board of Directors. 

Such filing shall be in paper form if the minutes are maintained in paper form and shall be in electronic form if the minutes are 

maintained in electronic form. Such consent shall be treated as a resolution of the Board of Directors for all purposes.

SECTION 13.	 Manner of Participation.	 Directors may participate in meetings of the Board of Directors by means of conference 

telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all directors participating in the meeting can hear each other, and 

participation in a meeting in accordance herewith shall constitute presence in person at such meeting for purposes of these By-laws.

SECTION 14.	 Committees.	 The Board of Directors, by vote of a majority of the directors then in office, may elect from its 

number one or more committees, including, without limitation, an Executive Committee, a Compensation Committee, a Nominating 

and Corporate Governance Committee and an Audit Committee, and may delegate thereto some or all of its powers except those 

which by law, by the Certificate or by these By-laws may not be delegated. Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise 

determine, any such committee may make rules for the conduct of its business, but unless otherwise provided by the Board of 

Directors or in such rules, its business shall be conducted so far as possible in the same manner as is provided by these By-laws for 

the Board of Directors. All members of such committees shall hold such offices at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. The Board 

of Directors may abolish any such committee at any time. Any committee to which the Board of Directors delegates any of its powers 

or duties shall keep records of its meetings and shall report its action to the Board of Directors.

SECTION 15.	 Compensation of Directors.	 Directors shall receive such compensation for their services as shall be 

determined by a majority of the Board of Directors, or a designated committee thereof, provided that directors who are serving the 

Corporation as employees and who receive compensation for their services as such, shall not receive any salary or other 

compensation for their services as directors of the Corporation.

ARTICLE III

Officers

SECTION 1.	 Enumeration.	 The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a President, a Treasurer, a Secretary and such 

other officers, including, without limitation, a Chairman of the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer and one or more Vice 

Presidents (including Executive Vice Presidents or Senior Vice Presidents), Assistant Vice Presidents, Assistant Treasurers and 

Assistant Secretaries, as the Board of Directors may determine.

SECTION 2.	 Election.	 At the regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors following the Annual Meeting, the Board of 

Directors shall elect the [Chief Executive Officer,] President, the Treasurer and the Secretary. Other officers may be elected by the 

Board of Directors at such regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors or at any other regular or special meeting.

SECTION 3.	 Qualification.	 No officer need be a stockholder or a director. Any person may occupy
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more than one office of the Corporation at any time. Any officer may be required by the Board of Directors to give bond for the faithful 

performance of his or her duties in such amount and with such sureties as the Board of Directors may determine.

SECTION 4.	 Tenure.	 Except as otherwise provided by the Certificate or by these By-laws, each of the officers of the 

Corporation shall hold office until the regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors following the

next Annual Meeting and until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal.

SECTION 5.	 Resignation.	 Any officer may resign by delivering his or her written resignation to the Corporation addressed to 

the President or the Secretary, and such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some other 

time or upon the happening of some other event.

SECTION 6.	 Removal. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Board of Directors may remove any officer with or 

without cause by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office.

SECTION 7.	 Absence or Disability.	 In the event of the absence or disability of any officer, the Board of Directors may 

designate another officer to act temporarily in place of such absent or disabled officer.

SECTION 8.	 Vacancies.	 Any vacancy in any office may be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by the Board of 

Directors.

SECTION 9.	 Chief Executive Officer.	 The Chief Executive Officer shall, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors, 

have general supervision and control of the Corporation's business. If there is no Chairman of the Board or if he or she is absent, 

the Chief Executive Officer shall preside, when present, at all meetings of stockholders and of the Board of Directors. The Chief 

Executive Officer shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time 

designate.

SECTION 10.	 Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board, if one is elected, shall preside, when present, at all 

meetings of the stockholders and of the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board shall have such other powers and shall 

perform such other duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.

SECTION 11.	 President and Chief Financial Officer.	 The President and Chief Financial Officer, if one is elected, shall have 

such powers and shall perform such duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.

SECTION 12. Vice Presidents and Assistant Vice Presidents. Any Vice President (including any Executive Vice President or 

Senior Vice President) and any Assistant Vice President shall have such powers and shall perform such duties as the Board of 

Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time designate.

SECTION 13.	 Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers.	 The Treasurer shall, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors 

and except as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may otherwise provide, have general charge of the financial 

affairs of the Corporation and shall cause to be kept accurate books of account. The Treasurer shall have custody of all funds, 
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securities, and valuable documents of the Corporation. He or she shall have such other duties and powers as may be designated 

from time to time by the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer.

Any Assistant Treasurer shall have such powers and perform such duties as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive 

Officer may from time to time designate.

SECTION 14.	 Secretary and Assistant Secretaries.	 The Secretary shall record all the proceedings of the meetings of the 

stockholders and the Board of Directors (including committees of the Board) in books kept for that purpose. In his or her absence 

from any such meeting, a temporary secretary chosen at the meeting shall record the proceedings thereof. The Secretary shall 

have charge of the stock ledger (which may, however, be kept by any transfer or other agent of the Corporation). The Secretary 

shall have custody of the seal of the Corporation, and the Secretary, or an Assistant Secretary, shall have authority to affix it to any 

instrument requiring it, and, when so affixed, the seal may be attested by his or her signature or that of an Assistant Secretary. The 

Secretary shall have such other duties and powers as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors or the Chief

Executive Officer. In the absence of the Secretary, any Assistant Secretary may perform his or her duties and responsibilities.

Any Assistant Secretary shall have such powers and perform such duties as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer 

may from time to time designate.

SECTION 15.	 Other Powers and Duties.	 Subject to these By-laws and to such limitations as the Board of Directors may 

from time to time prescribe, the officers of the Corporation shall each have such powers and duties as generally pertain to their 

respective offices, as well as such powers and duties as from time to time may be conferred by the Board of Directors or the Chief 

Executive Officer.

ARTICLE IV

Capital Stock

SECTION 1.	 Certificates of Stock.	 Each stockholder shall be entitled to a certificate of the capital stock of the Corporation 

in such form as may from time to time be prescribed by the Board of Directors; provided that the Board may provide that some or all 

of any or all classes or series of its stock shall be uncertificated shares, in which case the holders of such stock will not be entitled to 

certificates with respect to such stock. Such certificate shall be signed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive 

Officer or a Vice President and by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary. The 

Corporation seal and the signatures by the Corporation's officers, the transfer agent or the registrar may be facsimiles. In case any 

officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed on such certificate shall have ceased 

to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same 

effect as if he or she were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the time of its issue. Every certificate for shares of stock which 

are subject to any restriction on transfer and every certificate issued when the Corporation is authorized to issue more than one class 

or series of stock shall contain such legend with respect thereto as is required by law.

SECTION 2.	 Transfers.	 Subject to any restrictions on transfer and unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, 

shares of stock may be transferred only on the books of the Corporation by the surrender to the Corporation or its transfer agent of 

the certificate theretofore properly endorsed or accompanied by a written assignment or power of attorney properly executed, with 
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transfer stamps (if necessary) affixed, and with such proof of the authenticity of signature as the Corporation or its transfer agent 

may reasonably require.

SECTION 3.	 Record Holders.	 Except as may otherwise be required by law, by the Certificate or by these By-laws, the 

Corporation shall be entitled to treat the record holder of stock as shown on its books as the owner of such stock for all purposes, 

including the payment of dividends and the right to vote with respect thereto, regardless of any transfer, pledge or other disposition 

of such stock, until the shares have been transferred on the books of the Corporation in accordance with the requirements of these 

By-laws.

SECTION 4.	 Record Date.	 In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at 

any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or 

allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the 

purpose of any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon 

which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors, and which record date: (a) in the case of 

determination of stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders, shall, unless otherwise required by law, not be more 

than sixty nor less than ten days before the date of such meeting and (b) in the case of any other action, shall not be more than sixty 

days prior to such other action. If no record date is fixed: (i) the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to 

vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if 

notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held and (ii) the record date for 

determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts 

the resolution relating thereto.

SECTION 5.	 Replacement of Certificates.	 In case of the alleged loss, destruction or mutilation of a certificate of stock, a 

duplicate certificate may be issued in place thereof, upon such terms as the Board of Directors may prescribe.

ARTICLE V

Indemnification

SECTION 1.	 Definitions.	 For purposes of this Article:

(a) "Corporate Status" describes the status of a person who is serving or has served (i) as a Director of the Corporation, (ii) 
as an Officer of the Corporation, or (iii) as a director, partner, trustee, officer, employee or agent of any other corporation, limited 
liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan, foundation, association, organization or other legal entity 
which such person is or was serving at the request of the Corporation. For purposes of this Section 1(a), an Officer or Director of the 
Corporation who is serving or has served as a director, partner, trustee, officer, employee or agent of a Subsidiary shall be deemed 
to be serving at the request of the Corporation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, "Corporate Status" shall not include the status of a 
person who is serving or has served as a director, officer, employee or agent of a constituent corporation absorbed in a merger or 
consolidation transaction with the Corporation with respect to such person's activities prior to said transaction, unless specifically 
authorized by the Board of Directors or the stockholders of the Corporation;

(b) "Director" means any person who serves or has served the Corporation as a director on the Board of Directors of 
the Corporation;

(c) "Disinterested Director" means, with respect to each Proceeding in respect of which indemnification is sought 
hereunder, a Director of the Corporation who is not and was not a party to such Proceeding;
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(d) "Expenses" means all reasonable attorneys' fees, retainers, court costs, transcript costs, fees of expert witnesses, private 
investigators and professional advisors (including, without limitation, accountants and investment bankers), travel expenses, 
duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, costs of preparation of demonstrative evidence and other courtroom presentation aids 
and devices, costs incurred in connection with document review, organization, imaging and computerization, telephone charges, 
postage, delivery service fees, and all other disbursements, costs or expenses of the type customarily incurred in connection with 
prosecuting, defending, preparing to prosecute or defend, investigating, being or preparing to be a witness in, settling or otherwise 
participating in, a Proceeding;

(e) "Non-Officer Employee" means any person who serves or has served as an employee or agent of the Corporation, 
but who is not or was not a Director or Officer;

(f) "Officer" means any person who serves or has served the Corporation as an officer appointed by the Board of Directors of 
the Corporation;

(g) "Proceeding" means any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, arbitration, alternate dispute resolution 
mechanism, inquiry, investigation, administrative hearing or other proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, arbitrative or 
investigative; and

(h) "Subsidiary" shall mean any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other entity of which 
the Corporation owns (either directly or through or together with another Subsidiary of the Corporation) either (i) a general partner, 
managing member or other similar interest or (ii) (A) 50% or more of the voting power of the voting capital equity interests of such 
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other entity, or (B) 50% or more of the outstanding voting capital 
stock or other voting equity interests of such corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other entity.

SECTION 2.	 Indemnification of Directors and Officers.	 Subject to the operation of Section 4 of this Article V of these By-

laws, each Director and Officer shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Corporation to the fullest extent authorized by the 

DGCL, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended (but, in the case of any such amendment, only to the extent that such 

amendment permits the Corporation to provide broader

indemnification rights than such law permitted the Corporation to provide prior to such amendment) against any and all Expenses, 

judgments, penalties, fines and amounts reasonably paid in settlement that are incurred by such Director or Officer or on such 

Director's or Officer's behalf in connection with any threatened, pending or completed Proceeding or any claim, issue or matter 

therein, which such Director or Officer is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or participant in by reason of such Director's or 

Officer's Corporate Status, if such Director or Officer acted in good faith and in a manner such Director or Officer reasonably believed 

to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable 

cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The rights of indemnification provided by this Section 2 shall continue as to a 

Director or Officer after he or she has ceased to be a Director or Officer and shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors, 

administrators and personal representatives. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation shall indemnify any Director or Officer 

seeking indemnification in connection with a Proceeding initiated by such Director or Officer only if such Proceeding was authorized 

in advance by the Board of Directors of the Corporation, unless such Proceeding was brought to enforce an Officer or Director's 

rights to indemnification or, in the case of Directors, advancement of Expenses under these By-laws in accordance with the 

provisions set forth herein.

SECTION 3.	 Indemnification of Non-Officer Employees.	 Subject to the operation of Section 4 of this Article V of these By-

laws, each Non-Officer Employee may, in the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, be indemnified by the 
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Corporation to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended, against any or all 

Expenses, judgments, penalties, fines and amounts reasonably paid in settlement that are incurred by such Non-Officer Employee or 

on such Non-Officer Employee's behalf in connection with any threatened, pending or completed Proceeding, or any claim, issue or 

matter therein, which such Non- Officer Employee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or participant in by reason of such Non-

Officer Employee's Corporate Status, if such Non-Officer Employee acted in good faith and in a manner such Non-Officer Employee 

reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had 

no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The rights of indemnification provided by this Section 3 shall exist 

as to a Non-Officer Employee after he or she has ceased to be a Non-Officer Employee and shall inure to the benefit of his or her 

heirs, personal representatives, executors and administrators. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation may indemnify any 

Non-Officer Employee seeking indemnification in connection with a Proceeding initiated by such Non-Officer Employee only if such 

Proceeding was authorized in advance by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

SECTION 4.	 Good Faith.	 Unless ordered by a court, no indemnification shall be provided pursuant to this Article V to a 

Director, to an Officer or to a Non-Officer Employee unless a determination shall have been made that such person acted in good 

faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation and, with 

respect to any criminal Proceeding, such person had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Such 

determination shall be made by (a) a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a quorum of the Board of 

Directors, (b) a committee comprised of Disinterested Directors, such committee having been designated by a majority vote of the 

Disinterested Directors (even though less than a quorum), (c) if there are no such Disinterested Directors, or if a majority of 

Disinterested Directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, or (d) by the stockholders of the Corporation.

SECTION 5.	 Advancement of Expenses to Directors Prior to Final Disposition.
(a) The Corporation shall advance all Expenses incurred by or on behalf of any Director in connection with any 

Proceeding in which such Director is involved by reason of such Director's Corporate Status within ten
(10) days after the receipt by the Corporation of a written statement from such Director requesting such advance or advances from 

time to time, whether prior to or after final disposition of such Proceeding. Such statement or statements shall reasonably evidence 

the Expenses incurred by such Director and shall be preceded or accompanied by an undertaking by or on behalf of such Director to 

repay any Expenses so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined that such Director is not entitled to be indemnified against such 

Expenses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation shall advance all Expenses incurred by or on behalf of any Director 

seeking advancement

of expenses hereunder in connection with a Proceeding initiated by such Director only if such Proceeding was

(i) authorized by the Board of Directors of the Corporation, or (ii) brought to enforce Director's rights to indemnification or 

advancement of Expenses under these By-laws.
(b) If a claim for advancement of Expenses hereunder by a Director is not paid in full by the Corporation within 10 days after 

receipt by the Corporation of documentation of Expenses and the required undertaking, such Director may at any time thereafter 
bring suit against the Corporation to recover the unpaid amount of the claim and if successful in whole or in part, such Director shall 
also be entitled to be paid the expenses of prosecuting such claim. The failure of the Corporation (including its Board of Directors or 
any committee thereof, independent legal counsel, or stockholders) to make a determination concerning the permissibility of such 
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advancement of Expenses under this Article V shall not be a defense to the action and shall not create a presumption that such 
advancement is not permissible. The burden of proving that a Director is not entitled to an advancement of expenses shall be on the 
Corporation.

(c) In any suit brought by the Corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, 
the Corporation shall be entitled to recover such expenses upon a final adjudication that the Director has not met any applicable 
standard for indemnification set forth in the DGCL.

SECTION 6.	 Advancement of Expenses to Officers and Non-Officer Employees Prior to Final Disposition.

(a) The Corporation may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, advance any or all Expenses incurred 
by or on behalf of any Officer or any Non-Officer Employee in connection with any Proceeding in which such is involved by reason of 
the Corporate Status of such Officer or Non-Officer Employee upon the receipt by the Corporation of a statement or statements from 
such Officer or Non-Officer Employee requesting such advance or advances from time to time, whether prior to or after final 
disposition of such Proceeding. Such statement or statements shall reasonably evidence the Expenses incurred by such Officer and 
Non-Officer Employee and shall be preceded or accompanied by an undertaking by or on behalf of such to repay any Expenses so 
advanced if it shall ultimately be determined that such Officer or Non-Officer Employee is not entitled to be indemnified against such 
Expenses.

(b) In any suit brought by the Corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, 
the Corporation shall be entitled to recover such expenses upon a final adjudication that the Officer or Non-Officer Employee has 
not met any applicable standard for indemnification set forth in the DGCL.

SECTION 7.	 Contractual Nature of Rights.
(a) The foregoing provisions of this Article V shall be deemed to be a contract between the Corporation and each Director 

and Officer entitled to the benefits hereof at any time while this Article V is in effect, and any repeal or modification thereof shall not 
affect any rights or obligations then existing with respect to any state of facts then or theretofore existing or any Proceeding 
theretofore or thereafter brought based in whole or in part upon any such state of facts.

(b) If a claim for indemnification hereunder by a Director or Officer is not paid in full by the Corporation within 60 days after 
receipt by the Corporation of a written claim for indemnification, such Director or Officer may at any time thereafter bring suit against 
the Corporation to recover the unpaid amount of the claim, and if successful in whole or in part, such Director or Officer shall also be 
entitled to be paid the expenses of prosecuting such claim. The failure of the Corporation (including its Board of Directors or any 
committee thereof, independent legal counsel, or stockholders) to make a determination concerning the permissibility of such 
indemnification under this Article V shall not be a defense to the action and shall not create a presumption that such indemnification 
is not permissible. The burden of proving that a Director or Officer is not entitled to indemnification shall be on the Corporation.

(c) In any suit brought by a Director or Officer to enforce a right to indemnification hereunder, it shall be a defense that such 
Director or Officer has not met any applicable standard for indemnification set forth in the DGCL.

SECTION 8.	 Non-Exclusivity of Rights.	 The rights to indemnification and advancement of Expenses set forth in this Article 

V shall not be exclusive of any other right which any Director, Officer, or Non-Officer Employee may have or hereafter acquire under 

any statute, provision of the Certificate or these By-laws, agreement, vote of stockholders or Disinterested Directors or otherwise.

SECTION 9.	 Insurance.	 The Corporation may maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any Director, 

Officer or Non-Officer Employee against any liability of any character asserted against or incurred by the Corporation or any such 

Director, Officer or Non-Officer Employee, or arising out of any such person's Corporate Status, whether or not the Corporation 

would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the DGCL or the provisions of this Article V.
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SECTION 10.	 Other Indemnification. The Corporation's obligation, if any, to indemnify any person under this Article V as a 

result of such person serving, at the request of the Corporation, as a director, partner, trustee, officer, employee or agent of another 

corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise shall be reduced by any amount such person 

may collect as indemnification from such other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or enterprise.

ARTICLE VI

Miscellaneous Provisions

SECTION 1.	 Fiscal Year.	 The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be determined by the Board of Directors. SECTION 2.	

Seal. The Board of Directors shall have power to adopt and alter the seal of the Corporation.

SECTION 3.	 Execution of Instruments.	 All deeds, leases, transfers, contracts, bonds, notes and other obligations to be 

entered into by the Corporation in the ordinary course of its business without director action may be executed on behalf of the 

Corporation by the Chairman of the Board, if one is elected, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Treasurer or any other 

officer, employee or agent of the Corporation as the Board of Directors or Executive Committee may authorize.

SECTION 4.	 Voting of Securities.	 Unless the Board of Directors otherwise provides, the Chairman of the Board, if one is 

elected, the President or the Treasurer may waive notice of and act on behalf of this Corporation, or appoint another person or 

persons to act as proxy or attorney in fact for this Corporation with or without discretionary power and/or power of substitution, at 

any meeting of stockholders or shareholders of any other corporation or organization, any of whose securities are held by this 

Corporation.

SECTION 5.	 Resident Agent.	 The Board of Directors may appoint a resident agent upon whom legal process may 

be served in any action or proceeding against the Corporation.

SECTION 6.	 Corporate Records.	The original or attested copies of the Certificate, By-laws and records of all meetings of the 

incorporators, stockholders and the Board of Directors and the stock transfer books, which shall contain the names of all 

stockholders, their record addresses and the amount of stock held by each, may be kept outside the State of Delaware and shall be 

kept at the principal office of the Corporation, at the office of its counsel or at an office of its transfer agent or at such other place or 

places as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 7.	 Certificate.	 All references in these By-laws to the Certificate shall be deemed to refer to the Amended and 

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, as amended and in effect from time to time.

SECTION 8.	 Amendment of By-laws.

(a) Amendment by Directors.	 Except as provided otherwise by law, these By-laws may be amended or repealed by 
the Board of Directors by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office.

(b) Amendment by Stockholders.	 These By-laws may be amended or repealed at any Annual Meeting, or special meeting 
of stockholders called for such purpose, by the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on such 
amendment or repeal, voting together as a single class; provided, however, that if the Board of Directors recommends that 
stockholders approve such amendment or repeal at such meeting of stockholders, such amendment or repeal shall only require the 
affirmative vote of the majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on such amendment or repeal, voting together as a single 
class. Notwithstanding the foregoing, stockholder approval shall not be required unless mandated by the Certificate, these By-laws, 
or other applicable law.
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SECTION 9.	 Notices.	 If mailed, notice to stockholders shall be deemed given when deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, 

directed to the stockholder at such stockholder's address as it appears on the records of the Corporation. Without limiting the 

manner by which notice otherwise may be given to stockholders, any notice to stockholders may be given by electronic 

transmission in the manner provided in Section 232 of the DGCL.

SECTION 10.	 Waivers.	 A written waiver of any notice, signed by a stockholder or director, or waiver by electronic 

transmission by such person, whether given before or after the time of the event for which notice is to be given, shall be deemed 

equivalent to the notice required to be given to such person. Neither the business nor the purpose of any meeting need be specified 

in such a waiver.

SECTION 11.	 Exclusive Forum.

(a) Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of 

Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of 

Delaware) shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for: (i) any derivative action or proceeding 

brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former 

director, officer, other employee or stockholder of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders, (iii) any 

action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of 

Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (iv) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Corporation’s 

Certificate or these By-laws (in each case, as they may be amended from time to time) or governed by the internal affairs doctrine. 

This Section 11(a) does not apply to claims arising under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act or any other claim for 

which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.

(b) Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United 

States of America shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any claims arising 

under the Securities Act of 1933.

(c) Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation 

shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of this Section 11.

Adopted January 10, 2024 and effective as of January 10, 2024.
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2023 Executive Incentive Bonus Plan

1. Purpose
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This 2023 Executive Incentive Bonus Plan (the “Plan”) is intended to provide an incentive for superior work and to 

motivate eligible executives of TechTarget, Inc. (the “Company”) toward even higher achievement and business results, to tie 

their goals and interests to those of the Company and its stockholders and to enable the Company to attract and retain highly 

qualified executives. The Plan is for the benefit of Covered Executives (as defined below).
2. Covered Executives

From time to time, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Committee”) may select certain 

key executives (the “Covered Executives”) to be eligible to receive bonuses hereunder.
3. Administration

The Committee shall have the sole discretion and authority to administer and interpret the Plan. The specific goals and 

targets under of the Plan for each performance period shall be determined by the Committee and, once approved, filed with the 

minutes of the Committee.

4. Bonus Determinations
 

(a) A Covered Executive may receive a bonus payment under the Plan based upon the attainment of performance 

targets which are established by the Committee and relate to financial and operational metrics with respect to the Company or 

any of its subsidiaries (the “Performance Goals”), including the following: earnings per share, revenues, EBITDA, Adjusted 

EBITDA (defined as EBITDA further adjusted for stock-based compensation expense), percentage of revenue under longer-term 

contract, or such other metrics as the Committee may determine. For 2023, payment of a bonus pursuant to the Plan will be 

based 1/3 on attainment of a Revenue, Adjusted EBITDA, and Percentage of Revenue under Longer-Term Contract (“Longer-

Term Contracts Goal”) target, respectively, as defined and approved by the Committee.

(b) Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 4(b): (i) any bonuses paid to Covered Executives under the Plan shall be 

based upon objectively determinable bonus formulas that tie such bonuses to one or more performance targets relating to the 

Performance Goals, (ii) bonus formulas for Covered Executives shall be adopted in each performance period by the Committee 

and communicated to each Covered Executive at the beginning of each bonus period and (iii) no bonuses shall be paid to 

Covered Executives unless and until the Committee makes a determination with respect to the attainment of the performance 

objectives. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may adjust bonuses payable under the Plan based on achievement of 

individual performance goals

2023 Executive Incentive Bonus Plan	 1
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or pay bonuses (including, without limitation, discretionary bonuses) to Covered Executives under the Plan based upon such 

other terms and conditions as the Committee may in its discretion determine.
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(c) Each Covered Executive shall have a targeted bonus opportunity for each performance period. The maximum bonus 

payable to a Covered Executive under the Plan shall be established by the Committee for the applicable performance period.

(d) The payment of a bonus to a Covered Executive with respect to a performance period shall be conditioned upon the 

Covered Executive’s employment by the Company on the last day of the performance period; provided, however, that the 

Committee may make exceptions to this requirement, in its sole discretion, including, without limitation, in the case of a Covered 

Executive’s termination of employment, retirement, death or disability and as required under the terms of any applicable 

agreement with a Covered Executive.

(e) In order for the Covered Executives to earn a bonus with respect to the Revenue or Adjusted EBITDA targets, the 

minimum threshold of 90% of the Adjusted EBITDA and/or Revenue bonus target for the subject quarter must be achieved. If the 

applicable 90% threshold is achieved, the Covered Executives will earn 50% of the targeted bonus amount at 90% of the 

threshold with respect to each metric. The Covered Executives will earn an additional 5% of that metric’s allocation for their 

targeted bonus amount for each additional 1% of the Adjusted EBITDA and Revenue bonus target achieved over 90% until 100% 

of the Adjusted EBITDA and Revenue bonus target is achieved. In the event that Adjusted EBITDA for the full fiscal year 2023 is

greater than 100% of the aggregate amount of the Covered Executive’s target bonus amount, then that portion of the bonus 

payable in excess of the targeted bonus amount will be payable in common stock of the Company.

(f) In order for the Covered Executives to earn a bonus with respect to the Longer-Term Contracts Goal, the Covered 

Executives must increase the Longer-Term Contracts Goal base (as determined by the Committee). For each increase of the 

difference between the Longer-Term Contracts Goal base and the Longer-Term Contracts Goal, Covered Executives will earn 5% 

of that metric’s allocation for their targeted bonus amount until 100% of the Longer-Term Contracts Goal is achieved. In the event 

that the Longer-Term Contracts Goal is exceeded, as measured as of the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023, then for each tenth of 

1% above the Longer-Term Contracts Goal each Covered Executive will earn an additional 5% to their target bonus amount for 

the Longer-Term Contracts Goal. The portion of the bonus payable in excess of the targeted bonus amount will be payable in 

common stock of the Company.
5. Timing of Payment

 

The Performance Goals will be measured at the end of each fiscal year after the Company’s financial reports have been 

published. If the Performance Goals are met, payments will be made within 60 days thereafter, but not later than March 15.

 
6. Amendment and Termination

 

The Company reserves the right to amend or terminate the Plan at any time in its sole discretion.
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Exhibit 21.1

TechTarget, Inc.

List of Subsidiaries

Subsidiary Legal Name

Employer

ID Number % Owned

State/Country

Incorporated

TechTarget Securities Corporation 20-1921630 100% Massachusetts

TechTarget Limited NA 100% United Kingdom

TechTarget (HK) Limited NA 100% Hong Kong

TechTarget (Australia) Pty Ltd. NA 100% Australia

TechTarget (Singapore) PTE. Ltd. NA 100% Singapore

E-Magine Médias SAS NA 100% France

TechTarget Germany GmbH NA 100% Germany

BrightTALK, Inc.   NA     100%     Delaware

BrightTALK Limited   NA     100%     United Kingdom

 

 

 

 
 

Exhibit 23.1

 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 

TechTarget, Inc.

Newton, Massachusetts

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference the Registration Statements on From S-3 (No. 333-181187 and 333-200080) and 

Form S-8 (No. 333-145785, 333-202051, 333-219351 and 333-257138) of TechTarget, Inc. of our report dated February 28, 

2023 February 28, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial statements and effectiveness of TechTarget’s internal control over 

financial reporting for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 which appears in this 10-K.

 
/s/ Stowe & Degon, LLC
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Westborough, MA

February 28, 2023 2024

 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael Cotoia, certify that:

1.	 I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TechTarget, Inc.;

2.	 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 

with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.	 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 

presented in this report;

4.	 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 

Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)	 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 

is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)	 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)	 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 

report based on such evaluation; and

(d)	 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 

materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
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5.	 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 

equivalent functions):

(a)	 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 

information; and

(b)	 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2023 February 28, 2024

/s/ Michael Cotoia

Michael Cotoia

Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel Noreck, certify that:

1.	 I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TechTarget, Inc.;

2.	 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 

with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.	 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 

presented in this report;

4.	 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 

Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)	 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 
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is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)	 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)	 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 

report based on such evaluation; and

(d)	 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 

materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.	 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 

equivalent functions):

(a)	 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 

information; and

(b)	 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2023 February 28, 2024

/s/ Daniel Noreck

Daniel Noreck

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of Michael Cotoia and Daniel Noreck hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in his/her capacity as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, 

respectively of TechTarget, Inc. (the Company), that, to his knowledge, the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the period 

ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the Report) fully complies with 
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the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly 

presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 28, 2023 February 28, 2024   By:   /s/ Michael Cotoia

        Michael Cotoia

        Chief Executive Officer

         

Date: February 28, 2023 February 28, 2024   By:   /s/ Daniel Noreck

        Daniel Noreck

        Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 97.1

Compensation Recovery Policy

This Compensation Recovery Policy (this “Policy”) is adopted by TechTarget, Inc. (the “Company”) in accordance 
with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5608 (“Rule 5608”), which implements Rule 10D-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (the “Exchange Act”) (as promulgated pursuant to Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act of 2010). This Policy is effective as of October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”).

1. Definitions

(a)“Accounting Restatement” means a requirement that the Company prepare an accounting restatement due to 
the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the U.S. federal securities laws, 
including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material 
to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in 
the current period or left uncorrected in the current period. Changes to the Company’s financial statements that do not 
represent error corrections are not an Accounting Restatement, including: (A) retrospective application of a change in 
accounting principle; (B) retrospective revision to reportable segment information due to a change in the structure of the 
Company’s internal organization; (C) retrospective reclassification due to a discontinued operation; (D) retrospective 
application of a change in reporting entity, such as from a reorganization of entities under common control; and (E) 
retrospective revision for stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends or other changes in capital structure.

(b)“Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”).

(c) “Covered Person” means a person who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the performance 
period for the applicable Incentive-Based Compensation.
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(d)“Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that was 
Received that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had the 
amount of Incentive-Based Compensation been determined based on the restated amounts, computed without regard to 
any taxes paid by the Covered Person or by the Company on the Covered Person’s behalf. For Incentive-Based 
Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation 
is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an Accounting Restatement, the amount of 
Erroneously Awarded Compensation will be based on a reasonable estimate by the Committee of the effect of the 
Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was 
Received. The Company will maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such 
documentation to The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.

(e)“Executive Officer” meansthe Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if 
there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, 
division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other officer who performs a significant policy-making 
function, any other person (including as applicable executives of any of the Company’s parents or subsidiaries) who 
performs similar

1
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policy-making functions for the Company, or any other persons determined to be an “executive officer” of the Company 
within the meaning of Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act.

(f) “Financial Reporting Measures” means (A) measures that are determined and presented in accordance with 
the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly 
or in part from such measures (whether or not such measures are presented within the Company’s financial statements or 
included in a filing made with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission), (B) stock price and (C) total shareholder 
return.

(g)“Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly 
or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

(h)Incentive-Based Compensation is deemed to be “Received” in the Company’s fiscal period during which the 
Financial Reporting Measure specified in the applicable Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if the 
payment or grant of the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period or is subject to additional time-
based vesting requirements.

(i) “Recovery Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the earlier of: (A) the date 
the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action 
is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting 
Restatement; or (B) the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an 
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Accounting Restatement. In addition, if there is a change in the Company’s fiscal year end, the Recovery Period will also 
include any transition period to the extent required by Rule 5608.

2. Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation

Subject to the terms of this Policy and the requirements of Rule 5608, if the Company is required to prepare an 
Accounting Restatement, the Company will attempt to recover, reasonably promptly from each Covered Person, any 
Erroneously Awarded Compensation that was Received by such Covered Person during the Recovery Period pursuant to 
Incentive-Based Compensation that is subject to this Policy.

3. Interpretation and Administration

(a)Role of the Committee. This Policy will be interpreted by the Committee in a manner that is consistent with Rule 
5608 and any other applicable law and will otherwise be interpreted in the business judgment of the Committee. All 
decisions and interpretations of the Committee that are consistent with Rule 5608 will be final and binding.

(b)Compensation Not Subject to this Policy. This Policy does not apply to Incentive-Based Compensation that was 
Received before the Effective Date. With respect to any Covered Person, this Policy does not apply to Incentive-Based 
Compensation that was Received by such Covered Person before beginning service as an Executive Officer.

(c) Determination of Means of Recovery. Subject to the requirement that recovery be made reasonably promptly, 
the Committee will determine the appropriate means of recovery, which may vary between Covered Persons or based on 
the nature of the applicable Incentive-Based Compensation, and which may involve, without limitation, establishing a 
deferred repayment plan or setting off against current or future compensation otherwise payable to the Covered Person. 
Recovery of Erroneously Awarded

2
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Compensation will be made without regard to income taxes paid by the Covered Person or by the Company on the 
Covered Person’s behalf in connection with such Erroneously Awarded Compensation.

(d)Determination That Recovery is Impracticable. The Company is not required to recover Erroneously Awarded 
Compensation if a determination is made by the Committee that either (A) after the Company has made and documented a 
reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, the direct expense paid to a third party to assist 
in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered or (B) recovery of such Erroneously Awarded 
Compensation would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to 
employees of the registrant, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or 411(a) of the Internal Revenue Code 
and regulations thereunder.
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(e)No Indemnification or Company-Paid Insurance. The Company will not indemnify any Covered Person against 
the loss of Erroneously Awarded Compensation and will not pay or reimburse any Covered Person for the purchase of a 
third-party insurance policy to fund potential recovery obligations.

(f) Interaction with Other Clawback Provisions. The Company will be deemed to have recovered Erroneously 
Awarded Compensation in accordance with this Policy to the extent the Company actually receives such amounts pursuant 
to any other Company policy, program or agreement, pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or otherwise.

(g)No Limitation on Other Remedies. Nothing in this Policy will be deemed to limit the Company’s right to terminate 
employment of any Covered Person, to seek recovery of other compensation paid to a Covered Person, or to pursue other 
rights or remedies available to the Company under applicable law.

Adopted by the Board on October 27, 2023
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV
CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™
IS A COMPARISON OF TWO FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL
ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE
COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY
ASSUME
ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED
UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO
REVIEW THE
APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER
DECISIONS.
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